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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS B i ia 2
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

* & ¥k

Off
Il

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | would like to present the audited annual results of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2016.

I.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

In 2016, faced with complicated and volatile international and domestic
environment, the Chinese government promoted and advanced the
"Five-in-One” overall layout and the “Four Comprehensive Strategic
Blueprint”. It insisted upon the general working theme of making
progress while maintaining stability, actively adapting to and pioneering
amidst the “new norms” in economic development. Emphasizing
structural reforms of the supply aspect and appropriately expanding total
demand, the Government facilitated reforms with steadfast commitment
and properly responded to challenges posed by risks, cultivating positive
social expectations. The overall economic performance has found
stability within slowing growth and demonstrated positivity amidst
stability. In 2016, the national gross domestic product reached RMB74.4
trillion, representing a year-on-year growth of 6.7 %.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
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During the reporting period, under the influence of a multitude of
factors including the implementation of the Guobiao GB1589-2016
standard and the new anti-overloading policies, fostering of PPP (Public
Private Partnership) projects and acceleration of infrastructural
investments, the heavy-duty truck industry in the PRC realized substantial
growth. Annual sales volume reached 733,000 units, representing a
year-on-year increase of 33.1%. Further, the transfer to the Company of
100% equity interest in Weichai (Weifang) Medium-duty Diesel Engine
Co., Ltd. (“Weichai Medium”) was completed in October 2016. During
the reporting period, the Company reported sales of 198,000 units of
heavy-duty truck engines (including Weichai Medium), representing a
year-on-year growth of 67.8%. The Company maintained its leading
position in the industry with its market share of 27%. Shaanxi Heavy-
duty Motor Company Limited (SRPEEAL/FEHFRAR]), a controlling
subsidiary of the Company, reported an aggregate sales of 82,000 units
of heavy-duty trucks for the year, representing a year-on-year increase of
46.9% and ranked fourth in the domestic heavy-duty truck industry in
the PRC, further boosting its competitiveness. Shaanxi Fast Gear Co.,
Ltd. GREDE T REWRAREME AT, a controlling subsidiary of the
Company, has maintained its leading position in the industry with its
aggregate sales of 501,000 units of gear boxes, representing a year-on-
year increase of 23.2%.

During the reporting period, fixed-asset investments in the PRC
(excluding agricultural households) reached RMB59.7 trillion,
representing a year-on-year growth of 8.1%, a drop of 1.9 percentage
points in growth rate year-on-year. The total planned investments for
newly-commenced construction projects reached RMB49.3 trillion,
representing a year-on-year growth of 20.9%, an increase of 15.4
percentage points in growth rate year-on-year. Investments in property
development reached RMB10.3 trillion, representing a year-on-year
growth of 6.9%, an increase of 5.9 percentage points in growth rate
year-on-year. As such, the construction machinery industry rebounded
from its trough and the trend of recovery was apparent. In 2016, the
construction machinery market reported sales of approximately 399,000
units, representing a year-on-year growth of 8.5%, among which, the
sales volume of wheel loaders with a load capacity of 5 tonnes was
42,000 units, representing a year-on-year increase of 0.04%. The
Company sold a total of 32,000 units of engines for wheel loaders with
a load capacity of 5 tonnes, representing a year-on-year increase of
19.4%. The Company continued to maintain a leading position in the
market of wheel loaders with a load capacity of 5 tonnes with a market
share of 76.2%.

WEICHAI PowWER Co., LTD. H4EHBRMNBERLAD
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

During the reporting period, under the influence of a multitude of
factors including downturn in macro-economy conditions and volatility in
overseas markets, there was a downturn in the overall passenger vehicles
market in 2016, which reported an aggregate sales figure of 543,000
units (including incomplete passenger vehicles) for the whole year,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 8.8%. Among such, benefiting
from policies on the national subsidy of new energy and regulatory
tightening on emissions, the new-energy passenger vehicles reported an
aggregate sales figure of 107,000 units, representing a year-on-year
increase of 31.5%. The new-energy passenger vehicles segment grew
substantially and became a major force in driving the growth of the
passenger vehicles market, especially for medium-sized passenger
vehicles, which reported an aggregate sales figure of 99,000 units,
representing a year-on-year increase of 26.1%. Under the substitution
effect of other means of transportation such as national express rail, the
performances of long-distance passenger transportation and tourist
passenger transportation market sectors were both unsatisfactory,
reporting an aggregate sales figure of 103,000 units, representing a
year-on-year decrease of 9.6%. During the reporting period, the
Company’s aggregate sales of engines for use in large and medium-
sized passenger vehicles amounted to 22,000 units (including Weichai
Medium), representing a year-on-year increase of 5.8%, and accounting
for 11.3% of the market share of large-sized and medium-sized
passenger vehicles.

During the reporting period, the Company advanced with structural
adjustments of its products and businesses based on market conditions,
leading to a more healthy and balanced structure with increasing market
competitiveness. In 2016, the upgrade of “Landking” engine products
was steadily promoted. The sales figure for 10L and 12L engines was
218,000 units, maintaining the stable leading position of heavy-duty
engine products in the heavy-duty truck market, the market of wheel
loaders with a load capacity of 5 tonnes and the market of passenger
vehicles with a span of over 11 metres. Meanwhile, sales of strategic
products and in strategic markets grew substantially. The sales of
Yangchai VM engines increased by 70.9% year-on-year to 19,023 units,
the sales of WP13 engines increased by 11.5 times to 15,494 units, the
sales of new-energy power system increased by 5 times to 2,991 units,
the sales of engines for use in agricultural equipment increased by 2.9
times to 15,383 units (including Weichai Medium) and the sales of
engines for use in forklift trucks increased by 56.5% to 2,417 units.
During the same period, Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited, a
controlling subsidiary of the Company, completed the product mix
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allocation for various series of products such as X3000, M3000 and
L3000, extending the product platform from heavy-duty trucks to
medium-duty trucks, thereby highlighting the advantages of products
with their series-based, platform-based and market-leading elements
while concurrently achieving first-ranking sales volume growth in the
industry. Relying on the advantages of leading quality and technical
innovation, Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. continued to speed up the
structural adjustments of its products. Eight series of products such as
the self-developed S-series gear boxes and AMT/AT auto transmission
gear boxes, as well as new-energy products such as wheel reducers were
competitive in capturing leading market position and enjoyed
advantages in terms of scaled development.

During the reporting period, the Company was committed to the main
working themes of the three major campaigns of “Cost reduction, loss
elimination and fostering innovation”, “3+1” formula and the thirteen
battles, strictly adhering to the notion of reforms and innovations,
fostering structural adjustments, maintaining a positive development
trend, and substantially uplifting the quality of operation and
profitability. Firstly, we streamlined the cost management and control
system of innovative products in order to form an all-series and fully-
segmented market gross profit planning, which serves as a benchmark
for setting target costs for new product development and lowering the
costs of existing products, thereby creating cost differentiation
advantages. Secondly, we moved steadfastly towards high-end
development by continuing to enhance the technology innovation
mechanism and releasing our technicians’ vitality of innovation, and kick-
starting the high-end engines R&D projects represented by WP13, WP17
and D-series products, striving to become the best in the world. Thirdly,
we fostered solid management innovation, committed to using
indicators to unify our management language to improve efficiency
through order, pin-pointed customers’ needs under our methodology
and enhanced corporate value with our services, putting in place the
WOS management operation system which is feasible, exportable and
evaluable. Fourthly, we fostered smart manufacturing base infrastructure
and achieved breakthroughs in the five major business areas, which
include R&D technology, supply chain, marketing services, functions
management and control and infrastructure, and promoted corporate
agile manufacturing capabilities with “low cost, high efficiency and high
quality”. Fifthly, we insisted on the “dual-wheel driving” of both product
operation and capital operation, steadily pushing forward our strategy of
internationalization and realising export growth against the adversity
faced by the market. Overseas businesses, which were in general
positive, became an important source of profit which supported our
corporate development.

WEICHAI PowWER Co., LTD. H4EHBRMNBERLAD
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

I1

[1I.

During the reporting period, the Company’s revenue increased by
25.6% compared with that in 2015 to approximately RMB93,184
million. The net profit attributable to shareholders of the listed company
was approximately RMB2,441 million, representing an increase of 72.9%
compared with that in 2015. The basic earnings per share was RMBO0.61,
representing an increase of 74.3% compared with that in 2015.

DIVIDENDS AND ISSUE OF BONUS SHARES

Putting shareholders’ interests and returns as its top priority, the
Company has maintained a relatively stable dividend policy. On 29
March 2017, the Company’'s 2016 profit distribution proposal was
approved by the Company’s 5th meeting of the fourth session of the
Board: the Company proposed the distribution to all shareholders of a
cash dividend of RMB2.50 (including tax) for every 10 shares held and
an issuance of 10 bonus shares (including tax) for every 10 shares held,
based on the total share capital of 3,998,619,278 shares, without any
capitalisation of reserve. Completion of the proposal is subject to the
consideration and approval by the 2016 Annual General Meeting, the
first Class Meeting of the A Shareholders in 2017 and the first Class
Meeting of the H Shareholders in 2017. Please refer to the further
announcement to be issued by the Company for details on the closure
of registers of members in determining the shareholders who are eligible
for the final dividend.

AcQUISITION AND CONSOLIDATION

In 2016, KION Group AG ("KION"), an overseas subsidiary of the
Company running with a stable development, acquired the entire
interests in Dematic, a globally leading automated logistics supplier, at a
consideration of EUR2.1 billion, hence becoming a global leader in the
intralogistics solution sector.

In order to further enhance the core competitiveness of the Company,
improve the level of its international operation, and strengthen the
Group's allocation of quality overseas resources, the Company increased
its shareholding in KION to 43.26% through subscribing new offer
shares of KION and acquiring shares from the secondary markets,
maintaining the Company’s status as the single largest shareholder of
KION.

In order to become a major operation platform of high speed diesel
engine, the Company acquired 100% equity interest of Weichai Medium
held by Weichai Group Holdings Limited, speeding up the resource
integration of high speed diesel engine business under Weichai Group
Holdings Limited.
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IV. QOuTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

12

Going into 2017, the global economy will continue to see a sluggish
growth with a weak recovery, with factors of uncertainty and instability
on the rise. Donald Trump's “America First” policy raised expectations of
the growth of the American economy, but also brought immense
uncertainty to the global economic recovery. Under the influence of a
series of political uncertainties, such as Brexit, the Italian constitutional
referendum, elections in France and Germany, and a wave of anti-
globalization movements, greater challenges lie ahead for the economic
recovery within the European Union. After many years of adjustment,
the emerging markets and developing economies have seen increasing
momentum in the expansion of their domestic demand, with more
stable growth prospects. The pace of growth of these economies is
expected to accelerate. Generally speaking, the global economy is
expected to grow at approximately 3.4%. Domestically, the Chinese
Government settled on the economic policy framework of adapting to
the “new norm”, guided by the five development visions with supply-
side reforms as the centerpiece, taking the approach of making progress
while maintaining stability. The Chinese Government will thoroughly
implement the policy of decapacitizing, eliminating excessive inventories,
deleveraging, cost-cutting and mitigating underlying shortcomings,
speeding up the fundamental and key reforms in areas such as state-
owned enterprises, taxation, finance and social security, massively
revitalizing the real economy and stepping up the coordination and
management of the real property sector. The overall Chinese economy
will sustain a stable pace of growth, with the annual gross domestic
product growth rate estimated at approximately 6.5%.

The Company is cautiously optimistic about the development trend of its
related industries. In 2017, it is expected that the Chinese heavy-duty
truck market will attain a sales volume of 800,000 units, representing a
year-on-year growth of 9.2%. The increase is mainly attributable to the
following reasons. Firstly, the prompt implementation of Public Private
Partnership projects and “mega infrastructure” projects worth RMB4.7
trillion, has increased the sources of demand for heavy-duty trucks.
Secondly, the clean-up of the hazardous chemicals market, the tightened
management over the measurement and overloading of trucks and the
weighting of trucks in the licensing process accelerated the replacement
of heavy-duty trucks. Thirdly, with the emergence of e-commerce
logistical planning, the development of logistics industry will become
more efficient and standardized, bringing huge opportunities to the
heavy-duty truck industry. The engineering vehicles market is expected
to recover steadily. The trend of highly efficient logistics and
transportation services going high-end is becoming increasingly
apparent. The sales volume of high-speed, standardized models will
gradually increase, while the demand for high-emission, high-powered
vehicles is also on the rise.

WEICHAI PowWER Co., LTD. H4EHBRMNBERLAD
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

In 2017, buoyed by factors such as the investments in infrastructure and
newly-commenced construction projects, and a stable demand for
replacement vehicles, the construction machinery industry will continue
to recover. Firstly, at the macro level, investments in public-private
partnership projects are expected to remain strong, improving the
likelihood of the implementation of such projects. The State is expected
to step up its investments in the fields of transportation infrastructure,
ranging from railway systems to urban rail transits. The mining industry
can expect to realize short-term rebound. Secondly, at the industry level,
the demand for replacement vehicles will remain stable, but the difficult
mission of decapacitizing and eliminating excessive inventories lie ahead.
Thirdly, at the export level, the state will proceed steadily in
implementing the “One Belt and One Road” policy. As the demand for
high-end products in the economies in Europe and America keeps
growing, there is room for recovery in foreign demand.

With effect from 1 January 2017, the China V Emission Standards will
apply to the manufacturing, importing, sale and registration of all petrol-
driven light vehicles and diesel-driven heavy-duty vehicles (for passenger,
public transportation, environment and hygiene, and postal use) in
China. With effect from 1 July 2017, China V Emission Standards will
apply to the manufacturing, importing, sale and registration of all diesel-
driven heavy-duty vehicles. With effect from 1 January 2018, the China
V Emission Standards will apply to the manufacturing, importing, sale
and registration of all diesel-driven light vehicles in China. As such, some
segments of the market will experience a new round of shuffling and
the elimination of backward production capacities will be accelerated.
Leveraging upon the synergy presented by its globally coordinated R&D,
advanced technology in smart manufacturing, product and service
diversity and its strong base of loyal customers, the Company has
actively responded by starting its preparation work in advance. Having
essentially completed the upgrade and replacement of products of
engines and heavy-duty trucks, the Company is poised to maintain its
leading position in the market of high-power engines, heavy-duty gear
boxes and complete heavy-duty trucks. The Board has full confidence in
the development prospect of the Company.
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In early 2017, through strategic decoding, the Company identified
thirteen battles that it must win and formulated detailed action plans.
This year, the Company will commit to the main theme of
“strengthening its base and operations, seizing and capturing markets,
speeding up innovation and striving to excel in the Company’s
development”, along with the thirteen battles, and work strenuously on
the following:

Firstly, the Company will strengthen the development of its “Three Core
Competitiveness” in terms of cost, technology and quality by redoubling
its efforts at controlling expenses, exploring the potential for cutting
costs, developing the advantage of diversified products and costs, and
raising the profitability of the Company. Secondly, through diligence and
care, and taking a customer-oriented approach, the Company will
expand into emerging markets, explore the potential for profits and
actively promote the auxiliary application of engines in the strategic
markets of passenger vehicles, agricultural machinery, forklift trucks and
power generation. Thirdly, the Company will focus on the objective of
becoming the best in the world by devoting its top-notch R&D resources
to the development of high-end engines and new products and
diligently trying to gain a foothold in the strategic high-end markets.
Fourthly, the Company will adhere to its strategy of international
development by speeding up the consolidation of resources and the
coordination of business operations, expanding the breadth and depth
of the Company’s export business and increasing the profitability of
overseas subsidiaries, thereby accelerating the implementation of the
strategy of international development. Fifthly, the Company will review
and optimize its mode of operation using new mindsets, new tools and
new methods to further improve the management operation system,
and continue to raise the efficiency of the Company’s operations by
making use of information technology. In the domestic market, the
Company will adopt value marketing in running its heavy-duty vehicles
segment, with a focus on increasing the market share of market
segment, capturing less favorable markets and expanding corporate
clientele to achieve the Company’s growth targets. In overseas markets,
the Company will expand its business networks with an emphasis on
Africa and the Asia-Pacific region, capture major Chinese corporate
clients and enlarge its market share. The gear box companies will hold
on to their policy of “proactively innovating, achieving strategic goals,
supporting development and pioneering the industry” by developing
business platforms featuring seriated, smart, systematic, new-energy and
diversified products. The Company will stick to its policy of developing
highly efficient, smart, environmentally friendly and integrated
technologies to expand the scope of application of products primarily
based upon gear transmission technology. The Company will also make
good use of the synergy among the component segment, the engine
segment and the complete vehicles segment.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

At the same time, the Company will remain committed to its
development goal of “going high-end and seeking to become the best
in the world”. Under the principle of “Unified Strategy, Independent
Operation, Resources Sharing”, the Company will accelerate the
coordinated development among the business segments of vehicles,
construction machinery, powertrains and automobile components, in
order to fully utilize the synergetic advantage of the resource-sharing
between our domestic and overseas companies, to continually enhance
the quality and image of the Company’s development, and boost our
overall capability to resist risks.

APPRECIATION

Last but not least, | would like to express my sincere appreciation to all
our shareholders, the general public and our customers for their care
and support, as well as to all of our staff for their hard work and
dedication in the past year!

Tan Xuguang
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 29 March 2017
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Directors are pleased to present a management discussion and analysis of
the annual results of operations of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2016 (the "Year") as follows:

I. INDUSTRY ANALYSIS

The Company is one of the vehicle and equipment manufacturing
conglomerates in the PRC with the best comprehensive strengths. It is a
leading company in the markets of powertrain, complete vehicles and
machines, hydraulic controlling parts and automotive parts and
components. It is equipped with the most comprehensive supply chain
of engines, gear boxes and axles and offers related after-sales market
services.

1. Heavy-duty Vehicle Industry

During the year, the Chinese economy improved in the midst of
stability as the Chinese government proactively guided the
economy in adapting to the “new norm” in economic
development and appropriately expanded the aggregate demand.
In 2016, the gross domestic product of the PRC reached RMB74.4
trillion, representing a year-on-year growth of 6.7%. Under the
influence of a number of favorable factors, such as the
implementation of policies addressing the overloading of trucks,
the progress of Public Private Partnership projects and the
acceleration in investments in infrastructure, the domestic heavy-
duty truck market witnessed a massive rebound. The aggregate
sales figure of the heavy-duty truck market in the year was
approximately 733,000 units, representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 33.1%.

2. Construction Machinery
During the reporting period, fixed-asset investments in the PRC
(excluding agricultural households) reached RMB59.7 trillion,
representing a year-on-year growth of 8.1%. The total planned
investments for newly-commenced construction projects reached
RMB49.3 trillion, representing a year-on-year growth of 20.9%,
an increase of 15.4 percentage points in growth rate year-on-year
compared to 2015. Investments in property development reached
RMB10.3 trillion, representing a year-on-year growth of 6.9% and
an increase of 5.9 percentage points compared to last year. As
such, the construction machinery industry rebounded from its
trough. In 2016, the construction machinery market reported total
sales of approximately 399,000 units, representing a year-on-year
growth of approximately 8.5%, among which, the sales volume of
wheel loaders with a load capacity of 5 tonnes for use in large
construction machinery was 42,000 units, representing a modest
increase compared to last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Passenger Vehicle Market

During the reporting period, due to the substitution effect of other
means of transportation such as national express rail, the
performance of both long-distance passenger transport and
tourism passenger transport markets was unsatisfactory. In 2016,
the passenger vehicle market as a whole remained gloomy, except
for the medium-sized passenger vehicle market, which benefited
from the policies on national subsidy of new energy. The sales
volume of passenger vehicle market for the year was
approximately 543,000 units (including incomplete passenger
vehicles), representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately
8.8%.

Forklift Truck and Supply Chain Solution Industry
During the reporting period, riding on the rapid development of
electronic commerce and corporate intralogistics and the rise in
domestic demand and good performance of the employment
market in the United States in the second half of the year, forklift
truck and supply chain solutions industry recorded strong growth.
Global sales orders for forklift trucks increased from approximately
1.102 million units last year to approximately 1.185 million units
this year, representing a year-on-year growth of approximately
7.5%. In particular, Eastern European and Western European
markets achieved more outstanding performance, both recording
double-digit growth compared with corresponding period of last
year, increasing by 19.0% and 11.8% respectively.
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IT. THE GROUP’'S BUSINESS

An analysis of the Group's business segments is set out in Note XIV.2 to
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the consolidated financial statements. The following is an overview of
the operating conditions of the major products of the Group:

Sale of Diesel Engines 8 £ 52 0 e
For Use in Heavy-duty Trucks HREA KE

The Group is the largest supplier of diesel engines among major
manufacturers of heavy-duty trucks with a load capacity of 15
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tonnes (and above) in the PRC. In 2016, the heavy-duty truck
industry saw a significant growth, with the Company having sold
a total of approximately 198,000 units of heavy-duty truck engines
(including Weichai Medium) (2015: approximately 118,000 units),

representing a substantial year-on-year growth of approximately E8) RALLAEERL67.8%
67.8%. The Company maintained its leading position in the ERMSEEEGBEEREZI%(ZF
heavy-duty truck auxiliary market with its market share of 27% —FHF  #21.4%) - Rtk EF495.6
(2015: approximately 21.4%), representing a year-on-year increase BEE DB TEREBHAUER-

of approximately 5.6 percentage points.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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For Use in Construction Machinery

The Group is also the largest supplier of diesel engines among
major manufacturers of construction machinery (mainly wheel
loaders) with a load capacity of 5 tonnes in the PRC. Out of the
diesel engines sold during the year, approximately 32,000 units
(2015: approximately 27,000 units) were engines for wheel
loaders with a load capacity of 5 tonnes, representing an increase
of approximately 19.4% compared to that in the corresponding
period in 2015. The Group’s market share increased further to
76.2%, maintaining its leading position in this sector.

For Use in Passenger Vehicles

During the reporting period, benefiting from favorable factors
such as the national subsidy policy applicable to new-energy
passenger vehicles and the increasingly stringent regulations on
emission levels, approximately 99,000 units of medium-sized
passenger vehicles were sold in the year, representing an increase
of approximately 26.1% compared to last year. During the
reporting period, the Company’s aggregate sales of engines for
use in large and medium-sized passenger vehicles amounted to
approximately 22,000 units (including Weichai Medium) (2015:
approximately 20,300), representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 5.8%, and accounting for approximately 11.3% of
the market share of large-sized and medium-sized passenger
vehicles.

Forklift Trucks Production, Warehousing
Technology and Supply Chain Solution Services
Benefiting from the growth of the forklift truck industry and the
leading position of KION in electric forklift truck and the European
market, the Group reported an increase of orders for forklift trucks
from approximately 165,800 units last year to approximately
178,300 units in 2016, representing a year-on-year growth of
approximately 7.5%. Upon completion of the acquisition of
Dematic, KION is more capable of providing customers with
comprehensively intelligent supply chain solutions. Before
elimination of intra-group sales, the forklift trucks production,
warehousing technology services and supply chain solution
services business contributed sales revenue of approximately
RMB41,063 million to the Group during this period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Sale of Heavy-duty Trucks

During the year, the Group sold approximately 82,000 units of
heavy-duty trucks, representing an increase of approximately
46.9% from approximately 56,000 units in the corresponding
period in 2015. Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited (B&7g
EAAE AR AR]), a controlling subsidiary of the Company,
came fourth in terms of sales in the domestic heavy-duty truck
industry in the PRC. Before elimination of intra-group sales, the
truck business contributed approximately RMB24,360 million to
the Group's revenue this year.

Sale of Heavy-duty Gear Boxes

During the year, the Group sold approximately 501,000 units of
heavy-duty gear boxes, representing an increase of approximately
23.2% compared to the approximately 407,000 units of heavy-
duty gear boxes sold in the corresponding period in 2015, thereby
maintaining its leading position in the industry. Before elimination
of intra-group sales, the gear boxes business contributed
approximately RMB7,589 million to the Group'’s revenue this year.

Sale of Parts and Components of Engine and Heavy-
duty Trucks and Hydraulics Controlling Parts

Apart from the production and sale of diesel engines for trucks
and construction machinery, heavy-duty trucks and heavy-duty
gear boxes, the Group is also engaged in the production and sales
of engine parts and components and other truck parts and
components such as spark, plugs, axles, chassis, air-conditioner
compressors, hydraulic controlling parts, etc. During the Year, the
Group's sales of parts, components of engines and trucks and
hydraulic controlling parts increased by approximately RMB40
million from approximately RMB3,524 million in the corresponding
period of last year to approximately RMB3,564 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 1.1%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

20

Last year, the Company budgeted that sales revenue in 2016
would be approximately RMB81.6 billion, representing a growth
of approximately 10.7%. The actual sales revenue was
approximately RMB93.2 billion, representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately 25.6%. Actual sales revenue exceeded
the budgeted sales revenue by approximately RMB11.6 billion or
14.2%, mainly because the Company has an ongoing
commitment to serving customer needs and expediting the
structural adjustments and upgrade of products. While stepping
up its investments in research and development, the Company’s
effective cost control has given its products greater competitive
advantages in terms of cost, technology and quality. These
advantages translated into a head start for the Company at a time
of market recovery. Meanwhile, the Group steadily pushed
forward its strategy of internationalization. Overseas businesses,
which were in general positive, provided positive support for the
overall business of the Group.

Going into 2017, factors of uncertainty have been on the rise. The
global economy is expected to see a sluggish growth. Benefiting
from favourable factors such as the acceleration in Public Private
Partnership projects and “mega infrastructure” projects, the clean-
up of the hazardous chemicals market, the tightened management
over the overloading and over measurement of trucks and the
implementation of the China V Emission Standards, the domestic
heavy-duty truck market is expected to keep growing. Benefiting
from the continuous expansion in the investments in infrastructure
and newly commenced construction projects, the construction
machinery industry will keep recovering. Leveraging on the synergy
presented by its global research and development, advanced
technology in smart manufacturing, product and service diversity
and strong base of loyal customers, the Company’s products will
maintain a leading position in the industry. As at 31 December
2016, orders on hand amounted to approximately RMB25.2
billion. The Company budgets a sales revenue growth of
approximately 15% for 2017 to approximately RMB107 billion.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

[II. FINANCIAL REVIEW
1. The Group’s Results of Operations

a.

Revenue

The Group's revenue increased by approximately
RMB19,016 million or approximately 25.6% from
approximately RMB74,168 million in 2015 to approximately
RMB93,184 million in 2016. This was primarily attributable
to the substantial rebound of the heavy-duty truck market
in China, the augmented market share under the product
advantage of the Group, and satisfactory performance of
the Group’s overseas business. In particular, the revenue
from principal operations increased by approximately
25.5%, from approximately RMB72,633 million in the
previous year to approximately RMB91,148 million for the
Year. Other revenue increased by approximately 32.6%,
from approximately RMB1,535 million in the previous year
to approximately RMB2,036 million for the Year.

Profit from Principal Operations

During the Year, the Group generated profit from principal
operations in the amount of approximately RMB20,981
million, an increase of approximately 23.9% from
approximately RMB16,933 million recorded in the
corresponding period in 2015. The Group’s focus on
product research and development, completion of product
upgrade ahead of schedule, and increasing competitiveness
in terms of cost effectiveness, technology and quality, have
contributed to the stable profit margin of its principal
businesses at approximately 23.0%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Distribution and Selling Expenses

Distribution and selling expenses increased by approximately
21.8% to approximately RMB7,645 million in the Year from
approximately RMB6,275 million in the corresponding
period of 2015. The increase of distribution and selling
expenses was primarily attributable to the increase in after-
sales expenses and products return fee resulting from the
increase in sales volume. At the same time, the Company
capitalized on the opportunities presented by market
recovery by stepping up its efforts and manpower in market
expansion for an expanded market share. On the other
hand, whilst expanding market, the Company exercised
strict control over expenses. As such, the distribution and
selling expenses as a percentage of revenue decreased from
approximately 8.5% in the corresponding period of 2015 to
approximately 8.2% in the Year.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by
approximately RMB421 million or approximately 5.8% from
approximately RMB7,231 million in the corresponding
period of 2015 to approximately RMB7,652 million in the
Year, which was mainly due to the increase in staff costs
and expenses on external support in the course of the
international development of the Group. Further, KION
incurred additional expenses on professional fees paid in
connection with its acquisition of the business of the
advanced material handling automation solutions business
operated by DH Services Luxembourg Holding S.a r.l.
through its subsidiaries which operate mainly under the
“Dematic” trade name.

Earnings Before Interest and Tax (EBIT)

During the Year, the Group's EBIT increased by
approximately RMB1,723 million or 50.6% to approximately
RMBS5,130 million from approximately RMB3,407 million in
the corresponding period in 2015. The increase was
primarily attributable to the increase in sales amount, while
the improved EBIT margin from approximately 4.6% in the
corresponding period of the previous year to approximately
5.5% this Year was due to our effective control over
expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Finance Expenses

Finance expenses decreased by approximately 58.8% to
approximately RMB199 million in the Year from
approximately RMB482 million in the corresponding period
of 2015. The decrease was mainly attributable to the
increase in foreign exchange gain in the Year.

Income Tax Expenses

The Group’s income tax expenses increased by
approximately 12.2% from approximately RMB928 million
in the corresponding period in 2015 to approximately
RMB1,041 million in the Year. The Group’s average effective
tax rate was approximately 22.5% in the Year, compared to
approximately 29.7% in the corresponding period in 2015,
marking a decrease of 7.2 percentage points. The decrease
in effective tax rate was mainly due to the rebound of profit
from our business in China and the lower average effective
tax rate in China than overseas.

Net Profit and Net Profit Margin

The Group’s net profit increased by approximately 63.6%
from approximately RMB2,198 million in the corresponding
period of 2015 to approximately RMB3,596 million in the
Year. During the Year, the net profit margin was
approximately 3.9%, representing an increase of
approximately 0.9 percentage points from approximately
3.0% recorded in the corresponding period in 2015. This
was primarily attributable to the increase in the Group's
revenue in general and the increase in the proportion of
profit derived from China, under the recovery of the heavy-
duty truck industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Liquidity and Cash Flow

During the Year, the Group generated operating cash flows
of approximately RMB8,250 million. A portion of such
proceeds was applied to acquiring 9,229,967 additional
KION shares (at total consideration of approximately
EUR455.6 million), acquiring the U.S.-based Retrotech Inc.
(at a consideration of approximately EUR25 million),
acquiring DH Services Luxembourg Holding S.a r.l. (at a
consideration of approximately EUR2,100 million), acquiring
Weichai (Weifang) Medium-duty Diesel Engines Company
Limited (at a consideration of approximately RMB252.9
million), repaying borrowings, paying interest and acquiring
property, plant and equipment for the expansion of the
Group's business. As of 31 December 2016, the Group's
gearing ratio (Net interest-bearing debts/(Shareholders’
equity + net interest-bearing debts)) was 27.7% (31
December 2015: N/A). As of 31 December 2015, the
gearing ratio was not applicable to the Group, as the Group
was in a net cash position in view of the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents net of interest-bearing debts.

2. Financial Position

a.

WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD.

Assets and Liabilities

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had total assets of
approximately RMB163,991 million, of which approximately
RMB76,406 million were current assets. As at 31 December
2016, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately RMB27,123 million (as at 31 December 2015:
approximately RMB24,857 million). On the same date, the
Group's total liabilities was approximately RMB119,429
million, of which approximately RMB58,980 million were
current liabilities. The current ratio was approximately 1.30x
(as at 31 December 2015: approximately 1.44x).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had total equity of
approximately RMB44,562 million, of which approximately
RMB31,738 million was attributable to equity holders of the
Company and the balance was minority interests. The
borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2016
amounted to approximately RMB39,291 million, which
included bonds of approximately RMB2,756 million and
bank borrowings of approximately RMB36,535 million.
Borrowings repayable on demand or within a period not
exceeding one year were approximately RMB6,319 million,
borrowings repayable within a period of more than one year
but not exceeding two years were approximately
RMB11,631 million; borrowings repayable within a period of
more than two years but not exceeding five years were
approximately RMB17,704 million; and borrowings
repayable within a period of more than 5 years were
approximately RMB881 million. The bank borrowings
included approximately RMB3,707 million of fixed interest
rate bank borrowings and approximately RMB32,828 million
of floating interest rate bank borrowings. Other than Euro-
denominated borrowings equivalent to approximately
RMB34,063 million, the borrowings are primarily Renminbi-
denominated borrowings. The revenue of the Group is
mainly in Renminbi and Euro. Contracts have been entered
into with financial institutions to swap the USD400 million
USD-denominated bonds issued in September 2015 to Euro,
and thus the Group does not consider its currency risk
significant. As a policy, the Group manages its capital to
ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as
a going concern while maximizing the return to
shareholders through the optimization of the debts and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior years.
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Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2016, bank deposits, notes receivable
and accounts receivable of approximately RMB10,788
million (as at 31 December 2015: approximately RMB7,839
million) were pledged to banks to secure the Group’s notes
payable and notes receivable issued by banks. The pledged
bank deposits carry prevailing bank interest rates. The
pledge will be released upon the settlement of the relevant
bank borrowings. The fair value of the bank deposits as at
the settlement date is approximately the same as the
carrying amount. Certain other assets were also pledged by
the Group to secure the Group’s borrowings.

Contingencies

On 31 December 2016, the Group provided certain
distributors and agents bank guarantee amounting to
approximately RMB2,457 million (as at 31 December 2015:
approximately RMB1,014 million) to secure their obtaining
and use of banking facilities.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group provided guarantee for
joint liabilities in respect of failure of the leasee under
finance lease to settle instalment payments plus interest.
Risk exposure in respect of possible guarantee for joint
liabilities amounted to approximately RMB923 million (as at
31 December 2015: approximately RMB728 million).

As at 31 December 2016, the Group's borrowings and other
guarantee amounted to approximately RMB662 million (as
at 31 December 2015: approximately RMB215 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Commitments

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had capital
commitments of approximately RMB1,892 million (as at 31
December 2015: approximately RMB1,734 million), among
which contracted capital commitments amounted to
approximately RMB1,892 million, principally for the capital
expenditure for the acquisition of property, plant and
equipment. The capital expenditure will be financed by
internal resources.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had no investment
commitments (as at 31 December 2015: approximately
RMB1 million).

3. Other Financial Information

a.

Employees

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had approximately
69,800 employees. During the Year, the Group paid
remuneration of approximately RMB16,304 million. The
emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their
merits, qualifications and competence.

During the Year, the Group’s staff training focused on
enhancing the management system, innovations in the
mode of training management, fostering a team of
diversified talents and enriching training resources. The
Group spent approximately RMB13 million on providing
trainings, including approximately 1,200 training sessions of
various kinds.

B2 B 51 ch 5 iifr (4&)

e. G EIEH

RZE—RE+A=+—
H A&EEHBHEXRERE

HAREB1892H &8

LR =

T-HFE+-A=f—A:

HWARKEIT4E B
RERT AR E R

i —

7T A
THAR

BlreEE T FEREEE
V- - HBENZENEXRH
ToMERITBEAABE

TR o

m:; NE+ZA=1+—
AR EE AR IR E RS

—

:g EE+-_A=+—

TRARBIBEETT) -

3. HBKER
a. EBEH
RZE—RE+A=+—
H - ARal £ B8
LERE -RAFE AEH
AIRHRAHAR163045H

Bxe AR EEE DK
RAARBAFMZEGRE
BENRE BENRIFLE

NETE -

REAFE  RaftEz2ER
5E B FEIE ﬁﬁt
BEZTM AT KA

*ﬁWQﬁ#EE%EP
ZEBIIE ZEHE A
BERAHOARBIBEEL

EoHEMARSES
1,200 84 18

ANNUAL REPORT 2016 F IR

A PR )

27



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Major Investment

On 18 July 2016 (Central European Time), KION Group AG
("KION") issued an additional 9,890,000 new shares
through an accelerated bookbuilding offering process. The
Company has, through its indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary
Weichai Power (Luxembourg) Holding S.a r.l. (“Weichai
Lux"), subscribed for 60% of the shares offered, equivalent
to a total of 5,934,000 new issued shares based on the
subscription price of EUR46.44 per KION share at a total
consideration of approximately EUR275.6 million. The
Company's shareholding in KION therefore increased from
38.25% to 40.23%. On 12 December 2016, the Company
announced that it acquired through Barclays Bank
3,295,967 shares in KION from the secondary market at a
consideration of approximately EUR180 million. The
Company’s shareholding in KION further increased to
43.26%.

Major Acquisition and Disposal

On 1 March 2016, KION completed the acquisition of the
100% equity interests in Retrotech Inc. at a consideration of
approximately EUR25 million.

On 26 September 2016, the Company entered into an
equity transfer agreement with Weichai Group Holdings
Limited to acquire the entire equity interest in Weichai
(Weifang) Medium-duty Diesel Engine Co., Ltd. (formerly
known as Weifang Weichai Deutz Diesel Engine Co., Ltd.) at
a consideration of approximately RMB252.9 million.

On 1 November 2016 (Central European Time), the
subsidiary of the Company, KION, completed the acquisition
of all the issued shares of DH Services Luxembourg Holding
S.a r.l. and the advanced material handling automation
solutions business operated by its subsidiaries which operate
mainly under the “Dematic” trade name at a consideration
of approximately EUR2.1 billion.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any major
acquisition or disposal during the Year.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT S5 - &SESSMNSkERBAS

(1) DIRECTORS (1)ES

Mr. Tan Xuguang, Chinese, aged 55, is the chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, chairman of Shandong Heavy Industry
Group Co., Ltd. and chairman of Weichai Group Holdings Limited (which
holds A Shares of the Company with details as set out below and is thus
interested in shares of the Company under Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance). He is also the chairman of Shaanxi Heavy-duty
Motor Company Limited and Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd., and the
supervisor of KION Group AG. Mr. Tan joined Weifang Diesel Engine
Factory in 1977 and had held various positions including chairman and
general manager of Shandong Weichai Import and Export Co., Ltd.,
general manager of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory, chairman of Torch
Automobile Group Co., Ltd., chairman of Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery
Co., Ltd. and director of Beigi Foton Motor Co., Ltd. Mr. Tan is a senior
economist and holds a doctor’'s degree in engineering. Mr. Tan was
appointed as a Representative of the Tenth, Eleventh and Twelfth
National People’s Congress of the PRC and was honored “National Labor
Model”, "FMEREEREEESIE" (the Gold Award of the 4th
Yuan Baohua Enterprise Management).

Mr. Zhang Quan, Chinese, aged 53, is an Executive Director and
Executive President of the Company. Mr. Zhang joined Weifang Diesel
Engine Factory in 1986 and had held the positions of directors of the
quality control department and the marketing department of Weifang
Diesel Engine Factory. Mr. Zhang is currently a director of Weichai Group
Holdings Limited, Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd. and Beiqi
Foton Motor Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhang is a senior economist and holds a
bachelor’s degree in engineering and a MBA degree.

Mr. Xu Xinyu, Chinese, aged 53, is an Executive Director and Executive
President of the Company. Mr. Xu joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory
in 1986 and had held the positions of deputy general manager of
Shandong Weichai Import and Export Co., Ltd., deputy general manager
and executive deputy general manager of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory,
director of Torch Automobile Group Co., Ltd., chairman of Weichai
Power (Weifang) Investment Co., Ltd., chairman of Weichai Power
(Shanghai) Technology Development Co., Ltd., chairman of Weichai
Power (Beijing) International Resource Investment Co., Ltd., chairman of
Siciété International des Moteurs Baudouin and chairman of Weichai
America Corp. Mr. Xu is currently a director of Weichai Group Holdings
Limited, director of Weichai Power (Hong Kong) International
Development Co., Ltd., chairman of Weichai Power (Luxembourg)
Holding S.a r.l. and director of Ferretti International Holding S.p.A. Mr.
Xu is a senior economist and holds a bachelor’s degree in science and a
MBA degree.
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Mr. Sun Shaojun, Chinese, aged 51, is an Executive Director and
Executive President of the Company. Mr. Sun joined Weifang Diesel
Engine Factory in 1988 and had held the positions of supervisor of the
engineering department, the chief engineer of Weifang Diesel Engine
Factory, and director of Torch Automobile Group Co., Ltd. Mr. Sun is
currently a director of Weichai Group Holdings Limited and Weichai
Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd. Mr. Sun is a researcher-grade senior
engineer and holds a doctor degree in engineering. He is a candidate of
"BERATEAA LR (National Hundred and Ten Million Talents
Project), receives special subsidy from the State Council and is appointed
as "IUEEARBNRLSERFIERL" (Taishan Mountain scholar
specialist appointed by Shandong People’s Government).

Mr. Wang Yuepu, Chinese, aged 54, was appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company on 30 June 2014. Mr. Wang was a division
head of the investment division of Weifang City Planning Commission
(MhEtElZ B€), a deputy director of the Weifang City Electric
Power Construction Office (#hmE HERIHAZE), a deputy general
manager of Weifang Investment Company and the party committee
secretary, chairman and general manager of Weifang Investment
Company. Mr. Wang is presently the party committee secretary,
chairman and general manager of Weifang Investment Group Company
Limited and a director of Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd.. He is
a senior economist and holds a Master of Business Administration
degree.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Jiang Kui, Chinese, aged 52, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 29 June 2012. He had held various
positions including engineer and deputy general manager of Assembly
Department of Shandong Bulldozer General Factory (1LiEHE+#4ER),
deputy general manager of Shantui Import and Export Company (1L 3
H AA7]), deputy director, director of manufacturing department,
deputy general manager and director of Shantui Engineering Machinery
Co., Ltd. (ILHETIEHMARMDEMR A R]), deputy general manager of
Shandong Engineering Machinery Group Co., Ltd. (LR T2 EE A
[R/A7]), executive deputy general manager and vice chairman of
Weichai Group Holdings Limited, chairman of Shanzhong Jianji Co., Ltd.
and director of Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd. He is now the
general manager of Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd., and
supervisor of KION Group AG. He is a senior engineer and holds a MBA
degree.

Mr. Gordon Riske, American/German, aged 59, was appointed as a
Non-executive Director of the Company on 24 June 2013. He had been
chief executive officer of KUKA Roboter GmbH, chairman of the
executive board of directors of Deutz AG in Cologne, Germany and chief
executive officer of KION Material Handling GmbH. He is currently the
chief executive officer of KION Group AG, and of KION Holding 2
GmbH. He holds a degree in electronic engineering and a bachelor
degree in business administration.
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Mr. Loh Yih, Singaporean, aged 52, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 29 June 2012. He worked in
Ernst & Young and West Merchant Bank and had held various positions
including senior manager of capital market investment department of
the Standard Chartered Merchant Bank, president of Netplus
Communications Pte Ltd and a partner of MGF Capital Group. He is
currently executive chairman of Acesian Partners Limited, a company
whose shares are listed on the Singapore Exchange, an independent
director and chairman of audit committee of Ban Leong Technologies
Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Singapore Exchange,
and an independent director and member of audit committee of
International Press Softcom Limited, a company whose shares are listed
on the Singapore Exchange. He is a Chartered Financial Analyst and
holds an accounting degree from the National University of Singapore.

Mr. Zhang Zhong, Chinese, aged 48, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company on 30 June 2014. Mr. Zhang
held independent directorships in Huolinhe Opencut Coal Industry
Corporation Limited of Inner Mongolia (5 & Bk 88 X 2 MDA R
A7), Zhengzhou Sino-Crystal Diamond Co., Ltd. (ZB)N2E & & RGN
AMRAT]), Konka Group Co., Ltd. (BEEEEHARAT) and Jilin
Gpro Titanium Industry Co., Ltd. (F#MEMKERMDERAT). At
present, Mr. Zhang is a lawyer and partner of Beijing Zhonglun Law Firm
(b Rm e R ZEMEFEFT) and an independent director of Beijing Dalong
Weiye Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (At R ABE(E E FHERZE KD
AMRAT]) and Keda Group Co., Ltd. (REEEERRHAERAF]). He holds
a Master of Laws from the Renmin University of China (fFBI AR KE2).

WEICHAI PowWER Co., LTD. H4EHBRMNBERLAD

ES ESENRSRERAS(E)

EREE FTMEHE 250 RZ2F
——FXNAZT+IhBEZTAEEXDF
BYFEHTES CRBA L KZETAD
E BT - West Merchant Bank : & {E& T
TNHERTAERABEAMIBIRE
E SRS - NetplusBIE AR DA A
MGFEEBR QA& A B {EAcesian
Partners Limited (7% 2 &) & 15 7 ¥7 X A
Em)#ITEFE » Ban Leong Technologies
Limited(&2 R Bl R DR XA L) B
VEFMEFZEEERE  International
Press Softcom Limited (3% A &) J& 9 7 T 2
FIEMBLIESNEFNZE: Fire
B ATED - TN RS KBS &L o

RREE - hHE BR KR _FT—N
FRA=Z+THBZERARABEILIFH
TEE ETARHAEMTERKER
MERRAR BMNERSBAOBRNER
RECFEEERNERAFABIES
MEMSHEREBRODBERAABILE
E o BRAELL R T b e A2 ADE SRR
ABEA R TMAREERMERZER
MERAABLESE MEEERNE
BRomBIEE PERARKSEER
+ .



DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Wang Gongyong, Chinese, aged 44, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 30 June 2014.
Mr. Wang is currently a partner of ShineWing Certified Public
Accountants. He is also an independent director of Sunvim Group Co.,
Ltd. (E HEB KD AR A A]). He is a certified public accountant of
the PRC, a certified asset valuer, a senior auditor, a senior accountant, a
member of the Certified Public Accountant Industry Leader (Reserve)
Scheme. Mr. Wang holds a Master of Business Administration from the
Shandong University (1L 3 X £2). He is a collaborative tutor for
graduate courses leading to professional degrees at Shandong University
and a fellow member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Mr. Ning Xiangdong, Chinese, aged 51, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 30 June 2014.
Mr. Ning held independent directorships in listed companies, such as
Datang Telecom Technology Co., Ltd. (KEEERHERMHERAT),
Shantui Engineering Machinery Co., Ltd. (¥ TR (5 B R A7),
GoerTek Inc. FREBAERER(HERRAF]), Hong Yuan Securities Co., Ltd.
(BREHIAMN AR AT) and Aerospace Hi-Tech Holding Group Co., Ltd.
(R EHERR S ERZ D BBR /A F]). Mr. Ning is currently a professor and
doctoral tutor of the Tsinghua University School of Economics and

S=E

Management (FERSZLEEEZM) and a director of the Corporate
Governance Research Center of Tsinghua University (& K2 N AT
FEHL). Mr. Ning is currently an independent director of China
Southern Airlines Company Limited ((FBF MDD BRAR),
Sichuan Changhong Electric Co., Ltd. (F)I| KT E2ERHER A E]) and
Yango Group Co., Ltd. (FHMEBRMAERAR]) and an external
director of Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd. (IR ETEE R
A \]). He holds a Doctor of Philosophy in Economics from Tsinghua

University.
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(2) SUPERVISORS
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Mr. Lu Wenwu, Chinese, aged 52, is the chairman of the supervisory
committee of the Company. Mr. Lu joined Weichai Diesel Engine Factory
in 1982 and had held various positions at Weichai Diesel Engine Factory
as deputy general manager of the 615 Factory and deputy general
manager of the mid-speed engine factory, deputy director of the human
resources department, and at Weichai Power Co., Ltd. as general
manager of the 615 Factory, general manager of No. 1 Factory and
director of the production department. He is now chairman of the Labor
Union and director of the party committee working department of the
Company, and director of staff career development centre of the
Company. He is also a supervisor of Weichai Group Holdings Limited.
Mr. Lu is a senior political engineer and holds a bachelor’s degree.

Ms. Jiang Jianfang, Chinese, aged 54, is a Supervisor of the Company.
She was the deputy chief of the financial audit committee, deputy
director of risk control department, audit department and audit and risk
control department of EFEWI TEBE AR /A 7] (Guangxi Liugong Group
Company Limited), and a supervisor of EFW T#EMIMNDEIR A E]
(Guangxi Liugong Machinery Company Limited) and is currently a
seconded supervisor under the work department of the Supervisory
Committee of Guangxi Liugong Group Company Limited. Ms. Jiang is an
accountant.

Mr. Ma Changhai, Chinese, aged 42, is a Supervisor of the Company.
Mr. Ma joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1997. He had been the
deputy manager at administration department and an officer at the
administrative office of external affairs of Shandong Weichai Import and
Export Co., Ltd.. He is currently the administrative officer of the
Company, the deputy administrative officer at its Hong Kong office, a
director of Weichai Power (Hong Kong) International Development Co.,
Ltd., a director of Weichai International (Hong Kong) Energy Group Co.,
Ltd., and a director of Weichai Power (Beijing) International Resource
Investment Co., Ltd.. He is a political engineer and holds a bachelor’s
degree.

WEICHAI PowWER Co., LTD. H4EHBRMNBERLAD

ES ESENRSRERAS(E)

(2) 888

BXREE PEHE 25 AQRE
@ fE 19824 N A Ty 40 R
JE AT 4 Iy S m M BR615 TR Bl IR &~ PR
HERREIRE - A BRI E & ML
BARMBAERQAG6SHBEE . — T
B REFBREH: BELRQA
ITexF EZITFEHFBER BEIBE
FRAPLET BETBREBBR QA

=

EE SRKRIM KRBEE-

T X

BEFI Szt PEE S4E ADAE
T RERANISEARAAMERE
HEEERITE BEBRES F5HM
QIS =i =i = i B
MERAAES RETEANIEES
BRorEEe THEMMIMNRES 26
BLTE o

EEEXE PEHE 25 ARA®
=5 1997 F N A  SCO0m R AF WL
RHEERORREEII LR I
EERAEIE REQATRLAE

T EFRBEIEM  HEHNH(ED)
FEEREREMRARESE  HEBRERES)
BEREEARARES  HEHHEER)
EERERKEERARES: I
REERFo



DIRECTORS,

SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(3) SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Dai Lixin, Chinese, aged 49, is a Vice President of the Company,
the Secretary to the Board and Director of Securities and Capital
Operation Department of the Company. He joined Weifang Diesel
Engine Factory in 1987 and was the deputy director of the treasury
department of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory. Mr. Dai is an economist
and holds a bachelor’s degree.

Mr. Kwong Kwan Tong, Chinese, aged 50, is the Chief Financial
Officer, Company Secretary and Authorised Representative of the
Company. He is currently a director of Weichai International (Hong
Kong) Energy Group Co., Ltd.. Mr. Kwong joined the Company in 2013.
Mr. Kwong obtained a diploma in accountancy from the Morrison Hill
Technical Institute in Hong Kong in 1987. He is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants. He has worked for companies
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and has over 25
years’ experience in the accounting and financial management fields.

Mr. Feng Gang, Chinese, aged 52, is a Vice President of the Company.
He was manager of technology service department, assistant to general
manager and executive deputy general manager of sales department of
the head office and executive deputy director of marketing management
department of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory. He is an engineer and
holds a bachelor’'s degree in engineering. He holds a National May 1st
Labor Medal of China.

Mr. Tong Dehui, Chinese, aged 52, is a Vice President of the Company.
He was the assistant supervisor and supervisor of the technology centre
of Weichai Power and deputy chief engineer of Weichai Power. Mr.
Tong is a research-grade senior engineer and holds a doctor’s degree in
engineering. Mr. Tong receives special subsidy from the State Council.
He was appointed as “IUIERE ARBNRLSBEFEZR" (Taishan
Mountain scholar specialist appointed by Shandong People’s
Government). He is a Young and Middle-aged Expert with Outstanding
Contribution awarded by Shandong Province.

Mr. Zhou Chongyi, Chinese, aged 52, is a Vice President of the
Company and the director of the Company’s Shanghai R&D Centre. He
is also the deputy general manager of Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co.,
Ltd. He was the deputy supervisor of engineering department, deputy
chief engineer of China National Heavy Duty Truck Group Corp, Ltd. and
deputy chief engineer of Shanghai Huizhong Automobile Manufacturing
Co. Ltd. Mr. Zhou is a senior engineer and holds an EMBA.
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Mr. Li Shaohua, Chinese, aged 51, is a Vice President of the Company.
Mr. Li joined the Company in 1987 and had held various positions
including the deputy general manager of the marketing department of
the head office, director of application engineering department and
assistant to president. He is a senior engineer and holds a bachelor’s
degree in engineering.

Ms. Ren Bingbing, Chinese, aged 51, is a Vice President of the
Company. Ms. Ren joined the Company in 1987 and had held various
positions including the deputy general manager of procurement
management department and assistant to president of the Company.
She is a senior economist and a graduate student in economics.

Mr. Ding Yingdong, Chinese, aged 48, is a Vice President of the
Company. Mr. Ding joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1990 and
had held various positions including deputy director of corporate
planning department and director of human resources department of
Weifang Diesel Engine Factory, director of human resources and
corporate management department, assistant to president, director of
the operational management department and a supervisor of the
Company. Mr. Ding is a senior economist and holds the qualification of
senior manager of corporate human resources and a bachelor’s degree
in engineering.

Mr. Hu Haoyan, American, aged 61, is a Vice President of the
Company. Mr. Hu joined the Company in 2014. He has been an adjunct
assistant professor at Ohio State University, a senior engineer,
engineering manager, senior engineering manager at Jacobs Vehicle
Systems, Inc., senior engineering manager at Detroit Diesel Corporation,
an engineering manager at Caterpillar, chief scientist at Eaton
Corporation plc. He holds a doctoral degree granted by the Department
of Mechanical Engineering at Massachusetts Institute of Technology
(MIT) and is a post-doctoral researcher at the same department. Mr. Hu
is an expert under the National Thousand Talents Program of China and
he is also a Taishan Scholars Blue Industry Leader Talent.

Mr. Zhang Jiyuan, Chinese, aged 52, is a Vice President and chief
designer of the Company. He joined the Company in 1990 and held
various positions including the deputy director and chief designer of the
technology centre of the Company. He is a researcher in engineering
technology application and holds a master’s degree in engineering. Mr.
Zhang is a Taishan Industry Leader Talent.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group is the manufacture and sale of diesel
engines and related parts, automobiles and other major automobile
components, auxiliary automobile components, import and export services and
forklift trucks and warehouses technology services. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities during the year. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries and associates are set out in Note VII to
the financial statement.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review, major risks, financial analysis and future prospects of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 are set out in Chairman’s
Statement on pages 7 to 15 and Management Discussion and Analysis on
pages 16 to 28.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 and the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 104 to 363. The Board recommended the
distribution to all shareholders of a cash dividend of RMB2.50 (including tax)
for every 10 shares held and 10 bonus shares (including tax) for every 10
shares held, for the year ended 31 December 2016. No capitalisation of reserve
will be implemented. This recommendation has been disclosed as a subsequent
event after the reporting period on page 328 in the financial statements.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and minority interests
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out on
page 364. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Company
and the Group during the year are set out in Note V.16 to the financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during the
year are set out in Note V.15 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in Note V.43 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the year are set out in Notes V.44 to 48 to the financial statements and in the
statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2016, the Company’s reserve available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the relevant regulations, amounted to
RMB25,912,653,851.34. As approved by the Board on 29 March 2017, the
Company proposed to distribute to all shareholders of a cash dividend of
RMB2.50 (including tax) for every 10 shares held and 10 bonus shares
(including tax) for every 10 shares held. No capitalisation of reserve will be
implemented..

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions totaling
approximately RMB5,546,768.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The directors and supervisors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Tan Xuguang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Zhang Quan (Executive President)
Xu Xinyu (Executive President)
Sun Shaojun (Executive President)
Li Dakai (Executive President)
(resigned on 29 March 2017)

Non-executive Directors
Wang Yuepu

Jiang Kui

Gordon Riske

Independent Non-executive Directors
Loh Yih

Zhang Zhong

Wang Gongyong

Ning Xiangdong

Zhang Zhenhua (resigned on 29 March 2017)

SUPERVISORS

Lu Wenwu
Jiang Jianfang
Ma Changhai

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), and as at the date of this report, the
Company still considers that all of the independent non-executive directors are
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 29 to 36 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company and their relevant term of offices shall be from 30 June 2015 to the
conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company for the year ending
31 December 2017. Each of the non-executive directors, independent non-
executive directors and supervisors was appointed for a term from 30 June
2015 to the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company for the
year ending 31 December 2017.

None of the above directors and supervisors has entered into a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without the payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Mr. Gordon Riske holds interest in KION and was interested in contracts for
the sale of commodities, provision of product testing, casting, catering and
leasing services by Linde Hydraulics GmbH & Co. KG, a subsidiary of the
Group, to KION and its subsidiaries, and in contracts for the provision of
information technology services, accounting, human resources, logistics
services etc. by KION and its subsidiaries to Linde Hydraulics GmbH & Co. KG.
Save as disclosed above, no director or supervisor had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of
the Group to which the Company, its holding company, or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance which
provides appropriate cover for the directors of the Group. At no time during
the year ended 31 December 2016 and up to the date of this report, was or is
there any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of any
of the directors of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2016, the interests and short position (if any) of the
directors, the chief executives and the supervisors in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")),
as recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”), were as follows:

ESEHRS (88

B3 NESNKIMKIEEKMN

-
86 )<

m

R-E—A"F+_A=+—"HB EF &5
THRABRESERARAREMABEE(E
ERBEFRBERANTESFRBEKRMNDE
XVED BB D - RGO RESHF - A RE
BEALBEKIEINNKERERQAANERE
mEEMATES KBELETRARESET
BHERGHBRETFA(RETRDHEEEA
CARNRIREEBIINEZRER(IA)

=t

(a) Interests in the shares of the Company

m -

(a) RLOBRMHEDS

Percentage of

the issued

share capital

Number of Number of of the

Name of director Capacity “A" shares held  “H" shares held Company

RN

ERTREX

BEx=ps &% AR B fisHR & B BOl

Tan Xuguang Beneficial owner 29,421,298 (Note 1) - 0.74%
BN ExBAA (K1)

Zhang Quan Beneficial owner 6,842,162 (Note 1) - 0.17%
KR ExfEBEA (Hrat1)

Xu Xinyu Beneficial owner 6,842,162 (Note 1) - 0.17%
®ME ERERA (Kret1)

Sun Shaojun Beneficial owner 6,842,162 (Note 1) - 0.17%
BROE ExBBEA (K1)

Percentage of

the issued

share capital

Number of Number of of the

Name of supervisor Capacity “A" shares held  “H" shares held Company

RN

ERITRA

EENF &% AR E FiEHR & B Bt

Lu Wenwu Beneficial owner 300,000 - 0.008%

BXH ExafBA
Notes: B &t
1. These shares were derived from the previous domestic shares of the Company. 1. BERMODZHBEARGIAER - AER B

The domestic shares were ordinary shares issued by the Company, with a
Renminbi denominated par value of RMB1.00 each, which were subscribed for
and paid up in Renminbi or credited as fully paid up. These shares became A
Shares of the Company upon the A Share listing of the Company on the

Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

All the shareholding interests listed in the above table are “long” position.

ARBEITHEBR KARKIE &
RETEARE1.007T - AN R RERS
BHARINBHRE > ZFRORARFA
R RN GE %X Z B £ &K DA R A
ZARR -

ERATINE) B IR E 5 1 AT B
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(b)

42

Interests in the shares of associated corporations of the (b)

RAXTHEEEERGHNES

Company
Approximate
Class and percentage
number of interest in the
securities entire issued
interested or share capital
Name of associated deemed to be of associated
Name of director corporation Nature of interest interested corporations
BEERR HEEE
REARSE 2IE BT
ERNES BR A B BE &
BEEpHE 16 B L B = B EEMEE BRI RHE BRABEDL
Gordon Riske (Note) KION Group AG (“KION") Beneficial owner 227,350 0.21%
Gordon Riske (4 77#) EmEA A ordinary shares

Interest held by spouse

M B A M

Note: Gordon Riske, a non-executive Director, was the beneficial owner of 227,350
shares in KION and he was also deemed to be interested in 3,000 shares in KION
which were beneficially held by his wife, Ms. Benita Riske.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, none of the Directors,
the chief executives nor the supervisors had an interest or short position
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations that was recorded in the register required to
be kept pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company pursuant to the Model Code.

WEICHAI PowWER Co., LTD. H4EHBRMNBERLAD

227,350 f% & 3@ A%

3,000 0.003%
ordinary shares
3,000 fi% & i ik

Wt 5t : FE#1 77 & F Gordon Riske A KION £9227,350
BRBGHEZSEAA UHREAREEZTF
Benita Riske 2 1 & & 1% A £93,000 BX KION
RGP E#w o

BEXHBEEN AT AF+=
A=+—0 B®EF BRETHAR
S B %A 2 A S E A 1 40 0K B A
B 17 AR AR 15 15 % o B A 1R U B 4
K 5055 6 ) 9 352 15 08 /8 2 R A X 16
19 o 77 0 S P S A
18 1 12 < B8 A K A A 6 3
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DETAILS OF CHANGES IN SHARE CAPITAL AND

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS'

0)

Changes in share capital

1.

SHAREHOLDINGS

Changes in share capital (as at 31 December 2016)

Before the movement

AREEH

No. of
shares

L

Percentage
bt
(%)

ESEHRS (88

RARZFMMESHRREREBMN

() BRAZHER

1. BRAEZEBEFELFEHE - Z
—NFEF+—A=+—H)

Increase/decrease in the movement (+, -)

AREBRHE (+-)

New shares
issued

EEL

Bonus
Issue

3

Transfer
of surplus Restriction
to capital lifted
DRSER BRRE

Sub-total
NG

After the movement
TREBE

No. of
shares  Percentage
g8 ]
(%)

Restricted circulating shares

BRERIRD

1.

State-owned shares

BRRR

State-owned legal person shares
BREAR

Shares held by other domestic
entities

Hfp sk

including: Shares held by domestic
non-state-owned legal persons
B BREEREARR
Shares held by domestic natural
persons

Emant sk

Shares held by foreign entities
SVERR

including: Shares held by overseas
legal persons

A ENEARR

Shares held by overseas natural
persons

BIERARR

Non-restricted circulating shares

ERERIRD

1.

RMB ordinary shares
NREERR

Dornestic listed foreign shares
BA LTESNER

Overseas listed foreign shares
SO EEOSNER

Others

At

Total number of shares

Rireg

934,929,504

821,265,504

113,664,000

113,664,000

3,063,689,774

2,092,169,774

971,520,000

3,998,619,278

23.38%

2054%

2.84%

2.84%

76.62%

52.32%

2430%

100%

- (67,285,989)

- (67,285,989)

- (67,285,989)

- 67,285,989

- 67,285,989

ANNUAL REPORT 2016 F IR

(67,285,989)

(67,285,989)

(67,285,989)

67,285,989

67,285,989

867,643,515 21.70%

821,265,504 20.54%

46,378,011 1.16%

46,378,011 1.16%

3,130975,763 78.30%

2,159,455,763 54.00%

971,520,000 24.30%

3,998,619,278 100%
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(I

44

Shareholdings of the Substantial Shareholders (as at 31 I EERREBRBRR=-_ZF—RE

December 2016) +=ZA=+—8)

Total number of Shareholders  The number of shareholders is BEAH £142,440F ERARKRE
142,440 among which 142,159 are 142,159F » HR& A% 82815 °
shareholders of “A” shares and
281 are shareholders of “H"
shares.

Shareholdings of the top ten shareholders FI 105 HR 5+ IR 18 1

Number of
Approximate Total Number of shares
percentage of number of restricted pledged
Name of shareholder Type of Shareholder shares held shares held shares held or frozen
BEREL ERERY ERARRE
BREE® RR#HE B FREY ROHE HROHE
(%)
HKSCC Nominees Limited Foreign shareholder 24.22% 968,535,228 - N/A
EEPREERBEABRAT SMEBRE Nl
Weichai Group Holdings Limited State-owned legal person 16.83% 672,952,800 672,952,800 -
HREREERRAR BAEA
Weifang Investment Group Company Limited  State-owned legal person 3.71% 148,312,704 148,312,704 -
HITMREEEERRA B &EA
China Securities Finance Corporation Limited ~ Domestic non-state-owned 2.53% 101,160,734 - -
REESERBRHERAA legal person
BAEEEEA
VM Technical Consultants Wien Overseas legal person 1.93% 77,200,000 - -
Gesellschaft m.b.H. BINEA
BMIVME A A RER A A
Central Huijin Assets Management State-owned legal person 1.36% 54,246,400 - -
Company Limited BEA
HRESEEEREREMCLAA
Hong Zejun Domestic natural person 1.19% 47,650,000 - -
HEE BAEAA
Shenzhen Capital Group Co., Ltd Domestic non-state-owned 0.91% 36,408,569 - -
RYTRIHREEEBERAR legal person
BRIEBEEA
Tan Xuguang Domestic natural person 0.74% 29,421,298 22,065,973 -
BIER BERERA
Hong Kong Securities Clearing Overseas legal person 0.70% 28,022,407 - -

Company Limited (Note)
EROREEBRRAGE)

BINEA

Note: Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited holds 28,022,407 A Shares on
behalf of shareholders under the Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect

mechanism.

WEICHAI PowER Co., LTD.
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Shareholdings of the top ten non-restricted shareholders

ESEHRS (88

Number of the
non-restricted

AT 107 48 IR & 15 14 I R 15 R 15 2%

Name of shareholder shares held Types of shares
BEEREGRN
KRR E B IR 65 &2 IR 4 & 8
HKSCC Nominees Limited 968,535,228 Overseas listed foreign shares
BEEPREEARBEABRAF oM T INE R
China Securities Finance Corporation Limited 101,160,734 RMB ordinary shares
PEESSBKRNDBRLQT AR EBR
IVM Technical Consultants Wien Gesellschaft m.b.H. 77,200,000 RMB ordinary shares
B FIVME T 75 S AL A B BR 2 7 AR L @R
Central Huijin Assets Management Company Limited 54,246,400 RMB ordinary shares
FRESEEEEBARETAA NI ill e
Hong Zejun 47,650,000 RMB ordinary shares
HEE AR EBR
Shenzhen Capital Group Co., Ltd 36,408,569 RMB ordinary shares
RINTEIFFIRESREBR DA AR EE R
Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited 28,022,407 RMB ordinary shares
BEAPREHZBERAF NI ill e
CITIGROUP GLOBAL MARKETS LIMITED 27,924,295 RMB ordinary shares
AREEBR
Platinum Investment Management Company Limited 27,129,333 RMB ordinary shares
HEeREEBERAFR-BEED AR EE R
ICBCCS Fund — ICBC — Asset Management for 24,449,815 RMB ordinary shares
Designated Customers AR L ®R
IRGEEEE-TIART-BEEFEEER

Note: B -

1. It is not certain whether there is any connected relationship among the top ten 1. RANBARMEFG+ERRREMA+ 5
shareholders and the other top ten non-restricted shareholders, or whether there BEREKHREZEEEFHEBEBE
is any acting in concert relationship among them. thARMEELER —HITHAL -

2. Among the shareholders, Hong Zejun held 47,650,000 shares through client 2. RAIRER HBEIBEPEEESFE

account of collateral securities for margin trading at China Galaxy Securities

Company Limited.

BRAGEFIEARZGERESKFIHE
47,650,000 % »
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS F2RR
The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant AR RRIEE 5 MK R B F 3361517 B 1
to Section 336 of the SFO (including interests filed with the Hong Kong Stock 2R ROE AL (B 45 1A & 8 B X2 AT ER R
Exchange) shows that as at 31 December 2016, the following persons (other A #8) BUR ;5/\‘\: ga - F+ ::)EJ =t+—8"
than directors, chief executives and supervisors) had the following interests and THAL(EFE - BRITBRAEBRE %ﬂ_ﬂ\/ﬁl\)
short positions (if any) in the shares and underlying shares of the Company: EARARG RARBERGD P HEE T #ER R
malnEg) -
Percentage Percentage
of share of share
capital capital  Percentage
Long/ comprising comprising of total
Short ~ Number of only  Number of only issued share
Name Capacity position A shares A shares H shares H shares capital
AR fEHR  HEES
#e/ Rx R& Rx&g
L at wE AREER Al HR &R Ol Bk
Weichai Group Holdings Limited Beneficial owner long 672,952,800 22.23% - - 16.83%
RXEREEERATA EnEAA e
Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd. Held by controlled corporation long 672,952,800 22.23% - - 16.83%
(Note 1) ) mXEEERE e
WRETSEERAR (M)
Brandes Investment Partners, LP (Note 2) Investment manager Long - - 78578612 16.18% 3.93%
(Hrt2) RELRE e
Lazard Asset Management LLC Investment manager Long - - 233,959,955 24.08% 5.85%
RERRE e
JPMorgan Chase & Co. Beneficial owner Long - - 7,768,135 0.80% 0.19%
EnEAA e
Custodian - Corporation/approved Long - - 54,742,256 5.63% 137%
lending agent e
REA-ZE/BAERLREA
Investment manager Long _ _ 5282 600 0.54% 0.13%
hemn 8 - o P
Trustee (other Lhan a bare trustee) Long - 33,664 0.01% 0.00%
CEINGELEINT) e
67,826,655 6.98% 1.69%
Beneficial owner Short - - 1,548,100 0.15% 0.04%
EanEAA *E
Lazard Emerging Markets Equity Portfolio Investment manager Long - - 23,707,500 5.86% 1.42%
(Note 3) (H1zt3) RERE e
Barclays PLC (Note 2) (fif322) Person having a security interest in Long - - 525,552 0.11% 0.03%
shares e
HROBERBERNA
Interest of corporation controlled Long - - 25,453,050 5.24% 1.27%
by the substantial shareholder i)
KRR BT 0 5 B
25,978,602 5.35% 1.30%
Interest of corporation controlled Short - - 24,102,475 4.96% 1.21%
by the substantial shareholder %E

46
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Percentage Percentage
of share of share
capital capital  Percentage
Long/ comprising comprising of total
Short ~ Number of only  Number of only issued share
Name Capacity position A shares A shares H shares H shares capital
AR fEHR  HEERS
#e/ k& R& Rx&g
L at RE AREER Bl HR &R Bk Bl
Citigroup Inc. Interest of corporation controlled Long - - 8,583,174 0.88% 0.22%
by the substantial shareholders He
REBRAE 0 EE RS
Custodian - Corporation/approved Long - - 45282835 4.66% 1.13%
lending agent e
REA—EE/BRBHREA
Person having a security interest in Long - - 4,811,774 0.50% 0.12%
shares e
HENHERBEZNHA
58,677,783 6.04% 1.47%
Interest of corporation controlled Short - - 8,416,876 0.87% 0.21%
by the substantial shareholders KE
RERMEH S EE RS
BlackRock, Inc. Interest of corporation controlled Long - - 83,681,474 8.61% 2.09%
by the substantial shareholders wE
RERAEH0EE RS
Schroders Plc Investment Manager Long - 57,366,000 591% 1.43%
RELRE e
Notes: Htat -
1. Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of State-owned Assets LWREHEEEEEEEZE SN E 22 7L

Supervision and Administration Commission of Shandong Province, held the entire share
capital of Weichai Group Holding Limited (formerly known as Weifang Diesel Engine
Works).

2. The number of H shares (and the relevant shareholding percentage) reported above by
the relevant substantial shareholder does not take into consideration the Company’s
bonus share issuance on 20 August 2015 as there is no disclosure of interest obligation
under the SFO where there is no change in percentage of shareholdings for a substantial
shareholder.

3. The number of H shares (and the relevant shareholding percentage) reported above by
the relevant substantial shareholder does not take into consideration the Company’s
bonus share issuance on 17 August 2012 and 20 August 2015 as there is no disclosure
of interest obligation under the SFO where there is no change in percentage of
shareholdings for a substantial shareholder.

RETHEFERAFAFEMKEEZEREERFR R
7] (B 78 73 48 57 56 8 BE B B9 2 BB AR K

LA BIZHEETEERT A ZHRER (R E
BIRET D) B RARA R = F—HF/N
A=+ BayATBRIR %77 8 - Ut T3 B4R 15 48 2

REEED - F BRRZRIEE 5 L2
B BBRREE D -

LA 2O AT BERF A ZHRE R (R E
BIRET D) B RARA R = F—=F /N
A+tBAR=-ZF—-HFNA -1 HAARIEHF
T8 WA RIRE S RAEEY - 5 FE BR
RZMREBDIL T EZE RIGERKEE -

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any other B FYHBEBEN R T —XFE+ - A8

=<

relevant interests or short positions in the issued share capital of the Company S+ - BAATIVERESMEARD TS EIT
as at 31 December 2016. A7 ) £ 0] L A AR B A S s A R
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DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

There was no appointment or dismissal of any directors, supervisors or senior

management during the reporting period.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company and the Group had
the following continuing connected transactions, certain details of which are
disclosed in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules.

List of Connected Persons who had transactions and the

relationship with the Group

Name of Connected Persons

Abbreviation

EF - EF SHHERAERN

EHRATEECTARBEST EF 5
BABBR-

my

FEMRERXRS
BE-T—AF+-A=+—HLFE X
REEAEBE TR EUBPERS X F
RHMETHBORE LT RABAER
REHE -

HASEFEBEEBRNBEERZN
BEALTZEE

Relationship between the Connected
Persons and the Group

BMEALTER 15 18 BEATHASE BERR
Shaanxi Automotive Group Co., Ltd. Shaanxi Automotive Held a 49% interest in a subsidiary of the
PreETESEAREEAT PR E Company Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automotive Co.,

Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive Transmission Co., Ltd.

BREA T T E S R E

Shandong Heavy Industry Group Finance Co., Ltd.
IWERETSEMBERAA

Weichai Group Holdings Limited
SR R B AR AR

Chongging Weichai Diesel Engine Limited
ERMREBRAR AR

Shandong Weichai Import and Export Co., Ltd.
IR AL H O AR AR

Fast Transmission
FErEEE

Shandong Finance

W EMH

Weichai Holdings

SRR
Chongging Weichai

Weichai Import and Export
HESEH O

48 WEICHAI Power Co., LTD. H#XRENBRMERLT

Ltd. (“Shaanxi Zhonggi”)
WAARGE 2B AGPRAERTEERAF
(TBREEEA] ) 49%Ex

Held a 49% interest in a subsidiary of the
Company, Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. (“SFGC")
BAEARARZ B RARREELT FERER AT
(IBRPBELT R ] ) 49%

Shandong Heavy Industry,

a substantial shareholder of the Company,
held a 40% interest in Shandong Finance
RABZEERRILRET
BERILIEREA0%E S

Held a 16.83% interest in the Company, one of
the Promoters of the Company

WABARNF16.83%MEas + ANFIERAZ—

Wholly-owned by Weichai Holdings
SR 2 2 BB AR

Wholly-owned by Weichai Holdings
SR 2 2 BB AR
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Name of Connected Persons

ESEHRS (88

Abbreviation

Relationship between the Connected
Persons and the Group

BEATER 5 8 BEATHAEBZEEBRR
Weichai (Weifang) Medium-duty Diesel Weichai Medium Wholly-owned by Weichai Holdings (Note)
Engine Co., Ltd. e ki) ML s 2 EWB AR GF)

HESR Cin) P RISOMEBRAF]

Weichai Power Westport New Energy Engine Co., Ltd.

HERTTEFTRERB AR A F]

Yangzhou Yaxing Motor Coach Co., Ltd.
BMNTEEFERHERADF

Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd.
HSRERARD AR A A

Weichai Electrical Equipment Co., Ltd.
(formally known as Weichai Generator
Equipment Co., Ltd.)

HRENRBERAE (RAEEERFEERAR)

Note : On 1 November 2016, the Company acquired 100% equity interest in Weichai Medium, it

Weichai Westport
FERER

Yangzhou Yaxing
HMNEE
Weichai Heavy Machinery

HESRE

Weichai Electrical Equipment
HERENRE

a subsidiary of Weichai Holdings, which formed business combination involving entities
under common control and included Weichai Medium into the consolidated financial
statements of the Company. Hence, Weichai Medium no longer constitutes a connected
person of the Company thereafter and the continuing connected transactions listed
below only include transitions during 1 January to 31 October 2016.

Weichai Holdings held a 51%
interest in Weichai Westport
ST B T B FTEERS 1 % i m

Indirectly held as to 51% by Weichai Holdings
HEERRERELINDES 1 %En

Weichai Holdings held a 30.59% interest in
Weichai Heavy Machinery
ST B M5 B 130,59 % 1 5

Wholly-owned by Weichai Heavy Machinery
B 2 BB AR

ZE-RNF+—HA—H RRAWEEEER
ZFRE]HESAT100% B9 B #E - T K R — 12
TREEG WML E G K EE -
Ft PR THERAR RN AEHAL T
MFFERB R SECIE LR T E L B =
E-ANF-—A—HETA=Z+—HHRZ5E -
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During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group had continuing
connected transactions entered into in accordance with the following
agreements.

1.

50

Provision of general services and labour services by
Weichai Holdings and its associates to the Company and
its subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the general services agreement entered into between the
Company and Weichai Holdings on 17 November 2003 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements, collectively
referred to as “Weichai Holdings General Services Agreement”), Weichai
Holdings (and its associates) has agreed to provide certain labour services
as well as general services, namely, environmental protection, security,
fire, repair, maintenance and other general services and the payment of
certain town land use right tax in relation to the property occupied and/
or used by the Company and/or other members of the Group, to the
Company, Weichai Power (Weifang) Castings Co., Ltd. (“Weichai
Casting”, a subsidiary of the Company), Shandong Huadong Casting
Co., Ltd. (“Huadong Casting”, a subsidiary of the Company), Weichai
Power (Weifang) Intensive Logistics Co., Ltd. (“Weichai Logistics”, a
subsidiary of the Company) and other subsidiaries of the Company. The
fees payable by the Company and/or its subsidiaries to Weichai Holdings
(and its associates) with respect to the provision of the said services are
determined based on the actual costs incurred by Weichai Holdings (and
its associates) and apportioned on a pro-rata basis according to the area
of the relevant property occupied and/or used by the Company and/or
its subsidiaries plus a service charge representing not more than 20% of
such costs and settled by the parties on a monthly basis.

Pursuant to the general services agreement entered into between the
Company and Chongging Weichai on 17 November 2003 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements, collectively
referred to as “Chongging Weichai General Services Agreement”),
Chongging Weichai (and its associates) has agreed to provide certain
general services to the Company’s Chongging branch office and/or other
members of the Group, namely, environmental protection, security, fire,
and other general services and the payment of certain town land use
right tax in relation to the property occupied and/or used by the
Company’s Chongging branch office and/or other members of the
Group. The fees payable by the Company’s Chongging branch office
and/or other members of the Group to Chongging Weichai (and its
associates) with respect to the provision of the said services are
determined based on the actual costs incurred by Chongging Weichai
(and its associates) and apportioned on a pro-rata basis according to the
area of the relevant property occupied and/or used by the Company’s
Chongging branch office and/or other members of the Group plus a
service charge not exceeding 20% of such costs (save that the town
land use right tax paid by Chongging Weichai (and its associates) on
behalf of the Company’s Chongging branch office and/or other
members of the Group will not be subject to the said 20% service
charge) and are settled by the parties on a monthly basis.

WEICHAI PowWER Co., LTD. H4EHBRMNBERLAD
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The approved annual cap for the aforesaid services provided by Weichai
Holdings and Chongging Weichai and their respective associates for the
year ended 31 December 2016 is RMB160 million. In the year ended 31
December 2016, the total amount charged by Weichai Holdings and
Chongging Weichai and their respective associates from the Company
and its subsidiaries for the said services was RMB46,291,201.

Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the Weichai Holdings
General Services Agreement and the Chongging Weichai General
Services Agreement dated 30 August 2016, Weichai Holdings and
Chongging Weichai and their respective associates have agreed to
provide the said general services and labour services to the Company,
Weichai Casting, Huadong Casting, Weichai Logistics and/or other
subsidiaries of the Company on the same terms and for a period of
three years ending 31 December 2019, upon the expiry of which the
parties may extend the term for another three years on a mutually
agreed basis.

Supply and/or connection of utilities by Weichai
Holdings and its associates to the Company and its
subsidiaries

Pursuant to the utility services agreement entered into between the
Company and Weichai Holdings on 17 November 2003 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements, collectively
referred to as “Weichai Holdings Utilities Services Agreement”), Weichai
Holdings (and its associates) have agreed to provide or provide the
connection of certain utility and energy services to the Company,
Weichai Casting, Weichai Power Freshen Air Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Weichai Freshen Air”, a subsidiary of the Company) and other
subsidiaries of the Company, namely, water, electricity, gas, steam,
oxygen, nitrogen, compressed air, waste water treatment and supply of
treated waste water, etc. The fees payable by the Company and/or its
subsidiaries to Weichai Holdings (and its associates) with respect to the
provision of the said services are determined based on the actual usage
of the Company and/or its subsidiaries and by reference to the market
prices of such utilities. If only government published rates are available
with respect to certain utilities, the fees payable would be determined by
reference to the government published rates plus the wastage,
depreciation and repair expenses incurred by Weichai Holdings (and its
associates) in relation thereto. If no market price or government

E% ¥ﬁ¢(,||a)

E R EEWB(EE) AR REE S
S REWB(FEE) ARRE EARBER
HE-_Z—XRE+_A=+—HILFE
2 &R EFE ER A AR 160,000,000
TC © Fﬁif; ﬁ¢+—ﬂ:+fa
IEFE #EEREENB(FEE A
&i%% £ & HOIT B8 (BE ) & EMLL
Bl M A QA R HOM B R A UE A 42
© 58 A AR 46,291,201 7T °

ﬁﬁ:;*ﬁiﬂﬂi+ﬂﬂimm“
TREERBHBEREERELEAR
ﬁ%mzﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ'ﬁ SRR HE
P o5 (B8 Bt ) & 3] Je 38 B ok e N EL B U8 (B8
BIRBIRBEMARE HRBE - FH
B & CRERARR 2 EAHE R
ARHEASARBE RS HRE  Hib
BRTE HBRFHABE_T-AF
TZA=t+—RIt- RE=F-RE®
RETANEEEEGHE SP=F-

HMRERRENMB(EER) A R0
A RMEBARMER, St
,%XEJJ bﬂﬁﬁ%

iEE 7 YN e T=F
+—H+t5£¢%@ %ﬁ% % (K%
ZEHABRET MER W RIHE
RERDERBHBAED  ERTERIE
ME(EAB) ARIRERMARGF  AXE
BBESNERFEREER QR
RERFL] RRAAZHMERR)RAR
DA ZEMNE A RRMHRERK
B ER - FRLU S A BHEER-S
mﬁkﬁﬁﬁﬁm%#kﬁﬁmﬁm
SETHERERRE -AAFA K3
H g~ Tﬁ%ﬁiﬁ%%%ﬁﬁ%
EREEMEB(EERARXNNER .
TIREBEARNR R HEK B AR ER
RERZ2RBREBPDENTEMET -5
—LEREEERNAMERATMHE2E
BENRBEBRZERNTAMER
55 0N A S P BT R L O U (A e ) 2 A Atk
EENBERE FERBEERXMET -

m3~

ANNUAL REPORT 2016 £E#R 51



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

52

published rates with respect to the above utility and energy services are
available, the Company and/or its subsidiaries will pay the actual costs
incurred by Weichai Holdings (and its associates) in relation to the
provision of such utility and energy services plus a service charge
representing not more than 20% of such costs. In the year ended 31
December 2016, Weichai Holdings (and its associates) has been charging
the Company and its subsidiaries a service charge of 15% of the actual
costs incurred thereof. The fees are settled by the parties on a monthly
basis.

Pursuant to the utility services agreement entered into between the
Company and Chongging Weichai on 17 November 2003 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements, collectively
referred to as “Chongging Weichai Utilities Services Agreement”),
Chongging Weichai (and its associates) has agreed to provide or provide
the connection of certain utility and energy services to the Company’s
Chongging branch office and/or other members of the Group, namely,
water, electricity, natural gas, steam, oxygen, nitrogen and compressed
air, etc. The fees payable by the Company and/or its subsidiaries to
Chongging Weichai (and its associates) with respect to the provision of
the said services are determined based on the usage thereof by the
Company’s Chongging branch office and/or other members of the
Group or, if it is not possible to measure such usage, pro-rated
according to the respective sales of Chongqging Weichai and the
Company’s Chongging branch office and/or other members of the
Group and by reference to the market prices of such utilities. If only
government published rates are available with respect to certain utilities,
the fees payable will be determined by reference to the government
published rates plus the wastage, depreciation and repair expenses
incurred by Chongging Weichai (and its associates) in relation to the
provision of the relevant utilities. If no market prices or government
published rates with respect to the above utilities and energy services are
available, the Company and/or other members of the Group will pay the
actual costs incurred by Chongging Weichai and its associates in relation
to the provision of such utilities and energy services plus a service charge
representing not more than 20% of such costs. In the year ended 31
December 2016, Chongging Weichai and its associates have been
charging the Company and/or other members of the Group a service
charge of 20% of the actual costs incurred thereof. The fees are settled
by the parties on a monthly basis.

WEICHAI PowWER Co., LTD. H4EHBRMNBERLAD

& bl By Ak K A2 R AR 75 X0 £ T (B 3K T
RMER ARBRHENEBRES
AR R AWM B () AR XN
HIERZSHRENERREMELD
BEREERAR ZIEZRERETZR20%
WREHME BE-_T—XE+_A
=t B gRERIENBREE Q
A EALEENERKARN15%RA
DA EM B A R YER AR B 0 - %
SERMETRAKE -

BEARAEEEHRLEN _ZTZT =
+— A+t RETILWEEE RS & (4
ZIEMABEET RERT BB Al
BHEBDEREHBS]) EESHLERE
WEE AR RERARGZEED
RER/SEBRNEMKBIRERER
K-B-EHR HA S B BHEZER
EETHREMERRE - ARE &K
EWB AR ElRIGEMREEHLE R
HEWB(EE Ar XM ER  IHRIE
KARZEES AR,/ HKEBRE
HEKEMEBRAE (M AR Lt BEiZ
ERE)ERHENARAZEED A
Ak/SHEEBRNEMKESBENTEE
HERLNER2BRZSEHERBEA™
BEET HF LBEEERNLAMER
AE2E AEMREEBEEZZERF
NIMER  BNEEMLE N ENE (R
NEIEAMEENEBERE TEREBSHX
MET & LilBpE RERREITEDM
BRBRFTAMER ARAR/HEHE
NEMKEBEMERBERENEB(E
B)AE T EREZEESE KRR
BEIEEMERNA  ShZzEKR
TNZR20%REMME -R_F— X
FH+—_A=Z=+—H EEHLERENE
(BB AR ERRALEENEERKAD
0% A ARRNE R HEBAEMKE I
MREHNE ZEERAESRALE

i
B o
Eas

)



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

The approved annual cap for the aforesaid services provided by Weichai
Holdings and Chongging Weichai and their respective associates for the
year ended 31 December 2016 is RMB800 million. In the year ended 31
December 2016, the total amount charged by Weichai Holdings and
Chongging Weichai and their respective associates from the Company
and its subsidiaries for the said services was RMB260,484,008.

Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the Weichai Holdings
Utilities Services Agreement and the Chongging Weichai Utilities Services
Agreement dated 30 August 2016, Weichai Holdings and Chongging
Weichai and their respective associates have agreed to provide or
provide the connection of the said utility and energy services to the
Company, Weichai Casting, Weichai Power (Weifang) Reproduction
Company Limited (“Weichai Reproduction”, a subsidiary of the
Company), Huadong Casting, Weichai Logistics, the Chongging Branch
and/or other subsidiaries of the Company on the same terms and for a
period of three years ending 31 December 2019, upon the expiry of
which the parties may extend the term for another three years on a
mutually agreed basis.

Purchase of diesel engine parts and components, gas,
scrap metals, materials, diesel engines and related
products and processing services by the Company and its
subsidiaries from Weichai Holdings and its associates

Pursuant to the purchase and processing services agreement entered
into between the Company, Weichai Holdings and Chongging Weichai
on 27 November 2008 (as amended and supplemented by various
supplemental agreements, collectively referred to as the “Weichai
Purchase and Processing Services Agreement”):

(i) the Company, Weichai Casting, Weichai Reproduction, Huadong
Casting, Weichai Singapore Ptd. Ltd. (“Weichai Singapore”, a
subsidiary of the Company) and other subsidiaries of the Company
have agreed to purchase parts and components of diesel engines,
gas, scrap metals, materials, diesel engines and related products
from Weichai Holdings, Chongging Weichai, Weichai Import and
Export and other associates of Weichai Holdings; and
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(i) Weichai Holdings, Chongging Weichai, Weichai Import and Export
and other associates of Weichai Holdings have agreed to provide
processing services to the Company and its subsidiaries with
respect to the said parts and components of diesel engines, gas,
scrap metals, materials, diesel engines and related products.

The said purchases and processing services are transacted at market
prices and are settled by the parties on a monthly basis.

The approved annual cap for the aforesaid purchases made and services
received from Weichai Holdings and its associates for the year ended 31
December 2016 is RMB720 million. In the year ended 31 December
2016, the total purchases made and processing services received by the
Company and its subsidiaries from Weichai Holdings and its associates
amounted to RMB378,993,625.

Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the Weichai Purchase
and Processing Services Agreement dated 30 August 2016, Weichai
Holdings, Chongqging Weichai and Weichai Import and Export (and other
associates of Weichai Holding) have agreed to provide the said products
and processing services to the Company, Weichai Casting, Weichai
Reproduction, Huadong Casting, Weichai Singapore Ptd. Ltd. (“Weichai
Singapore”, a subsidiary of the Company), Shandong Heavy Industry
India Ptd. Ltd. (“Weichai India”, a subsidiary of the Company), Shandong
Heavy Industry India Ptd. Ltd. (“Weichai India”, a subsidiary of the
Company), Weichai Middle East FZE (“Weichai Middle East”, a subsidiary
of the Company) and/or other subsidiaries of the Company on the same
terms and for a period of three years ending 31 December 2019, upon
the expiry of which the parties may extend the term for another three
years on a mutually agreed basis.
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Sale of diesel engines, diesel engine parts and
components, materials, semi-finished goods and related
products and provision of processing services by the
Company and its subsidiaries to Weichai Holdings and its
associates

Pursuant to the sale and processing services agreement entered into
between the Company and Weichai Power (Weifang) After-sales Service
Co., Ltd. (“Weichai After-sales Services”, a subsidiary of the Company,
formally known as Weichai Power Reserves and Resources Company) as
suppliers and Weichai Holdings and its certain associates as customers
on 27 November 2008 (as amended and supplemented by various
supplemental agreements, collectively referred to as the “Weichai Sale
and Processing Service Agreement”), the Company (and its Chongging
branch office), Weichai After-sales Services, Weichai Casting, Weichai
Reproduction, Weichai Logistics and other subsidiaries of the Company
have agreed to (i) sell certain diesel engines, diesel engine parts and
components, materials, semi-finished products and related products, and
(i) provide certain processing services in relation to the production of
diesel engines to Weichai Holdings, Weichai Import and Export,
Chongging Weichai, Chongging City Jiangjin District Chongwei Casting
Co. Ltd. (which was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Weichai Holdings and
subsequently absorbed and consolidated into Chongging Weichai) and
other associates of Weichai Holdings at market prices. The transactions
are settled by the parties on a monthly basis.

The approved annual cap for the aforesaid sales made and services
provided to Weichai Holdings and its associates for the year ended 31
December 2016 is RMB510 million. In the year ended 31 December
2016, the total sales made and processing services provided by the
Company and its subsidiaries to Weichai Holdings and its associates
amounted to RMB508,930,264.

Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the Weichai Sale and
Processing Service Agreement dated 30 August 2016, the Company,
Weichai Casting, Weichai After-sales Services, Weichai Reproduction,
Weichai Logistics and other subsidiaries of the Company have agreed to
sell the said diesel engines, diesel engine parts and components,
materials, semi-finished products and related products, and provide the
said processing services to Weichai Holdings, Weichai Import and Export,
Chongging Weichai, and other associates of Weichai Holdings at market
prices and for a period of three years ending 31 December 2019, upon
the expiry of which the parties may extend the term for another three
years on a mutually agreed basis.
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Sale of semi-finished diesel engine parts and related
products and logistic service by the Company and its
subsidiaries to Weichai Medium and its associates

Pursuant to the master sales agreement entered into between the
Company and Weichai Medium on 21 October 2003 (as supplemented
by various supplemental agreements), the Company, Weichai After-sales
Services, Weichai Casting, Weichai Reproduction, Huadong Casting,
Weichai Logistics and other subsidiaries of the Company have agreed to
supply semi-finished diesel engine parts and related products and
provide certain logistic service to Weichai Medium and its associates for
its 226B series of diesel engines and related products, at market prices
and settled on a monthly basis.

Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the said master sales
agreement dated 27 August 2015, the Company, Weichai After-sales
Services, Weichai Casting, Weichai Reproduction, Huadong Casting,
Weichai Logistics, Weichai Freshen Air and other subsidiaries of the
Company have agreed to supply the said products and provide the said
services to Weichai Medium and its associates on the same terms and
for a period of a term ended 31 December 2016.

The approved annual cap for the aforesaid sales of semi-finished diesel
engine parts and related products and logistic service to Weichai
Medium and its associates for the year ended 31 December 2016 is
RMB450 million. During the period from 1 January 2016 to 31
December 2016, total sales of RMB183,443,848 of semi-finished diesel
engine parts and related products and logistic service were made and/or
provided by the Company and its subsidiaries to Weichai Medium and its
associates.

Provision of sales and warranty period repair services by
the Company and its subsidiaries to Weichai Medium
and its associates

Pursuant to the sales and warranty agreement entered into between the
Company and Weichai Medium on 21 September 2005 (as
supplemented by various supplemental agreements), the Company and/
or other members of the Group have agreed to provide sales and
warranty period repair and maintenance services to Weichai Medium
and/or its associates, at market prices and settled on a monthly basis, for
a term ended 31 December 2016.

WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. HLahhiRMNBERLAD
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The approved annual cap for the aforesaid sales and warranty period
repair services provided to Weichai Medium and its associates for the
year ended 31 December 2016 is RMB62 million. During the period from
1 January 2016 to 31 December 2016, the sales and warranty period
repair services provided by the Company and other members of the
Group to Weichai Medium and its associates amounted to
RMB41,843,397.

Purchase of diesel engine parts and components and
related products by the Company and its subsidiaries
from Weichai Medium and its associates

Pursuant to the diesel engine parts and components and related
products purchase agreement entered into between Weichai After-sales
Services and Weichai Medium on 27 November 2008 (as supplemented
by various supplemental agreements), Weichai After-sales Services,
Weichai Casting, Weichai Reproduction and/or other members of the
Group have agreed to purchase from Weichai Medium and its associates
certain parts and components for the manufacture of diesel engines and
related products, at market prices and settled on a monthly basis, for a
term ended 31 December 2016.

The approved annual cap for the aforesaid purchases of diesel engine
parts and components and related products from Weichai Medium and/
or its associates for the year ended 31 December 2016 is RMB132
million. During the period from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2016,
the total purchases of diesel engine parts and components and related
products made by the Company and its subsidiaries from Weichai
Medium and its associates amounted to RMB25,300,187.

Purchase of diesel engines and related products by the
Company and its subsidiaries from Weichai Medium
Pursuant to the diesel engines purchase agreement entered into
between the Company and Weichai Medium on 27 November 2008 (as
supplemented by various supplemental agreements), the Company,
Weichai After-sales Services, Weichai Casting, Weichai Reproduction
other subsidiaries of the Company have agreed to purchase certain
diesel engines and related products from Weichai Medium, at market
prices and settled on a quarterly basis for a term ended 31 December
2016.
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The approved annual cap for the aforesaid purchases of diesel engines
and related products from Weichai Medium for the year ended 31
December 2016 is RMB750 million. During the period from 1 January
2016 to 31 December 2016, the total purchases of diesel engines and
related products made by the Company and its subsidiaries from Weichai
Medium amounted to RMB487,865,469.

Sale of diesel engines and related products by the
Company and its subsidiaries to Weichai Heavy
Machinery and its associates

The Company and Weichai Holdings entered into a framework
agreement on 17 November 2003 (as supplemented by various
supplemental agreements). The rights and obligations of Weichai
Holdings in the aforesaid agreement were assumed by Weichai Heavy
Machinery pursuant to the supplemental framework agreement entered
into between the Company and Weichai Heavy Machinery on 29 August
2013.

Pursuant to such framework agreement (as supplemented by various
supplemental agreements), the Company, Weichai Reproduction,
Weichai Power Yangzhou Diesel Engine Co., Ltd. (“Weichai Yangzhou”,
a subsidiary of the Company) and Baudouin (Weifang) Power Co., Ltd.
(“Baudouin China”, a subsidiary of the Company) and/or other
subsidiaries of the Company have agreed to sell to Weichai Heavy
Machinery, Weichai Electrical Equipment and/or other associates of
Weichai Heavy Machinery the certain diesel engines and related
products, at market prices and settled on a monthly basis for a term
ending 31 December 2018, upon the expiry of which the parties may
extend the term for another three years on a mutually agreed basis.

The approved annual cap for the aforesaid sales of diesel engines and
related products to Weichai Heavy Machinery and/or its associates for
the year ended 31 December 2016 is RMB450 million. In the year ended
31 December 2016, the total sales of diesel engines and related
products made by the Company and its subsidiaries to Weichai Heavy
Machinery and/or its associates amounted to RMB211,086,484.

WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. HLahhiRMNBERLAD

nna»

ESEHRS (88

M) A Ge AR AU ERBE ol Se ol i R AB BE E
mREE_E-XRNF+_A=+—H
FETFECRHALEFELRABARYE
750,000,000t c B =ZZE —R~RF—HA—H
E-FE-XE+-_A=+—HI-HB-
KRR REMBR R WML TRRE
kB EEEEMNEBSBEAARE
487,865,469 7T °

RNRBA R EKE R B @R E R
B B (B8 ) 1~ B) 85 & S Jh
REEEm
REARAAEREZEER_-_FTT=F
T-ATLEBRATL-RERBAEKS
EHABBEBIT) MEERNZBE
ZHENMEEBREREERRIERNRQG
HEREREARLRERNR T —=F)N
H =+ LB RT3 6 8 78 1E 28 fhp ik R B -

EFLEE B (e % Eﬁﬁ%%ﬁ
o) ARA - HEBRE BEHNG
m E%ﬁmaﬁ TU& 27 L NN
NEIZHEB AR EHTEMEB HE
RAB(EHZFRE] ARG ZHER
ﬂ&ﬁ“ﬂZE@W%“ﬂﬁﬁm%
LeE LT NRERELEERHE
mwgﬁh)ﬂiﬁﬁ%$ oM & M
BED BSHFTEMERAGLEE HEe
FHEBEEZE-_ZT- /N\F+=-A=+—8
Lt RERESHFHATEESEwH
BEI=F o

[A) 4 i%%ﬁik <M X MR B E
wREE_ZEZT—XR"F+_A=+—H
FTFEZ2&MEFELRAARYE
450,000,000 - REBE T —NF+ =
A=+—R1EFE ARakEMRBA
AIMALERBEEZTEBKE KRB
ERMNBLERARE211,0864847T °



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Purchase of diesel engine parts and components,
materials, steel and scrap metal, diesel engines and
related products and the processing and labour services
by the Company and its subsidiaries from Weichai Heavy
Machinery and its associates

Pursuant to the purchase and processing services agreement entered
into between the Company and Weichai After-sales Services and
Weichai Heavy Machinery on 27 November 2008 (as supplemented by
various supplemental agreements), the Company (and its Chongging
branch office), Weichai After-sales Services, Weichai Casting, Weichai
Reproduction, Huadong Casting, Weichai Logistics, Baudouin China and/
or other members of the Group have agreed to purchase from Weichai
Heavy Machinery, Weichai Electrical Equipment and/or other associates
of Weichai Heavy Machinery certain diesel engine parts and
components, steel and scrap metal, materials, diesel engines and related
products and processing and labour services, at market prices and settled
on a monthly basis.

The approved annual cap for the aforesaid purchases made and
processing services received from Weichai Heavy Machinery and/or its
associates for the year ended 31 December 2016 is RMB1.14 billion. In
the year ended 31 December 2016, the total purchases made and
processing services received by the Company and other members of the
Group from Weichai Heavy Machinery and its associates amounted to
RMB307,056,036.

Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the said framework
agreement dated 30 August 2016, the Company, Weichai After-sales
Services, Weichai Casting, Weichai Reproduction, Huadong Casting,
Weichai Logistics, Weichai Singapore, Baudouin China and/or other
members of the Group have agreed to purchase from Weichai Heavy
Machinery, Weichai Electrical Equipment and/or other associates of
Weichai Heavy Machinery the said diesel engine parts and components,
steel and scrap metal, materials, diesel engines and related products and
processing and labour services on the same terms and for a period of
three years ending 31 December 2019, upon the expiry of which the
parties may extend the term for another three years on a mutually
agreed basis.
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Supply of semi-finished diesel engine parts, diesel
engine parts and components, reserve parts and related
products and provision of labour services by the
Company and its subsidiaries to Weichai Heavy
Machinery and its associates

The Company and Weichai Holdings entered into a semi-finished diesel
engine parts supply agreement on 17 November 2003 (as amended and
supplemented by various supplemental agreements). The rights and
obligations of Weichai Holdings in the aforesaid agreement were
assumed by Weichai Heavy Machinery pursuant to the supplemental
agreement entered into between the Company, Weichai Holdings and
Weichai Heavy Machinery on 9 November 2009.

Pursuant to such framework agreement (as supplemented by various
supplemental agreements), the Company, Weichai Reproduction,
Weichai After-sales Services, Weichai Casting, Huadong Casting, Weichai
Logistics and/or other subsidiaries of the Company have agreed to sell
certain semi-finished diesel engine parts, diesel engine parts and
components, reserve parts and related products and to provide the said
labour services to Weichai Heavy Machinery, Weichai Electrical
Equipment and/or its associates at market prices and settled on a
monthly basis for a period of three years ending 31 December 2018,
upon the expiry of which the parties may renew the term for another
three years on a mutually agreed basis.

The approved annual cap for the aforesaid supply of semi-finished diesel
engine parts to Weichai Heavy Machinery and/or its associates for the
year ended 31 December 2016 is RMB300 million. In the year ended 31
December 2016, the total supply of semi-finished diesel engine parts,
diesel engine parts and components, reserve parts and related products
and provision of labour services by the Company and other members of
the Group to Weichai Heavy Machinery and its associates amounted to
RMB57,228,667.
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Sale of parts and components of transmissions and
related products by SFGC to Fast Transmission

Pursuant to the parts and components sale agreement entered into
between SFGC and Fast Transmission on 1 August 2007 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements), SFGC has
agreed to sell to Fast Transmission certain parts and components of
transmissions, namely, gearboxes, and related products at market prices
and settled every two to three months, for a term of three years ending
31 December 2018, upon the expiry of which the parties shall have an
option to extend the term for another three years on a mutually agreed
basis.

The approved annual cap for the aforesaid sales of parts and
components of transmissions to Fast Transmission for the year ended 31
December 2016 is RMB3.6 billion. In the year ended 31 December 2016,
the total sales of parts and components of transmissions made by SFGC
to Fast Transmission amounted to RMB1,442,541,862.

Purchase of parts and components of transmissions and
related products by SFGC from Fast Transmission

Pursuant to the parts and components purchase agreement entered into
between SFGC and Fast Transmission on 1 August 2007 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements), SFGC has
agreed to purchase from Fast Transmission certain parts and
components of transmissions and gears, namely, power take off
assemblies and castings, and related products at market prices and
settled every two to three months, for a term of three years ending 31
December 2018, upon the expiry of which the parties shall have an
option to extend the term for another three years on a mutually agreed
basis.

The approved annual cap for the aforesaid purchase of parts and
components of transmissions from Fast Transmission for the year ended
31 December 2016 is RMB4.5 billion. In the year ended 31 December
2016, the total purchases of parts and components of transmissions and
related products made by SFGC from Fast Transmission amounted to
RMB2,564,824,108.
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Sale of vehicles, parts and components of vehicles, raw
materials and related products and provision of the
relevant services by Shaanxi Zhongqi and its subsidiaries
and Weichai Freshen Air to Shaanxi Automotive and its
associates

Pursuant to the vehicles, parts and components and raw materials sale
and heat processing services agreement entered into between Shaanxi
Zhonggi and certain other subsidiaries of the Company as suppliers (the
“Shaanxi Suppliers”) and Shaanxi Automotive and its associates as
customers (the “Shaanxi Customers”) on 1 August 2007 (as
supplemented by various supplemental agreements), the Shaanxi
Suppliers and Weichai Freshen Air have agreed to sell certain vehicles,
parts and components of vehicles, raw materials and related products,
and provide the relevant services to the Shaanxi Customers, at market
prices and settled by the parties generally every one to three months.

The approved annual cap for the aforesaid sales of vehicles, parts and
components of vehicles, raw materials and related products and
provision of the relevant services to Shaanxi Automotive and its
associates for the year ended 31 December 2016 is RMB8.1 billion. In
the year ended 31 December 2016, the total sales of vehicles, parts and
components of vehicles, raw materials and related products and
provision of the relevant services by Shaanxi Zhonggi and its subsidiaries
and Weichai Freshen Air to Shaanxi Automotive and its associates
amounted to RMB1,120,254,163.

Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the said framework
agreement dated 30 August 2016, the Shaanxi Suppliers and Weichai
Freshen Air have agreed to sell certain vehicles, parts and components of
vehicles, raw materials and related products, and provide the relevant
services to the Shaanxi Customers, at market prices and settled by the
parties generally every one to three months, for a term ending 31
December 2019, upon the expiry of which the parties shall have an
option to renew the agreement for a term of three years on a mutually
agreed basis.

WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. HLahhiRMNBERLAD

14.

RAESREWNE QR RMHERE
R A BT E B K HE M (R )
REEERE - REETHH R
MEREBEERMEHEEERSE

REREEARARASE T HAMHE
REERHERIREAHER]) HEK
AEBEREBBATEREF(RER
EPDR-_ZZTLFENA-HITLZA
B -THRHELRRMAEERBMITRSE
HR(EZEBABRBRT)  REAH
ERkAERERFLEREETERRE
ABEPHEETAERAEZAMA R
MEEREBER ARREHBBRY
HEFB-—Z=Z@EAZEE—R-

mREAREPHEE L)RE REE
B R MR MBS E o A IR AR
EBEREZE-_E—~"F+A=+—
BEFEZRHEFELERABARKE
8,100,000,0007C - R E £ = T — X F
+ZA=+—B8LFE BRAZEAKE
WEAE RMEEER FLARAEE
REWB(EE) AaHEELE  RES
B4 - R R AR B E G A0 IR AR B R
BRI RS R B ARY1,120,254,163 7T °

BIEFRIERBHEBHA-_ZT— X F
NAZ+tENETHRHE RESRH
EFE#EETERFLARZIETEMRRK
EAEPHEE LRE - HEZ M
EME REEERMIEEMRABERE &
—EZ-EAARKE— R -HEFEHE-ZT
—NF+ZA=+—HL - REREYE
FRAEHErREEE RS A
=fFo



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Purchase of parts and components of vehicles, scrap steel
and related products and labour services by Shaanx
Zhongqi and its subsidiaries from Shaanxi Automotive
and its associates

Pursuant to the parts and components and scrap steel purchase
agreement entered into between Shaanxi Zhonggi and certain other
subsidiaries of the Company as buyers (the “Shaanxi Buyers”) and
certain associates of Shaanxi Automotive as sellers (the “Shaanxi
Sellers”) on 1 August 2007 (as supplemented by various supplemental
agreements), the Shaanxi Buyers have agreed to purchase certain parts
and components of vehicles, scrap steel, related products and labour
services from the Shaanxi Sellers, at market prices and settled by the
parties every one to three months.

The approved annual cap for the aforesaid purchases of parts and
components of vehicles, scrap steel, related products and labour services
from Shaanxi Automotive and its associates for the year ended 31
December 2016 is RMB8.6 billion. In the year ended 31 December 2016,
the total purchases of parts and components of vehicles, scrap steel and
related products and labour services made by Shaanxi Zhonggi and its
subsidiaries from Shaanxi Automotive and its associates amounted to
RMB4,153,932,561.

Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the said framework
agreement dated 30 August 2016, the Shaanxi Buyers and Weichai
Freshen Air have agreed to purchase certain parts and components of
vehicles, scrap steel, related products and labour services from the
Shaanxi Sellers, at market prices and settled by the parties every one to
three months, for a term ending 31 December 2019, upon the expiry of
which the parties shall have an option to renew the agreement for a
term of three years on a mutually agreed basis.
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Sale of engines, new energy powertrain and related
products by the Company to Yangzhou Yaxing and its
subsidiaries

The diesel engines supply framework agreement entered into between
the Company and Yangzhou Yaxing on 26 October 2012 (as
supplemented by various supplemental agreements) sets out the general
terms and conditions for the sale of diesel engines and related products
by the Company and Weichai Yangzhou to Yangzhou Yaxing and its
subsidiaries. The said diesel engines and related products shall be sold by
the Company and Weichai Yangzhou to Yangzhou Yaxing and its
subsidiaries from time to time with reference to market prices and
settled on a monthly basis. The transactions shall be subject to normal
commercial terms and terms no less favourable to the Company than
those available to the Company from independent third parties.

Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the said framework
agreement dated 29 September 2016, the Company and its subsidiaries
have agreed to sell certain engines, new energy powertrains and related
products to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries on the same terms and
for a period of two years ending 31 December 2017, upon the expiry of
which the parties may renew the term for another three years on a
mutually agreed basis.

The annual cap for the aforesaid sales of engines, new energy
powertrain and related products by the Company and its subsidiaries to
Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries for the year ended 2016 is
RMB946 million. In the year ended 31 December 2016, the total sales of
engines, new energy powertrain and related products made by the
Company and its subsidiaries to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries
amounted to RMB849,989,683.

Sale of transmissions by SFGC to Yangzhou Yaxing and
its subsidiaries

The transmissions supply framework agreement entered into between
SFGC and Yangzhou Yaxing on 26 October 2012 (as supplemented by
various supplemental agreements) sets out the general terms and
conditions for the sale of transmissions by SFGC to Yangzhou Yaxing
and its subsidiaries. The said transmissions shall be sold by SFGC to
Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries from time to time with reference
to market prices and settled on a monthly basis. The transactions shall
be subject to normal commercial terms and terms no less favourable to
SFGC than those available to SFGC from independent third parties.

WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. HLahhiRMNBERLAD

16.

17.

ARAFRERBMNEDHBMNDE 2R
HMBAREERDH  HER
BHRRREBEER

RZZT—ZF+A=Z+ B A2A K
HEBGMEZMNGEEREWNEB QARG
SSm AR R (IR 2 R A R 1
EER) MAHE A QBN MRS M
[ M a5 2 & H KB D B 8 S 5 m#
RBBE M — BRAIRK RAFMH - Lt 5
AR EEERSARRR MK
MeEmERBMNEERENE QA
HE IREAREZEZERHER
—REERRRTBERARTAEE L
BT RBEZIRFTET

BE-_Z-—RFAA-TALRTINE
BERBZEZEFEEHBE AR
EHMBARRERABMEERENE
REBEEETHDE FERDHEX
MEBER HWEFUHARE_T—L
FT_A=+—HL REMF-RE
mERELNREEERE RE=F-

HEZZ-—R"FLEFE LA RER
HWBArmmBMNEE REKBARQR
HEBRBHK MR NANLBEBEE
m 2 FE LR A AR ® 946,000,000 7T °
HE-_ZTZ—XHF+=ZA=+—8HL*#F
E ARRREMBRARABMNEE R
HINB AR EEEDH RN
BEAMEHEEMNNBEEAARYE
849,989,683 JT °

RAEELELHEBRLOSEMNEERA
MEAREESRES

RZTE—ZF+AZ+H BREEL
FEmEBMEERENB ARG
BREHBERDE(ESRBRGR
WmE) BEHRERAEZLEEG WS
MEEREMNBAREEZEERRZ —R
Rk Rt i o Dl B RAGHS R PAE L
FEm T E2EmERBGMEE AN
BRALE YRBAZELEE -ZF
R5AE —RBERGER R BERRAE
TREHEBLE = TRMHZIGRET -



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

18.

Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the said transmissions
supply framework agreement dated 30 March 2015, SFGC has agreed
to sell the said transmissions to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries on
the same terms and for a period of three years ending 31 December
2017, upon the expiry of which the parties shall have an option to
extend the term for another three years on a mutually agreed basis.

The annual cap for the aforesaid sale of transmissions by SFGC to
Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December
2016 is RMB24 million. In the year ended 31 December 2016, the actual
transaction amount of such sales was RMB3,521,106.

Sale of axles by Shaanxi Hande Axle Co., Ltd. (“Hande
Axle”, a subsidiary of Shaanxi Zhongqi) to Yangzhou
Yaxing and its subsidiaries

The axles supply framework agreement entered into between Hande
Axle and Yangzhou Yaxing on 26 October 2012 (as supplemented by
various supplementary agreements) sets out the general terms and
conditions for the sales of axles by Hande Axle to Yangzhou Yaxing and
its subsidiaries. The said axles shall be sold by Hande Axle to Yangzhou
Yaxing and its subsidiaries from time to time with reference to market
prices and with a payment term of two months. The transactions shall
be subject to normal commercial terms and terms no less favourable to
Hande Axle than those available to Hande Axle from independent third
parties.

Pursuant to the latest supplemental agreement to the said axles supply
framework agreement dated 30 March 2015, Hande Axle has agreed to
sell the said axles to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries on the same
terms and for a period of three years ending 31 December 2017, upon
the expiry of which the parties shall have an option to extend the term
for another three years on a mutually agreed basis.

The annual cap for the aforesaid sale of axles by Hande Axle to
Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December
2016 is RMB110 million. In the year ended 31 December 2016, the sales
of axles made by Hande Axle to Yangzhou Yaxing and its subsidiaries
was zero.
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Provision of financial services to the Company and its
subsidiaries by Shandong Finance

Pursuant to the financial services agreement entered into between the
Company and Shandong Finance on 21 March 2013 (and the new
financial services agreement dated 30 March 2016), Shandong Finance
has agreed to provide, inter alia, certain deposit services to the Company
and its subsidiaries for a period ending 29 June 2019, upon the expiry of
which the parties may extend the term for another three years on a
mutually agreed basis.

Shandong Finance shall provide certain deposit services to the Group,
the principal terms of which are as follows:

(@  the interest rate for the deposit of the Group’s funds with
Shandong Finance shall, subject to the compliance of the relevant
requirements of the People’s Bank of China, be no less than the
highest interest rate for the same type of deposit offered by the
major commercial banks for the same period; and

(b)  the maximum daily balance (including interests) of the Group's
deposit with Shandong Finance shall not exceed RMB9 billion from
30 June 2013 to 29 June 2014, RMB10.8 billion from 30 June
2014 to 29 June 2015, RMB13 billion from 30 June 2015 to 29
June 2016, RMB17 billion from 30 June 2016 to 29 June 2017,
RMB19 billion from 30 June 2017 to 29 June 2018, and RMB20
billion from 30 June 2018 to 29 June 2019.
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During the period from 1 January 2016 to 29 June 2016, the maximum
daily balance (including interests) of the Group’s deposit in Shandong
Finance amounted to RMB12,999,111,152, whereas during the period
from 30 June 2016 to 31 December 2016, the maximum daily balance
(including interests) of the Group’s deposit in Shandong Finance
amounted to RMB12,424,752,653.

Supply of base engines, gas engine parts, utility and
labour services, technology development services and
related products and services by the Company and its
subsidiaries and associates to Weichai Westport

Pursuant to the framework supply agreement entered into between the
Company, Weichai Reproduction, Weichai After-sales Services and
Weichai Westport on 25 December 2012 (as amended and
supplemented by a supplemental agreement dated 8 December 2014,
collectively referred to as the “Weichai Westport Supply Agreement”),
each of the Company, Weichai After-sales Services, Weichai
Reproduction, Weichai Freshen Air and other associates of the Company
has agreed to supply certain base engines, gas engine parts, utility and
labour services, technology development services and related products
and services to Weichai Westport, at market prices and/or prices agreed
according to the principle of fairness and reasonableness and settled on
a monthly basis for a term from 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2017,
upon the expiry of which the parties may extend the term for three years
on a mutually agreed basis.

The annual cap for the aforesaid supply of certain base engines, gas
engine parts, utility and labour services, technology development services
and related products for the year ended 31 December 2016 is RMB3.5
billion. In the year ended 31 December 2016, the total supply of the said
products and services by the Company (and its subsidiaries) to Weichai
Westport amounted to RMB488,439,091.
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Purchase of gas engines, gas engine parts, labour
services and related products and services by the
Company and its subsidiaries and associates from
Weichai Westport

Pursuant to the framework purchase agreement entered into between
the Company, Weichai Reproduction and Weichai After-sales Services
and Weichai Westport on 25 December 2012 (as amended and
supplemented by a supplemental agreement dated 8 December 2014,
collectively referred to as the “Weichai Westport Purchase Agreement”),
each of the Company, Weichai After-sales Services, Weichai
Reproduction and other associates of the Company has agreed to
purchase certain gas engines, gas engine parts, labour services and
related products and services from Weichai Westport, at market prices
and/or prices agreed according to the principle of fairness and
reasonableness and settled on a monthly basis for a term from 1 January
2015 to 31 December 2017, upon the expiry of which the parties may
extend the term for three years on a mutually agreed basis.

The annual cap for the aforesaid purchase of gas engines, gas engine
parts, labour services and related products for the year ended 31
December 2016 is RMB5.6 billion. In the year ended 31 December 2016,
the total purchase of the said products and services by the Company
(and its subsidiaries) from Weichai Westport amounted to
RMB959,290,002.

Provision of logistics and storage services by Weichai
Logistics (and/or its associates) to Weichai Westport
Pursuant to the framework logistics agreement (as amended and
supplemented by a supplemental agreement dated 8 December 2014,
collectively referred to as the “Weichai Westport Logistics Agreement”)
entered into between Weichai Logistics and Weichai Westport, Weichai
Logistics (and/or its associates) has agreed to provide certain logistics and
storage services to Weichai Westport for the transportation of certain
products and after-sale components, at market price of comparable
services and settled on a monthly basis, for a term from 1 January 2015
to 31 December 2017, upon the expiry of which the parties may extend
the term for three years on a mutually agreed basis.

The annual cap for the aforesaid provision of logistics and storage
services for the year ended 31 December 2016 is RMB21.6 million. In
the year ended 31 December 2016, the provision of the said services by
Weichai Logistics (and/or its associates) to Weichai Westport amounted
to RMB2,268,985.
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23.

The annual cap for the above provision of services for the term from 1
January 2015 to 31 December 2017 did not exceed the 0.1% threshold
referred to in Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules, and, accordingly, are
not subject to the reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The relevant terms and annual caps of the Weichai Westport Logistics
Agreement are disclosed herein for the Shareholders’ information.

Leasing of factory buildings by the Company to Weichai
Westport

Pursuant to the leasing agreement (as amended and supplemented by a
supplemental agreement dated 8 December 2014, collectively referred
to as the “Weichai Westport Leasing Agreement”) entered into between
the Company and Weichai Westport, the Company has agreed to lease
certain factory buildings to Weichai Westport for a term from 1 January
2015 to 31 December 2017. Upon expiry of the Weichai Westport
Leasing Agreement, the parties may renew the term for another three
years on a mutually agreed basis.

The annual cap for the aforesaid lease of certain factory buildings for the
year ended 31 December 2016 is RMB15 million. In the year ended 31
December 2016, the total rental income received by the Company from
Weichai Westport amounted to RMB7,788,751.

The annual cap for the aforesaid lease of certain factory buildings for the
term from 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2017 did not exceed the
0.1% threshold referred to in Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules, and,
accordingly, is not subject to the reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements of Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The relevant terms and annual caps of the Weichai
Westport Leasing Agreement are disclosed herein for the Shareholders’
information.

23.

H-_FE—FHF—A—HRERE-_ZT—+F
+Z A=+ EHE—"FRHEL-ARKRE
M5 EREREBB_ETHRA14A.76(1)
R FE A AT ER0.1% A& 1 48 FE
ZRXHTEZEMHRAEE14AF I
T RERBUYUBRRRAENEZ KR
R EEOSR LT AERHENIES
Rk EREABRRRHMEEEMA -

N F] 6] A B HT BE R AE R B

BBEARREAEEHERITILNEE
wEEHREE T —NOF+=ANH
RN R B RIER] kAT Aol RIS
mBEHERZR]D) AARRERAS
MeeREEETHRE  HEBBRE =S
—hAF-—A—HEEZZT—tF+=
A=+—RE-REREETAERSE
Bz REA=F-

HE-_Z— X "F+-_A=+—H1It#F
EzFE ERA AR 15000,0007T °
HE-_ZTZ—X"XF+_A=+—8IL*F
E - ARRRABFERERNESR
S E A ARYT7,788,751 T °
W—_E—FRHF—A—HEZ_Z—+tF
+ZA=+—"HES—"FLEBAERE
MRS EREARBIBETHRBI14A.76(1)
FHET R TENO% - [ It 48 FE i -
ZRXHPTEX EMEREE14AF EH
B AERBURRAEMNERHR -
P REMNSEEAERERZNEH
Rk EREARRREEEMA -

ANNUAL REPORT 2016 3R 69



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have reviewed the
continuing connected transactions set out above and have confirmed that
these continuing connected transactions were entered into (i) in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or
on terms no less favourable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The auditors have issued an unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the above continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

In the letter the auditors have confirmed and stated that:

a. nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
disclosed continuing connected transactions have not been approved by
the Company'’s board of directors.

b.  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the
Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance
with the pricing policies of the Group.

C. nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing such transactions.

d. with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing
connected transactions set out above, nothing has come to their
attention that causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions have exceeded the annual cap as approved by
the Company.

A copy of the auditors’ letter has been provided by the Company to The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group entered into the
following connected transaction which was not exempt from the annual
review and disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Details of such connected transaction have been disclosed in compliance with
the requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Acquisition of the entire equity interest in Weichai Medium
On 26 September 2016, the Company entered into an equity transfer
agreement with Weichai Holdings, pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to acquire, and Weichai Holdings has conditionally agreed
to sell, the entire equity interest in Weichai Medium for a consideration of
RMB252,860,238.60. The purpose of the acquisition was to strengthen the
Group’s results and consolidate its portfolio with regard to the development,
manufacture and sale of diesel engines. Further, the operations of Weichai
Medium which principally focus on medium-duty diesel engines and parts
could complement the product mix of the Group, which is expected to
improve the Group’s market share and therefore enhance the Group’s
competitiveness and operational results as a whole. The said acquisition was
completed on 1 November 2016 and since then Weichai Medium has become
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and its financial results has been
consolidated into the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Apart from the continuing connected transactions and connected transaction
disclosed above, all of the related party transactions as set out in Note X to the
financial statements of the Group do not constitute continuing connected
transactions or connected transactions of the Company which are required to
comply with the relevant annual review, disclosure or shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT PoLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”)
on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangements that enabled the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES
OF THE COMPANY

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association or the laws of the PRC, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

INCOME TAX FOR H SHAREHOLDERS

According to the regulations in the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s
Republic of China, Implementation Regulations on Enterprise Income Tax Law
of People’s Republic of China which came into effect in 2008 and the Notice
of the State Administration of Taxation on Issues Relating to the Withholding
and Remittance of Enterprise Income Tax on Dividends Paid by Chinese
Resident Enterprises to Overseas Non-resident Enterprises which hold H Shares
(Guo Shui Han [2008] No. 897) (KB Bl /E R (P E MIRIMHIRIEE R B
ERFIRE R SRR EMGH A B R R @ &) X H[2008]897
%)) issued by China’s State Administration of Taxation on 6 November 2008
(collectively, the “Tax Law"”), any domestic enterprise of the PRC which pays
dividends to non-resident enterprise shareholders (as defined in the Tax Law)
for the year of 2008 and thereafter shall withhold and remit enterprise income
tax with the payer as withholding agent. After receiving dividends, non-
resident enterprise shareholders may, where applicable, apply for tax refund
pursuant to relevant requirements under tax treaty (arrangement).

In accordance with the Tax Law, the Company is obliged to withhold and remit
enterprise income tax at the rate of 10% on behalf of the non-resident
enterprise holders of H Shares whose names appear on the register of
members for H Shares of the Company on the Record Date when distributing
dividends to them. For holders of H Shares who are registered in the name of
non-natural person registered shareholders (including HKSCC (Nominees)
Limited, other corporate nominees, trustees, or other organisations or groups
which are all treated as “non-resident enterprise” shareholders) on the register
of members for H Shares of the Company on the record date, the Company
will distribute the cash dividends, after withholding for payment of 10%
enterprise income tax.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the Notice on the Tax Policies Concerning the Pilot Program of the
Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect (BN EBREMIERZ H E 5 @
HH A AW R A BA), for mainland corporate investors that
invest in a company via the Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect, corporate
income tax will be levied according to the law. In particular, for any dividend
to be distributed to resident enterprises in the mainland China which hold H
shares for more than 12 consecutive months, corporate income tax may be
exempted according to the law. Such mainland enterprises shall declare and
pay taxes by themselves in respect of such dividends, which will not be
withheld by such H share company.

According to the Notice of the Ministry of Finance and the State
Administration of Taxation on Certain Policies Regarding Individual Income Tax
(Caishui [1994] No. 20) KEF B #B - I K M5 R AN E APRE WA T I
KEEHBMN) (B F (199415 20%)), foreign individual resident
shareholders are exempt from personal income tax in respect of the dividends
or bonus received from domestic foreign invested enterprises for now. As the
Company is a foreign invested enterprise, for all natural person shareholders
whose names are registered on the register of members for H Shares of the
Company on the Record Date, the Company does not need to withhold
personal income tax. The Company shall obtain latest updates by consulting
relevant tax authorities in the PRC in due course.

In respect of dividends for the H shares of a company invested in by mainland
individual investors on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange through the Shenzhen-
Hong Kong Stock Connect, the H share company shall apply to China
Securities Depository and Clearing Co., Ltd., which will then provide the H
share company with the register of mainland individual investors. The H share
company shall withhold an individual income tax at the rate of 20% on such
dividends.

For dividends received by investors (including enterprise and individual
investors) in the Hong Kong market from investing in A shares listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, and before Hong Kong Securities Clearing
Company Limited is able to furnish China Securities Depository and Clearing
Co., Ltd. with the identity, holding period and other detailed data of the
investors in the Hong Kong market , the differentiated tax treatment based on
the holding period of shares will not be implemented temporarily. Listed
companies shall withhold income tax at the rate of 10% and make
withholding filings with the relevant tax authorities. For those investors who
are tax residents of other countries and the tax rate applicable to dividends is
lower than 10% under the tax treaty between China and the relevant
countries, such investors may, by themselves or request the withholding agent
to act on their behalf to, apply to the relevant tax authorities in respect of the
listed company for the preferential relevant treatment under the relevant
treaties. Once verified by the relevant tax authorities, the amount being the
difference between the tax withheld and the tax calculated at the rate as
prescribed under the corresponding tax treaty shall be refunded.
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If anyone would like to change the identity of the holders in the register of
members, please enquire about the relevant procedures with the nominees or
trustees. The Company will withhold for payment of the enterprise income tax
for its non-resident enterprise shareholders strictly in accordance with the
relevant laws and requirements of the relevant government departments and
adhere strictly to the information set out in the Company’s register of
members on the record date.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales during the Year attributable to the Group's five largest
customers were less than 30% of the Group's total sales.

The aggregate purchase during the Year attributable to the Group’s five
largest suppliers were less than 30% of the Group's total purchases.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the Year did a director, a
supervisor, an associate of a director or a shareholder of the Company, which
to the knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital, have an interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers or
customers.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

1. On 29 March 2017, the Company’s 2016 profit distribution proposal
was approved by the Company’s 5th Meeting of the Fourth Session of
the Board. The Company proposed a distribution to all shareholders of a
cash dividend of RMB2.50 (including tax) and an issuance of 10 bonus
shares (including tax) for every 10 shares held, based on the total share
capital of 3,998,619,278 shares, without any capitalisation of reserve.
Completion of the proposal is subject to the consideration and approval
by the 2016 Annual General Meeting, the first Class Meeting of the A
Shareholders in 2017 and the first Class Meeting of the H Shareholders
in 2017. Upon completion of implementation of the aforesaid bonus
issue, corresponding amendments shall be made to the articles of
association of the Company, to reflect the change in registered capital
and issued share capital as a result of the bonus issue.

2. In January 2017, the comprehensive facility agreement of KION Group
AG, a subsidiary of the Company, was extended for one year. As such,
the revolving credit facility in the amount of EUR1,150 million under the
agreement will be valid until February 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

On 4 July 2016, in connection with the acquisition of Dematic, KION
Group AG entered into financing agreements with various banks. Under
the agreements, there were three tranches of bridge loans with different
amounts and maturities, comprising the first tranche in the amount of
EUR343.2 million which will mature in February 2018, the second
tranche in the amount of EUR1,200 million which will mature in
November 2018, and the third tranche in the amount of EUR1,000
million which will mature in November 2021. In February 2017, KION
Group AG conducted a refinancing in the form of coupons in the
amount of EUR958 million for the full repayment of the aforesaid first
tranche of loan and partial repayment of the second tranche of loan,
settling EUR343.2 million and EUR611.8 million respectively. The
coupons issued will be repaid on a one-off basis on the maturity dates,
namely May 2022, April 2024 and April 2027 respectively. Upon
maturity, coupon interest will be paid at fixed or floating rates. Such
coupons are unsecured.

3. On 20 March 2017 (United States time), the Company approved the
entering by Weichai America Corp, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, into an equity purchase agreement with Power Solutions
International Inc. for the purchase of 2,728,752 ordinary shares and
2,385,624 preferred shares (convertible into 4,771,248 ordinary shares
in the future) of the company, with an expected investment amount of
USD60 million. Upon full conversion of the aforesaid preferred shares
into ordinary shares, the Company will, through Weichai America Corp,
hold shares representing 40.71% of the total issued share capital of
Power Solutions International Inc.. Completion is expected to take place
in March 2017.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND ITS IMPLEMENTATION

The Group keeps itself updated with and ensures the strict compliance with all
such relevant environmental laws and regulations as applicable in the
respective jurisdictions. Meanwhile, all-rounded and comprehensive internal
management system and rules are in place to ensure the effective
implementation of relevant policies and regulations.

During the year, the Group passed the ISO14001 environmental management
system certification. During the course of production, hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are also disposed of in a safe and efficient manner, without
polluting the environment. Pollutants so produced are in compliance with
national or local emission standards. The Group has never been included in any
list of highly-polluting enterprises by environmental authorities, nor has it been
penalized by any environmental authorities.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group keeps itself updated with and ensures the strict compliance with all

such relevant laws and regulations as applicable in the respective jurisdictions.

During the year, the Group has complied with all applicable relevant laws and

regulations in the respective jurisdictions in all material respects.

MAJOR RELATIONSHIPS INVOLVING THE GROUP

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

76

Employees

In compliance with relevant laws and regulations in the respective
jurisdictions, and in strict adherence to the strategy of “People Come
First”, a safe and good working environment and experience as well a
sound system of remuneration and benefits is provided to employees to
attract, retain and motivate the employees. The management team and
staff team of the Group have been stable. During the year, the Group
considered that the relationship with its employees and the turnover rate
were acceptable.

Suppliers

With mergers and reorganisation on a global basis and overseas market
expansion, the Group owns production factories in many nations and
regions and its suppliers are all over the world. Currently, the Group is in
the course of forming its global supply chain system. All major suppliers
have close and long-term relationship with the Group. During the year,
the Group considered that the relationship with suppliers was sound and
stable.

Customers

With the “Objective of customer satisfaction”, the Group steadfastly
believes that “Quality is the most significant duty owed to customers”
and sees quality as a “life-changing” factor for an enterprise. Directed
by the strategic notion of “Directed by policy, sharing of channels and
achieving win-win development”, the Group focuses on enhancing
customer satisfaction and strenuously builds up the Weichai service
brand. During the year, the Group achieved 100% passing rate in all
provincial sample testing and entrusted examination. No significant
incidents of quality safety have occurred. The Group considered that the
relationship with assembling factories and users were sound and stable.

Society

With the notion of “Developing economy and service the community”,
the Group goes beyond its own growth to actively perform its social
responsibilities to contribute to society, spread its positive energy as a
corporation and strives to achieve win-win development vis-a-vis society,
gaining recognition from different sectors of society.

WEICHAI PowWER Co., LTD. H4EHBRMNBERLAD

BTERBKRZER

AN S5 [ R B T RN 2 (8 B K B E A 0 A
EEER TRRCEBREEN - RAFE
R AREBERBEASEHCETHEAS
11 B 5% 3 PR 0 4R R DR RO 4R -

SRAKBNERME

(1

(2)

3)

4)

==

RAIBRETERABEERER BE
TENERIATE -8B REBR
HELE2REFNTHERREMER TEN
HEIMENER LRS- RENHE
BEI-—HUKR RAIEREBLES
BRBRARE RAFEAR AKER
REEENBEERSLEREAATERRT -

HER
AEBBBEHBEANNRIAEEARE
ST RE EZEBERMERES £
ETR HEBEME2KZMH - BHIA
SErEREZE2RCHEREBR B
TEHEREAKRERRE RYBEE-
REAFER AEEALSEHEEEHNE
RRIFAEBE -

=

AEERF[ZERPRERRMANTE]
MEARIEERYEPHEANAEME]
REERFEFLENEDLE ANIBEE
S REAF ARERIBBERER
Bl URAZTFPFREERERE 27
TERERBERE - RAFER - BR
EmEfmBNEZERR 68EHR
100% BEEAEELEERHELE K E
ERAEITRBEIMAPHEARRIA
TRIE °

o=

AEBERRBHHERLE RELE]
MES EERESRENRE K
OEte BERETHEEE BEDL
XERE BARBRLREHEHRR
BR BYTHEZRONEE -



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

AuDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) comprises all
independent non-executive directors of the Company. The chairman of the
Audit Committee is Mr. Wang Gongyong, an independent non-executive
director. Mr. Wang has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules, for the purpose of this appointment. Throughout the year, the
Audit Committee discharged its responsibilities, reviewed and discussed the
financial results and internal control matters of the Company. In accordance
with the requirements of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules, the Audit
Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements for the
Year.

CoMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
IN APPENDIX 14 TO THE LISTING RULES

During the Year, other than the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer being performed by Mr. Tan Xuguang (“Mr. Tan") and directors not
being able to attend all annual general meeting and extraordinary general
meetings due to other important work-related affairs, the Company has
complied with all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

Mr. Tan is in charge of the overall management of the Company. The
Company considers that the combination of the roles of the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer can promote the efficient formulation and
implementation of the Company'’s strategies which will enable the Group to
grasp business opportunities efficiently and promptly. The Company considers
that through the supervision of its board and its independent non-executive
directors, there is adequate balance of power and authority in place.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MoDeEL CODE

During the Year, the Company adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less than the required standard set out in
the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry of all directors, the directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code during the Year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors of the Company, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules as at the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITORS

The Company appointed Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP (% 7k 3£ BA & 51 A 5
BT (R 3@ A {K)) as the Company’s only auditors with effect from 18
May 2011 for its accounts prepared under PRC accounting principles and
2K A& EHAD = R A
(BB E @A 1K) will retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company for the year of 2017 will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

financial regulations. Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP (

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The audited consolidated financial statements for the year were approved by
the Board on 29 March 2017.

PUBLICATION OF THE ANNUAL REPORT ON THE
WEBSITES OF THE HONG KONG STOCK EXCHANGE
AND THE COMPANY

The 2016 annual report will be despatched to the shareholders as well as
made available on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website at
www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website at www.weichaipower.com in
due course.

On behalf of the Board

Tan Xuguang
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
29 March 2017
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE'S REPORT

Dear Shareholders,

In 2016, in accordance with relevant requirements including the Company
Law, the Articles of Association of the Company and the Rules of Procedure of
the Supervisory Committee, in compliance with the principle of integrity, all
members of the Supervisory Committee of Weichai Power Co., Ltd. (the
“Company”) (the “Supervisory Committee”) performed their duties of
supervision by exercising effective supervision and examination, in a lawful
manner, of the Company’s procedures of making operational decisions, its
state of operation, its financial conditions and its acquisition and disposal of
assets and material connected transactions, thereby providing strong support
to the Company’s regulated operations and healthy development, and
protecting the legitimate interests of the Company and its investors.

I. DETAILS OF CONVENING MEETINGS OF THE
SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

In this year, the Company held four meetings of the Supervisory
Committee.

1. On 30 March 2016, the third meeting of the fourth session of the
Supervisory Committee was convened, during which the
Supervisory Committee considered and approved the full text and
summary of the 2015 annual report of the Company, the work
report of the Supervisory Committee for 2015, the financial report
and auditors’ report for 2015, the final financial report for 2015,
the financial budget report 2016, profit distribution proposal for
2015, the re-appointment of Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP as the
Company'’s auditors for the year 2016, the re-appointment of
Shandong Hexin Accountants LLP as the internal control auditors
of the Company for the year 2016, the internal control self-
evaluation report for 2015 and the internal audit report for 2015.

2. On 29 April 2016, the first provisional meeting of the Supervisory
Committee of the Company in 2016 was convened, during which
the Supervisory Committee considered and approved the 2016
first quarterly report of the Company. The contents of the report
gave a true, accurate and complete view of the actual situation of
the listed company and do not contain false statements,
misleading representations or material omissions.
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3. On 30 August 2016, the fourth meeting of the fourth session of 20168 HA30R AR AMMEM
the Supervisory Committee of the Company was convened, during REZEg SHFZABT A
which the Supervisory Committee considered and approved the WEFFFEREEXEBE -
full text and summary of the 2016 interim report of the Company NAIE 20165 2 B R H o B &9
as well as the implementation of the 2016 interim profit FER - YFERERNREET &
distribution proposal by the Company. The contents of the interim BB T FTARNE
report gave a true, accurate and complete view of the actual WIS AN FREERNEBRLE - =
situation of the listed company and do not contain false BHRMiEZTERNER-
statements, misleading representations or material omissions.

4. On 27 October 2016, the second provisional meeting of the 201610 A27H - A A & F2016
Supervisory Committee of the Company in 2016 was convened, FE_ABREETT @XESH
during which the Supervisory Committee considered and approved BB T ARM016F FE =FF R
the 2016 third quarterly report of the Company. The contents of Lo WRERNDTEET EfE TEM
the report gave a true, accurate and complete view of the actual RET ETRAMNERBR T
situation of the listed company and do not contain false FEEMNERLSH  RE MK
statements, misleading representations or material omissions. HEEKRER
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REPORTING PERIOD

1.

WEICHAI PowER Co., LTD.

Compliance of the Company’s operations with legal
requirements

During the reporting period, pursuant to the laws and regulations
of the PRC and the Articles of Association of the Company, the
Supervisory Committee duly supervised the convening procedures
and resolutions of general meetings of Shareholders and meetings
of the Board, the Board’s execution of resolutions approved at
general meetings of shareholders, the performance of duties by
the senior management of the Company. The Supervisory
Committee is of the view that the Board and the senior
management of the Company performed their duties with
integrity and diligence, made decisions in a scientific approach,
maintained sound production and operation. The Supervisory
Committee was not aware of any action which would result in a
breach of laws or regulations or the Articles of Association of the
Company or would damage the interests of the Company and
investors in the Company.
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

Financial position of the Company

During the reporting period, the Supervisory Committee further
enhanced its internal control, especially the examination of the
financial system. The Company has established a sound system on
external investment, asset transfer and connected transactions,
etc. In its operation, the Company observed the relevant laws and
regulations of the PRC and the relevant provisions of the China
Securities Regulatory Commission. On the control of the
movement of funds and administrative expenses, the Company
strictly controlled on each grade which ensured the normal
operation of the Company and avoided financial risk.

The Supervisory Committee was of the view that the procedures
adopted by the Board in preparing and considering the annual
financial report of the Company are in compliance with the laws,
administrative regulations and stipulations of the China Securities
Regulatory Commission. The contents of the report gave a true,
accurate and complete view of the actual situation of the listed
company and do not contain false statements, misleading
representations or material omissions.

There was no use of proceeds this year.

Acquisition and disposal of assets of the Company
During the reporting period, the Company’s acquisitions and
disposals of assets were conducted in such a way where the
approval procedures were lawful, at reasonable considerations,
and under effective decision-making, benefiting the integration of
resources of the Company and aligning with the Company’s
development strategies. No insider dealing or other actions which
would damage the interests of the shareholders or cause any asset
loss occurred or emerged.

Material connected transactions

During the reporting period, the connected transactions of the
Company were conducted under the principle of fairness and the
procedures of the transactions were in compliance with laws and
regulations. The Supervisory Committee is not aware of any action
which would damage the interests of the Company and the
shareholders.

The Supervisory Committee has no disagreement on the matters
supervised during the reporting period.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company has always regarded the consistent maintenance of an excellent,
solid and reasonable corporate governance structure as its top priority.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company has reviewed its
corporate governance documents and is of the view that the Company has
fully complied with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
(the "Corporate Governance Code”) set out in the Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules other than Code A.2.1, which requires that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be two separate roles and should not be
performed by the same individual, and that certain directors of the Company
did not attend all of the Company’s annual general meeting and extraordinary
general meeting, in 2016 as required under code provisions A.6.7 and E.1.2 of
the Corporate Governance Code due to other important work-related affairs.
Currently, Mr. Tan Xuguang (“Mr. Tan") serves as the Chairman as well as the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Despite such deviation, the directors
believe that the combination of the roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer can promote the efficient formulation and implementation of
the Company’s strategies which will enable the Group to grasp business
opportunities efficiently and promptly. The Company considers that through
the supervision of its board and its independent non-executive directors, there
is adequate balance of power and authority in place.

The directors believe that the Articles of Association, the scope of
responsibilities of the Audit Committee, the scope of responsibilities of the
Supervisory Committee and the codes on securities dealings by directors and
certain executives, which constitute the basis for the regular codes on
corporate governance of the Company, have covered the principles and the
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code. In respect of the following
areas, our internal corporate governance documents are more stringent than
the Corporate Governance Code:

1. In addition to the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee, the Company has also established the Strategic
Development and Investment Committee (the “SDIC").

2. All members of the Audit Committee are Independent Non-executive
Directors, of whom Mr. Wang Gongyong, the Chairman of the
committee, holds the relevant professional qualification or professional
knowledge related to accounting or financial management.

82 WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. fLsihiRMNERAS

FPREGHS

ARA—ERRKBEERRIY REREGELZ
CERERRBREEER-

0|

rEEBTH
HE_ZT—XE+-_A=+—BULHtHFE &K
AREEBMECEERANT RAEKRTAE
AR ETEERRERANTEED BWE
BB MAEAR - ART RAAQA
RUEERREFHMEZERNFE T MK 4L
&%Aié/#W%AmM&%Emhmw
BB RETAHERARBIR T —R
iW%ﬁZh%Eiﬁgﬂhi%%Ké'
ANARE 2 ™EE ST EAR R K &%+ ATkl
EERTRINMASTRME - B L E(E
EENRABEERFARAANEERTE - &
EXBE LREBEBER EEMHE EELE
EEFRELEAREBRCEDEE SIS &
PITARBIEBRRE KMSAEEHENE

AR EEEE - ARFERE BBEE
EXeREBYNNTEEZEE RN

MEBEYTE-

EEEE ARMBSREMI BREEE
CHERNE EFe s BRERERESEE
THAABBEEES Y TABKAARRE
CEEATUZER LHEECEEATH
CHERARFARY - ARAT 2 ABLEEA

SR AT #8888 b X B A 7 I B RE:

e

1. KBEERZEe FWZEekREXRZE
€I ARAH -iﬁW%E&&é%
Eg((BmERIAREZRR®)D -

2. %%ééﬁﬁgﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁ
Effa%%iﬂﬁ



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include, among other things, formulating
the Company’s overall strategies, setting management targets, regulating
internal controls and financial management, and supervising the
management’s performance, while the day-to-day operations and
management are delegated by the Board to the executives of the Company.

The Board currently comprises 11 directors, whose details are set out on pages
29 to 33 of this annual report. The Board currently includes four executive
directors, three non-executive directors and four independent non-executive
directors, namely, Mr. Tan Xuguang (Chairman and CEO), Mr. Zhang Quan,
Mr. Xu Xinyu and Mr. Sun Shaojun (Executive Directors), Mr. Wang Yuepu, Mr.
Jiang Kui and Mr. Gordon Riske (Non-executive Directors), Mr. Loh Yih, Mr.
Zhang Zhong, Mr. Wang Gongyong and Mr. Ning Xiangdong (Independent
Non-executive Directors).

The Company has formulated and implemented a “Diversity Policy regarding
Members of the Board of Directors” to support the attainment of strategic
goals and the needs for sustainable development. The composition of the
Board of Directors will be based on a range of diversity elements, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, race,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. Final decisions
will be made based upon the merits of the individuals and his or her
contributions to be made to the Board of Directors.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and considers each of the independent non-executive
directors to be independent.

The Board has notified each of the directors and supervisors in advance that
they should not trade in the securities of the Company within the period as
stipulated under the Listing Rules. All directors and supervisors confirmed that
they were in compliance with the Listing Rules in this respect.

Other than their working relationships with the Company, none of the
directors, supervisors or the senior management has any financial, business or
family relationship or any relationship in other material aspects with each
other.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Other than the service contracts entered into by them or as otherwise disclosed
in this annual report, none of the directors or the supervisors has any personal
and substantive interest, direct or indirect, in the material contracts entered
into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during 2016.

Each of the executive directors, non-executive directors and independent non-
executive directors was appointed for a term from 30 June 2015 to the
conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company for the year ending
31 December 2017.

The Company attached great importance to the continuous professional
development of the directors and paid close attention to and actively
organized relevant trainings for the directors. Each of the directors of the
Company actively participated in various special trainings in respect to
corporate governance and directors’ responsibilities in full compliance with
Code A.6.5 of Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Hong Kong Listing Rules and regulatory requirements of the PRC.

In 2016, the Board reviewed and revised, where necessary, the corporate
governance policies and practice of the Company, reviewed and supervised the
training and continuing professional development attended by the directors
and senior management, reviewed and supervised the Company’s policies and
practice in its compliance with laws and regulations, reviewed and supervised
the code of conduct of employees and directors, and reviewed the Company’s
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code.

In 2016, the Company held 12 Board meetings. The principal activities of the
Board in 2016 were as follows:

o Review of the annual and interim results of the Company;
o Review of the auditors’ report, internal control audit report, final
financial report, financial budget report and corporate social

responsibilities report of the Company;

. Review of the annual profit distribution, interim dividend and the 2015
final dividend distribution proposal;

o Consideration and approval of connected transactions;
o Consideration and approval of the Company’s banking facilities;
o Consideration and approval of the amendments to the terms of

reference of the audit committee of the Board;

o Consideration and approval of the provision of financial guarantee to
subsidiaries;
o Consideration and approval of the additional issue of shares, external

investment and acquisition of equity interest by subsidiaries;
o Consideration and approval of the acquisition of wholly-owned

subsidiaries by way of absorption.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The total remuneration of the directors in 2016, including the basic salary,
performance-linked salary, incentive salary and discretionary bonus, amounted
to approximately RMB6.9 million. Independent non-executive directors were
only entitled to receive director’s fees but not other salary or remuneration. For
details of the remuneration of directors, please refer to Note V.29 to the
financial statements of the Company.

AupiT COMMITTEE
An Audit Committee has been established by the Board.

The Audit Committee is principally responsible for supervising the Company’s
internal audit system and its implementation, reviewing the Company’s
financial controls, risk management and internal control policies and systems
as well as material connected transactions and proposing the engagement or
removal of external auditor. It is also responsible for the communications
between the internal auditor and the external auditor as well as review of
financial information of the Company and the disclosure thereof.

The Audit Committee comprises all the independent non-executive directors,
currently including Mr. Loh Yih, Mr. Zhang Zhong, Mr. Wang Gongyong and
Mr. Ning Xiangdong. As Mr. Wang Gongyong has the appropriate professional
qualifications and experience in financial matters, he acts as the chairman of
the Audit Committee. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are
aligned with the recommendations set out in “A Guide for Effective Audit
Committees” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

The Audit Committee held six meetings during the reporting period. Details of
the attendance are set out on page 88 of this annual report.

The major work accomplished by the Audit Committee during the year are as
follows:

o Review of the annual, interim financial statements of the Group, as well
as the management recommendations furnished by the external auditors
and responses from the Company’s management;

o Review of the accounting policies and practices adopted by the Group
and related matters;

o Formulating independent directors’ opinions on connected transactions,
external guarantee and internal control self-evaluation report;

o Assist the Board to monitor the Group'’s financial control, internal audit
and risk management evaluation;

o Determine the remuneration of external audit service provider.
Throughout the period under review, the Audit Committee discharged its

responsibilities, reviewed and discussed the financial results, financial control,
and internal control and risk management system of the Group.
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In accordance with the requirements of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules, the
Audit Committee has reviewed the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2016.

The auditors of the Company have audited the financial statements and have
issued an unqualified auditors’ report.

STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT
COMMITTEE

The Strategic Development and Investment Committee (“SDIC”) has been
established by the Board.

The SDIC is principally responsible for examining and reviewing the Company’s
strategic plans, monitoring the implementation of strategic planning, and
facilitating timely adjustments to the Company’s strategies and governance
structure.

The SDIC currently comprises Mr. Tan Xuguang (Chairman of the Board and of
the SDIC), Mr. Wang Yuepu, Mr. Zhang Quan, Mr. Xu Xinyu and Mr. Sun
Shaojun

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A Remuneration Committee has been established by the Board.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for the recommendation to the
Board of the remuneration packages and terms of employment of directors,
supervisors and senior management of the Company. The Committee also
determines the relevant remuneration policy for directors, supervisors and
senior management of the Company and matters relating to their participation
in incentive schemes operated by the Company.

During the reporting period, the Remuneration Committee of the Company
held one meeting. The first meeting of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company in 2016 was convened on 24 March 2016, during which the matters
regarding the operation incentives for senior management and core members
of the Company for year 2015 were reviewed. Mr. Tan Xuguang, Mr. Zhang
Zhong and Mr. Loh Yih, all being directors, attended this meeting of the
Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises one executive director and
two independent non-executive directors, being Mr. Zhang Zhong (chairman
of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Tan Xuguang and Mr. Loh Yih.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A Nomination Committee has been established by the Board.

During the reporting period, the Nomination Committee of the Company did
not hold any meeting.

The Nomination Committee currently comprises two independent non-
executive directors and one executive director, including Mr. Zhang Zhong
(chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Xu Xinyu and Mr. Wang
Gongyong. The meetings of the Nomination Committee were arranged and
held on an as-needed basis. The Nomination Committee will identify qualified
candidates to fill the Board’s membership whenever such vacancy arises. It will
also nominate such candidates for the Board to consider, regularly review the
composition of the Board and make suggestions as to any change in the
membership of the Board that may be required.

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

The Supervisory Committee consists of three members, with one Supervisor
being elected from the staff as a representative of employees and the other
two elected by the shareholders of the Company. The Supervisory Committee
is responsible for supervision of the Board and its members and the senior
management of the Company, so as to prevent them from abusing their
authorities and infringing the interests of the Company, its shareholders and
staff. The size and composition of the Supervisory Committee are in
compliance with the requirements of the relevant laws and regulations of the
PRC. The Supervisory Committee held four meetings during the year to carry
out its supervision on behalf of the shareholders in respect of the Company’s
financial matters and the lawfulness and compliance in respect of the
discharge of duties by the directors and senior management of the Company.
The members of the Supervisory Committee attended all Board meetings and
general meetings of the Company and diligently performed their supervisory
duties.
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Attendances at meetings of the Board, Supervisory Committee and special
committees (attendance in person/number of meetings) during the year are as

EREIGHRS

FR-BFE

(%&)

EFERENZBEEEEN

HEEHHRERE EZREMT:

follows:
General Supervisory Audit
Meeting Board Committee Committee

Name ®E TN Esg EEZg ERZES
Executive Directors HiITES
Tan Xuguang EER 1112
Zhang Quan K R 12/12
Xu Xinyu B¥E 12 11/120
Sun Shaojun BALE 112 10/12@
Li Dakai FARAMR-_E—LF

(resigned on 29 March 2017) ZAZ+TNBEE) 12/12
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Wang Yuepu THE 117120
Jiang Kui I =E 172 10/12@
Gordon Riske Gordon Riske 10/12@
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHTES
Loh Yih E ® 12112 6/6
Zhang Zhong & A 12/12 6/6
Wang Gongyong TEB 112 11/120 6/6
Ning Xiangdong AR 112 11/120 6/6
Zhang Zhenhua RIRER-ZZT—LF

(resigned on 29 March 2017) ZAZ+ThBEE 12 12/12 6/6
Supervisors Ex
Lu Wenwu B YR 2/2 4/4
Jiang Jianfang BEE 12 3/4
Ma Changhai 58S 12 4/4

According to the requirements under Code I(d) of the Corporate Governance RE(EEERTADZEIDBGRE BRES

Code, the attendance of alternate directors shall not be included in the

attendance of the relevant directors.

Notes:

(1) In addition, the director or supervisor also appointed another director or supervisor as
his representative to attend and vote at one meeting of the board or meeting of the
supervisory committee on his behalf.

2) In addition, the director also appointed another director as his representative to attend
and vote at two meetings of the board on his behalf.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

GENERAL MEETING AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The shareholders’ meeting is the highest authority of the Company, providing
an opportunity for direct communications and building a sound relationship

between the Board and the shareholders of the Company. Therefore, the
Company places great attention to such meetings. In 2016, the Company
convened two general meetings. Matters reviewed and approved at the said
meetings include the following:

I.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING HELD ON 7 JUNE
2016

Ordinary resolutions:

1.

To consider and approve the Annual Report of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2015

To consider and approve the Report of the Board of Directors of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2015

To consider and approve the Report of the Supervisory Committee
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2015

To consider and receive the audited financial statements of the
Company and the Auditors’ Report for the year ended 31
December 2015

To consider and approve the BA# R & 3R (final financial report)
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2015

To consider and approve the Bf#&TEEMRE (financial budget
report) of the Company for the year ending 31 December 2016

To consider and approve the re-appointment of Ernst & Young
Hua Ming LLP (ZKIERHGTRIEGT (BFALRAR)) as the
auditors of the Company for the year ending 31 December 2016
and to authorise the Directors to determine their remuneration

To consider and approve the re-appointment of | M{Z& 51D
5T (B E @A E) (Shandong Hexin Accountants LLP) as the
internal control auditors of the Company for the year ending 31
December 2016

To consider and approve the granting of a mandate to the Board
of Directors for payment of interim dividend (if any) to the
shareholders of the Company for the year ending 31 December
2016

PHREBGHRS (1&)

RRAXEMREEME
BRAGDNARABEENRE REFS
BADNFREEE BB RELR TR
@oﬁ%'ﬁﬂﬂ%ﬁéﬁ&$@m°:§
AR KDANBH-RBAAE &L
%ﬁ&@@m£x$ﬁa$

— RZF-N"FERXRALHERETXZ
RRBFAS
BRER:
. BERMAEATN T
BERXRBENER

EFEFE

2. BFNBAERA T -—LFEE
FETHERENER

3. EBRRMAEAA-T-REEE
FETHERENAR
4. BHERMERA-T-AFEH

BHRERBAREHEAR

5 BRRMEAT-F - HFEH
A S ELEES
6. BHRMEATD-F-AFEH

BRERENHER

7. BRRIEBRR E%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ@
JEW%%’{FE(%% CRLOF=N
E_E—/\¢E%a+ﬁfﬁﬁk$%1§ﬂ
REEFGRTHMERER

8. BEELLEAR E'EH%U-Iﬁﬂl =&
AREBAMEREREUK) BA
Efg—/\iﬁqﬁﬁlﬁﬂﬁaﬂ%lﬁ%
BN RR

9. EHRLRHLEBR
ARRKE_F
BBE)INESR

REEEERAR
—RFEPHRK

ANNUAL REPORT 2016 3R 89



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

90

10. To consider and approve the distribution of profit to the
shareholders of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2015

11. To consider and approve the amendments to the terms of
reference of the Audit Committee

12.  To consider and approve the connected transaction between the
Company and L TR2#M A AR 2 (Shantui Engineering
Machinery Co. Ltd.)

13.  To consider and approve the connected transactions between the
Company and Shandong Heavy Industry Group Finance Co., Ltd.

Special resolution:

14. To consider and approve the granting of a general mandate to the
Board of Directors to issue new Shares

WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. HLahhiRMNBERLAD
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II. EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING HELD on 31 - RZ-ZFB—R"F+H=1+—HB=Z
0cTOBER 2016 TZRREFAAS
Ordinary resolutions: BRER:
1. To consider and approve the investment and acquisition by an FBa R EBERE I F AT
overseas subsidiary. ?’L BERENER
2. To consider and approve the connected transactions for the ER LI EBRREREREERA
provision of general services and labour services by Weichai Group BRAR KBS QR [A
Holdings Limited (and its associates) to the Company (and its AREMBRARREHREERE R
subsidiaries). BHEREEBEIINESR
3. To consider and approve the connected transactions for the supply ERRBLERNARERSE @ 7ﬁ_
and/or connection of utilities by Weichai Group Holdings Limited PR A ) Ko E M S (RE B ) A A
(and its associates) to the Company (and its subsidiaries). A & BB A AR £ B A R 7_1'% Fﬁ
BMRXHHHER
4. To consider and approve the connected transactions for the EELHERRCARERB R
purchase of diesel engine parts and components, gas, scrap ARAEREEREERRATRLA
metals, materials, diesel engines and related products and M E(REEE) R AR ST R
processing services by the Company (and its subsidiaries) from " ERARESBSE R %
Weichai Group Holdings Limited (and its associates). M N AR B8 E &bl T AR 75 B8 B
RHMFER
5. To consider and approve the connected transactions for the sale EELHAEBRCARERB R
of diesel engines, diesel engine parts and components, materials, AR EREEAR AT KA
semi-finished products and related products and provision of B 8 (f28 Bt ) 2% ) 3 5 S0 i - S0
processing services by the Company (and its subsidiaries) to T R K m kAR
Weichai Group Holdings Limited (and its associates). EmMBEENIIRBERE SN
S
6. To consider and approve the connected transactions for the BEERBEMRARARENB R
purchase of diesel engine parts and components, materials, steel AMALERRNDER AR RE
and scrap metal, diesel engines and related products and MEARRBREETIMF R
processing and labour services by the Company (and its MR B RESRE AR
subsidiaries) from Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd. (and its BREER- - ST REH
subsidiaries). VEE £
7.  To consider and approve the grant of the guarantee by the ERLLEBAR AR REIINEE

Company to an overseas wholly-owned subsidiary.

ARIBMEREERNESR
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Shareholders of the Company holding more than 10% of the shares of the
Company either individually or collectively requesting the convening of an
extraordinary general meeting or a class meeting shall proceed in accordance
with the procedures set forth in Article 104 of the Company’s articles of
association.

Pursuant to Article 76 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
shareholders of the Company who hold, individually or collectively, more than
3% of the Company’s shares shall have the right to propose a motion to the
Company for consideration at the general meeting of the Company.
Shareholders who hold, individually or collectively, more than 3% of the
Company’s shares may propose a provisional motion in writing to the Board of
Directors 16 days prior to the general meeting. Within two days upon the
receipt of the proposed motion, the Board of Directors shall issue a
supplementary notice of the general meeting to announce the content of the
provisional motion.

Shareholders of the Company are welcome to send their enquiries to the
Board via our Securities Department, details of which are set out in the section
headed “Corporate Information” in this annual report.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE
CANDIDATES FOR ELECTION AS A DIRECTOR

Pursuant to the requirement of the articles of association of the Company, any
shareholder who, by itself or jointly, holding shares representing more than
3% of the voting rights of the Company for 180 days or more consecutively
shall have the right to nominate candidates for director, the number of
directors in each nomination shall not exceed one-fifth of the total number of
directors and the total number of nominees. The number of shares directly or
indirectly held by each shareholder cannot be further subdivided in order to
propose a motion by himself or jointly with other persons.

The period for service of notices in writing by shareholders to the Company of
the intention to propose a candidate for election as a director in accordance
with the articles of association of the Company and of such candidate’s
consent to be elected shall be at least 7 days, which shall commence from the
day after the despatch of the notice convening the general meeting for the
election of directors and shall end on the date which is 16 days prior to the
date of such general meeting.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND MANAGEMENT

The Board recognises its responsibility for maintaining an adequate system of
internal control to safeguard the Group’s assets and shareholders’ interests.

Internal control, including a defined management structure with limits of
authority, is designed to help achieve business objectives, safeguard assets
against unauthorised use, maintain proper accounting records for the provision
of reliable financial information for internal use or for publication. The purpose
of such system is to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material mis-statement or loss, and to manage, rather than eliminate, risks of
failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s objectives.

The Company has an internal audit function. The management maintains and
monitors the system of controls on an ongoing basis. The Audit Committee,
which was delegated by the Board, reviews the Group's risk management and
internal control policies and system at least once a year.

During the year, based on the evaluations made by the management, the
Audit Committee reviewed and was satisfied that nothing had come to its
attention to cause the Audit Committee to believe that the system of risk
management and internal control covering financial, operational, compliance
and all other material controls of the Group was inadequate, and there is an
ongoing process to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks faced by the
Group. The Audit Committee considered that the risk management and
internal control system of the Group is effective and adequate.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MoDeEL CODE

During the year, the Company adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required standard
set out in the Model Code for Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).
Having made specific enquiry of all directors, the directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code for
the year.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors aim to present the financial statements of the Group in
accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The directors ensure that financial statements of the Group are
issued in a timely manner so that the final and interim results of the Group are
announced within the periods of three months and two months, respectively,
after the end of the relevant periods prescribed under the Listing Rules.

The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and audited by the external
auditors, Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP. The directors acknowledge their
responsibilities for preparing the financial statements of the Group and
presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment of the Group's
performance and prospects. They are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast doubt upon the ability of the
Company to continue as a going concern. The statement of the Auditors about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company has engaged Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP as auditors of the
Company. For the year ended 31 December 2016, an amount of RMB12.6
million was paid/payable to Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP for their audit
service.
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To the shareholders of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

(I) OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.
(the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated and the Company’s
balance sheets as at 31 December 2016, and the consolidated and the
Company’s income statements, the consolidated and the Company’s
statements of changes in shareholders’ equity and the consolidated and
the Company’s statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the financial statements.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly,
in all material respects, the consolidated and the Company’s financial
position as at 31 December 2016, and the consolidated and the
Company’s financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises
("ASBEs").

(II)BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with China Standards on Auditing
(“CSAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance
with China Code of Ethics for Certified Public Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

(III) KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the
matter is provided in that context.
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We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of
our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our
audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit

opinion on the accompanying financial statements.

Key audit matter

RARETEE

Bad debt provision for accounts receivable
FEM AR I AR

As at 31 December 2016, the gross carrying amount of
accounts receivable in the consolidated financial statements
was RMB12,480,250,939.76, and the gross bad debt provision
amounted to RMB1,144,057,968.02. Receivables which
are individually significant and receivables which are not
individually significant but there is objective evidence Indicating
impairment are individually assessed by the management for
impairment. Bad debt provision is made based on the shortfall
of the present value of future cash flow as compared to its
carrying amount. Other than receivables for which provision for
bad debts has been recognized individually, provision for bad
debt is recognized by group based on the actual loss rate of
identical or similar group in prior year or with similar distinctive
credit risk characteristics, taking into account the current
situation. Calculation of the recoverable amount of accounts
receivable requires judgments and estimate to be made by the
management.

Disclosures of accounts receivable and bad debt provision are
set out in Note Ill.10 and Note V.4 to the financial statements.

M2016F 12 A31H + & OB 15 3R & § FE UK BR X AR E #4588
B AN R%12,480,250,939.76 T EEREHEHBAEARE
1,144,057,968.027T * B [E ¥ B IH S FHE AR ERGRIAN =B
He B NEXNBFAREEERIPAE EREEWAR K EEE
TRENR  REERRBESRERERRAREDEENE
B FHEEIREE  RE EEHREREBNEWEIEIN - R
BUARTE E 8 2 AHRI SRR - BA LS AR RS e
WIS W ERBAE AER - HEBKEAEEEED
SRR o FEWR RTINS SRR E R EE IR E R HIETA S
B @

B REREEREARBREFENRES S RINE= - 10k
PeER ~ 4

WEICHAI PowER Co., LTD. e HBRMNBERLAD

B
EI'E
e
0F
Bor

ZKEH(2017)F F560729920_B015%

BRI KRBT T ARE M SR H I
BREFHETIFOMANEE  BFERE
ELRRET FRAMNEL - AR - B
FIMES TIERENT REL AN EER
REXEREAR MR OBFEF © IR
TEFRFNER  BRES T RBRET
EEMATHIER » RUBRREBEBERE
AHERIRM T EAE -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZEREFTPROMEY

Our procedures in relation to this as part of our audit
included:

For accounts receivable which are individually significant, we
reviewed, on a sampling basis, the bases upon which the
recoverable amounts were arrived at by the management,
including the management’s assessment of the credit risks
of customers taking into account the business operation of
the respective customers, market conditions and historical
repayment etc;

For receivables for which provision for bad debt is recognized
by group with similar distinctive credit risk characteristics,
we reviewed the management’s determination of the
group with similar distinctive credit risk characteristics and
reviewed, on a sampling basis, key information including the
age of the receivables and number of overdue days.

We examined the calculation made by the management in
arriving at the bad debt provision for receivables.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RARETER

Inventory provision

FEREERE

As at 31 December 2016, the gross carrying amount of
inventories in the consolidated financial statements was
RMB16,756,987,771.58, and the gross bad debt provision
amounted to RMB666,330,945.51. At the balance sheet
date, inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net
realizable value. The management’s judgments and estimates
are required for determining the inventory provision on the
basis of clear evidence and taking into account the purpose
of holding the inventories, effect of subsequent events and
other factors. The difference between the actual outcome and
original estimate will affect the carrying amount of inventories
during the estimated revision period.

Disclosures of provision for decline in value of inventories are
set out in Note Ill.11 and Note V.9 to the financial statements.
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ZEREETTHRNAES

Our procedures in relation to this as part of our audit
included:

We checked the age and turnover of inventories;

We checked the approach adopted by the management in
assessing inventory provision;

We compared the net realizable value, which were
determined as the selling price net of sales rebate, cost
estimated to be incurred up to completion, estimated selling
expenses and tax, to the carrying cost to identify the higher

one;

We examined the calculation made by the management in
arriving at the inventory provision.
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Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZEREFPROMEY

Assessment for impairment of goodwill and trademark rights with an indefinite useful life

R R S NEE B R AR E R

As at 31 December 2016, the gross carrying amount of
goodwill in the consolidated financial statements was
RMB23,037,674,856.10, and the gross amount of trademark
rights with an indefinite useful life was RMB7,257,195,408.80.
Goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life
shall be tested for impairment every year, irrespective of
whether there is any indication that the asset may be impaired.
The test for impairment of goodwill and trademark rights with
an indefinite useful life involves complicated procedures and
the management'’s selection and adoption of key parameters
including estimation of future market and economic conditions,
discount rate, long-term average growth rate etc.

Disclosures of assessment for impairment of goodwill and
trademark rights with an indefinite useful life are set out in
Note I1.18 and III.19 and Note V.20 to the financial statements.
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Our procedures in relation to this as part of our audit
included:

We examined the management'’s forecast of future cashflow
and its calculation of the present value of future cashflow;

We took into account the actual operation of the asset
groups or sets of asset groups and market analysis to review
cashflow forecast;

We engaged valuation specialists for assisting in the review
of valuation approaches, models and key parameters;

We checked the disclosures of assessment for impairment of

goodwill and trademark rights with an indefinite useful life
in the financial statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZEREFPROMEY

Business of leasing of forklift trucks

XEBEHEEER

Leasing of forklift trucks is a principal business segment of
KION GROUP AG, a subsidiary of Weichai Power Co., Ltd. The
forklift trucks leasing business of KION GROUP AG primarily
include 3 categories: direct leasing, sale and leaseback sub-
leases and sale with risk. The categorization of leasing business
and the recognition of revenue from the business of sale with
risk involves judgments. The accounting treatment becomes
complicated for the various categories of leasing business.

For policies on forklift trucks leasing business, please refer to
Note IIl.15 to the financial statements. For disclosures of forklift
trucks leasing business, please refer to Notes V.13, 16 and 38
and Note XIV.
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Our procedures in relation to this as part of our audit
included:

For the workflow of forklift trucks leasing business, we
understood and tested the internal control processes,
including the engagement of information technology
specialists for testing the internal control of the system of
forklift trucks leasing business;

We performed test of details on a sampling basis, including
the examination of whether the relevant data available from
the system of forklift trucks leasing business agreed to the
original invoices, evaluated the judgments made by the
management on the categorization of leases, re-calculated
the booked amounts of relevant assets and liabilities etc.;

We performed confirmation procedures as well as cut-off
procedures.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The management of the Company is responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included in
the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE MANAGEMENT
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of the Company is responsible for the preparation and
fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with ASBEs,
and for designing, implementing and maintaining such internal control
as the management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the management is responsible
for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting, unless the management either
intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Company'’s financial reporting process.
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(VI) AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE st E sttt el F RSB TNET
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AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with CSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with CSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

(1) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

(2)  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of internal control.

(3)  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the management.
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(4)  Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going
concern.

(5) Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

(6) Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Company to express an opinion on the financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP
Beijing, the People’s Republic of China

Chinese Certified Public Accountant:
Zhang Fei (Engagement partner)
Chinese Certified Public Accountant:
You Jin

29 March 2017
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

SFfEEBER

31 December 2016 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 2016F12H31H(ARY L)
Note V 31 December 2016 31 December 2015
ASSETS gE fiEER 2016%F12H31R 2015912 A318
(Restated)
(&)
Current assets mEEE
Cash and cash equivalents EEe 1 27,122,981,855.33 24,856,509,077.48
Financial assets at fair value through AR BETEBEES
profit or loss STABEEZNSREE 2 129,296,023.50 37,867,082.40
Notes receivable fEW =1k 3 16,742,874,274.52 9,276,190,961.12
Accounts receivable AR X 4 11,336,192,971.74 9,001,693,158.45
Prepayments FENFIE 5 595,832,151.19 401,700,805.42
Interests receivable FE LRI 2, 6 26,284,015.32 53,906,611.07
Dividends receivable FE AR F 7 9,711,108.40 6,480,000.00
Other receivables oA UK 8 820,998,530.88 811,009,942.53
Inventories =g 9 16,090,656,826.07 11,922,625,796.59
Non-current assets due within one year —FREHIERBEE 10 1,463,427,824.40 1,289,424,886.40
Other current assets HiREhEE 11 2,067,737,279.12 970,236,409.05
Total current assets mBEEAR 76,405,992,860.47 58,627,644,730.51
Non-current assets FEREBEE
Available-for-sale financial assets AEHESREE 12 498,384,350.11 650,293,280.51
Long-term receivables RN 13 4,029,736,734.00 3,348,884,733.60
Long-term equity investments REIRERE 14 1,544,970,791.85 1,447,150,166.18
Investment property REMEE 15 608,116,592.82 588,890,842.52
Fixed assets BTEEE 16 25,801,560,424.62 23,737,017,780.62
Construction in progress FETR 17 1,642,494,423.73 2,589,664,963.45
Materials used in construction TIiEWmE - 1,200.00
Disposal of fixed assets BE&EFE 1,018,823.58 1,846,883.91
Intangible assets BV EAE 18 25,362,976,371.96 12,866,967,462.34
Development expenditure %S H 19 445,774,466.92 466,068,766.97
Goodwill (EES 20 23,037,674,856.10 7,786,251,491.45
Long-term prepaid expenses REFEER 21 332,659,717.20 314,381,969.58
Deferred tax assets RIEFTEMBEE 22 4,019,599,412.58 3,166,825,133.09
Other non-current assets HiIEREEE 23 259,720,703.00 248,554,796.59
Total non-current assets ERBEEAGT 87,584,687,668.47 57,212,799,470.81
Total assets BEME 163,990,680,528.94  115,840,444,201.32
The financial statements have been signed by: KRB HRERBATALTES

Legal Representative:

EERERA

Tan Xuguang
BIEN
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED) BHEEERBR(E)
31 December 2016 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 2016F12A31H(AR%T)
Note V 31 December 2016 31 December 2015
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY BEMRFESR TR 20165128311 2015512 A31H
(Restated)
(&)
Current liabilities mEAE
Short-term loans KHIER 24 4,771,648,754.00 2,961,108,213.46
Financial liabilities at fair value NARBEEEEE
through profit or loss FTAEHIERT
SREE 25 168,670,171.20 92,014,803.10
Notes payable eSS 26 8,758,864,180.54 5,520,153,136.02
Accounts payable FERTIRR 27 21,897,787,394.18 14,702,630,179.02
Advances from customers FEUFRIE 28 4,627,211,871.86 1,629,901,698.66
Payroll payable P < B T 5 T 29 4,168,792,146.69 3,147,253,190.63
Taxes payable e & 30 2,065,784,483.92 1,244,878,351.51
Interests payable FERFIE 31 102,059,094.81 208,738,518.56
Dividends payable FET AR A 32 3,822,409.44 5,129,313.52
Other payables HABERR 33 4,998,956,643.14 3,849,888,402.26
Non-current liabilities due within one year —FERIBHIEREARE 34 4,624,888,126.80 5,246,338,509.59
Other current liabilities HipREa s 35 2,791,896,442.25 2,018,326,655.18
Total current liabilities mEBEEE 58,980,381,718.83 40,626,360,971.51
Non-current liabilities FERBEE
Long-term borrowings REAfE 36 30,216,115,691.85 7,283,743,346.45
Bonds payable e ES 37 2,756,201,597.01 5,985,529,194.60
Long-term payables REEMR 38 7,781,235,810.40 6,604,099,856.80
Long-term payroll payable SR EARE T 5 T A 39 8,574,795,194.30 6,928,175,204.92
Special payables EIREMNK 40 43,000,000.00 43,000,000.00
Provision AR 41 311,033,593.20 286,177,796.80
Deferred income B 42 2,574,230,514.51 2,279,402,483.75
Deferred tax liabilities EEFMEHEARE 22 8,120,369,699.73 3,825,631,719.50
Other non-current liabilities HEMIEREAE 71,646,849.89 41,337,675.89
Total non-current liabilities EREBESS 60,448,628,950.89 33,277,097,278.71
Total liabilities BE@E 119,429,010,669.72 73,903,458,250.22
The financial statements have been signed by: KREBHRERBATALTES

Legal Representative:

5%%1‘%2‘%}\ : I B S E#I{)E:E\E/\
Tan Xuguang Kwong Kwan Tong
EEib R

Principal in charge of accounting:

Head of accounting department:

SEREREA

Li Xia

=
=3

ANNUAL REPORT 2016 ZF IR

105



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)

31 December 2016 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

SHEEREBXR(E)
2

2016 12A31H (A% T)

Note V 31 December 2016 31 December 2015
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY BENRRES (gl 2016%12H318 2015%12A318
(Restated)
(&)
Shareholders’ equity e
Share capital AR 43 3,998,619,278.00 3,998,619,278.00
Capital reserve BRNTE 44 30,139,859.91 226,885,258.23
Other comprehensive income Hihira e 45 (295,101,754.34) (502,508,673.78)
Special reserve HIE#AE 46 98,711,320.61 78,839,437.56
Surplus reserve B NTE 47 - 1,207,988,900.22
Retained earnings AOBFE 48 27,905,900,916.04 26,930,133,835.41
Total equity attributable to the shareholders e NSYNGI G E vy
of the parent 31,738,269,620.22 31,939,958,035.64
Minority interests DB R RS 12,823,400,239.00 9,997,027,915.46
Total shareholders’ equity R ER AT 44,561,669,859.22 41,936,985,951.10
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity B EMR R AT 163,990,680,528.94  115,840,444,201.32

FEMBHRERANT ALES

The financial statements have been signed by:

Legal Representative: Principal in charge of accounting: Head of accounting department:

EEREA TESIIERREA: BRMEBREEA
Tan Xuguang Kwong Kwan Tong Li Xia
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

B FmliEx

Year 2016 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 2016 FE(ARKT)
Note V 2015
il 20154
(Restated)
(4 =3)
Revenue BERA 49 93,183,521,384.54 74,167,740,555.91
Less: Cost of sales W EERAR 49 72,099,983,058.63 57,063,786,786.20
Taxes and surcharges i KBt o 50 450,858,197.34 188,297,189.12
Distribution and selling expenses HEER 51 7,644,628,984.86 6,275,023,707.69
General and administrative expenses EEEMA 52 7,651,679,576.71 7,231,256,933.62
Finance expenses HMBER 53 198,822,884.84 482,143,084.06
Impairment loss of assets BEREBERX 54 984,410,371.57 396,214,578.87
Add: Gain or loss on change of fair value mn: AREEEEER 55 (155,320,838.99) (23,353,073.10)
Investment income REWE 56 120,490,092.49 114,954,618.74
Incl: investment income from Ei - Hi 2R
associates and jointly BEDE
controlled enterprises KEW 87,250,957.31 32,180,889.65
Operating profit T 4,118,307,564.09 2,622,619,821.99
Add: Non-operating income o0 EEINIA 57 671,096,042.91 693,782,715.39
Incl: Gain on disposal of B FnggE
non-current assets BENEF 29,761,449.98 66,967,177.83
Less: Non-operating expenses W EFEINT 58 151,756,835.56 190,500,931.90
Incl: Loss on disposal of Heb : JEnE B E
non-current assets BEBX 37,485,076.20 26,439,247.59
Total profit plpefts 59 4,637,646,771.44 3,125,901,605.48
Less: Income tax expenses W TSR ER 60 1,041,393,120.17 927,787,531.09
Net profit AN 3,596,253,651.27 2,198,114,074.39
Incl: Net profit of the party being absorbed Heb B —FH T 13
before business combinations involving ABHFPHAE T
entities under common control AHELEFE 39,349,153.82 35,266,773.68
Net profit attributable to the shareholders FEREARRREEFE
of the parent 2,441,188,631.73 1,412,273,295.73
Minority interests DERER B 1,155,065,019.54 785,840,778.66
The financial statements have been signed by: KRR BATALTES

Legal Representative:

EEREA

Tan Xuguang
=SB

Principal in charge of accounting:

FEEHIEAEA

Kwong Kwan Tong
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Head of accounting department:
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Li Xia
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

Afﬁ :ﬁl.l ﬁ %E ( fg8 )

Year 2016 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 2016 FE(ARS L)
Note V 2015
(gl 20154
(Restated)
(& =iat)
Net other comprehensive income after tax Hith ?./:.\HSZ 0LV IRE ekt
Net other comprehensive income attributable to BERERRRENEMES
shareholders of the parent after tax W T8 55 207,406,919.44 (114,022,771.09)
Those other comprehensive income not to be LAfe T ae BN TR B A EH At
reclassified into profit or loss in subsequent e llEa
periods
Changes arising from re-measuring net assetsor ~~ E#T it SR F X w12l
net liabilities of defined benefit plan FRENFEENE (148,713,028.38) 18,752,496.53
Share of investee’s other comprehensive income RaE MERIRE BRI RE
not to be reclassified into profit or loss using BNFEEENEMD
the equity method FakETREENNE (928,656.44) 5,240,567.93
Those other comprehensive income to be A i E D RSN
reclassified into profit or loss Hikr e e
Share of investee's other comprehensive B TR E B
income to be reclassified into profit or ENRERRNEMGS
loss using the equity method W T Z B AN 518,499.84 7,779,405.56
Change of fair value of available-for-sale —Jﬁi\ﬂj’iﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ
financial assets NRBEZ (5,100,000.00) 2,380,000.00
Effective portion of cashflow from hedging BensEPT AN
instrument B (65,203,170.22) 10,823,089.03
Exchange differences on foreign SNSRI E
currency translation =¥ 426,833,274.64 (158,998,330.14)
Net other comprehensive income attributable to EBRNDERER
minority owners after tax Hiira a8 304,116,926.73 (15,335,441.49)
Total comprehensive income fra W a 4,107,777,497.44 2,068,755,861.81
Incl: H
Total comprehensive income attributable to BENIARIRERN
the shareholders of the parent e BEE 2,648,595,551.17 1,298,250,524.64
Total comprehensive income attributable to N O E )
minority owners fralm A 1,459,181,946.27 770,505,337.17
Earnings per share TR 61
Basic earnings per share BEAFRKE 0.617T 0.357T
Diluted earnings per share HEGR = 0.617T 0.357T

The financial statements have been signed by:

Legal Representative:

Principal in charge of accounting:

EERERA TEEITIFREA:
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=SB BRE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

o

B RRIESE

xR

Year 2016 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 2016 FF (AR L)
2016 20165
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent
SRREDARRES
Other
Share Capital  comprehensive Special Surplus Retained Minority
Note V capital reserve income. reserve reserve eamnings Subtotal IEE Total equity
Hi k& FUIN | EfauE SRR BHAR RAEAE it HERRER RgRAT
. Atend of previous year - LEERHE 3,998,619,278.00 27,883,109.16  (502,508,673.78) 7883943756 1,207,988900.22 26,918,633,619.95 31,729,455,671.11  9,997,027,915.46  41,726,483,586.57
Add: Business combination under e A-BHTeEAH
common control - 199,002,149.07 - - - 1150021546 210,502,364.53 - 210502,364.53
I Atbeginning of year = REENHE 3998,619.27800 2268852583  (502,508,673.78) 7883943756 1,207,988,900.22  26,930,133,835.41  31,939,958,035.64  9,997,02791546  41,936,985,951.10
Il Movements in current year = REERRELE
(I Total comprehensive income () GAYEES - - 207,406919.44 - - 244118863173 2,648,595,551.17  1,459,181946.27  4,107,777,497.44
(1) Injection and recuction () BRBAMRSEA
1. Injection 1. REEAER - - - - (608,724,079.00) - (608,724079.00) 2,036,328436.95  1427,604,357.95
2. Amount of share-based 2. RIAGEA
payment taken to REERneE
owners' equity 4 - 2,21,503.62 - - - - 2,221,503.62 3,109,604.78 5,337,108.40
3, Business combination 3. BT
under common control i “ - (207,149912.20) - - - (36745%77)  (250824511.01) - (s082451101)
4. Acquisition and disposal of 4 8% BRETLE
shares in subsdiaries and ARt
others - 8,177,01030 - - (898,015,507.89)  (315,339,460.43) (1,205,177,958.02)  (106,768,289.01) (1,311,946,247.03)
(i) Proft appropriation (2)HEDE
1. Appropriaton to surplus 1. ROEHLE
Tesere 4 - - - - 98750,686.67  (298,750,686.67) - - -
2. Distribution to owners 2 HRENAE 8 - - — - - (199723855.60)  (799,723,855.60)  (572,366,276.98) (1,372,090,132.58)
3. Appropriation to exising 3 AT
shareholders prior to ABARIR
the date of bushess RRRHAR
combination under
common control - - - - - (7,001,600.00) (7,001,600.00) - (7,001,600.00)
4. Appropriation to staff 4. RRBTEHNES
benefit fund - - - - - (931,349.63) (931,349.63) (310,449.88) (1,241,799.51)
(V) Spedal resenve (m) E6kE
1. Apropriaton during 1. KERR
the year 46 - - - 46,796,631.92 - - 46,796,631.92 23,303,068.27 70,099,700.19
2. Used during the year 2. RERR 4 - - - (26924,74887) - - (269470887)  (1610571686)  (43,030465.73)
IV, Atend of year B REERRE 3,998,619,278.00 30,139,850.91  (295,101,754.34) 98,711,320.61 - 27,905900916.04 31,738,269,620.22 12,823,400,239.00 44,561,669,859.22

The financial statements have been signed by:

Legal Representative:

EEREA

Tan Xuguang
B

Principal in charge of accounting:

FTEGHIEEEA

Kwong Kwan Tong
e

REBHRERAUT ALES

Head of accounting department:

SEHERREA

Li Xia

==
=3

ANNUAL REPORT 2016 &% 109



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED) BHBRRERENR(E)
Year 2016 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 2016 FE(ARS L)

2015 20154

Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent
FRNBATRRES

Other
Share Capital comprefensive Special Surplus Retained Minority
Note V capita TESeve Income TESErve Teserve eamings Subtotal Interests Total equity
Hia RE BADE Eizaka ERG BALE FARHE It e R
. Atend of previous year - LEERHE 199930963900 128825293851 (388,485,902.69) 51,026,772.11  3,051,742,591.19  26,397,531,915.03  32,399,377,953.15  9,542,510,380.18  41,941,88833333
Add: - Business combination under in: BB egak
common control - 96,667,953.47 - - - (10,19,139.04) 8647181443 86,471,81442 172,943,628.85
I Atbeginning of year o REEHRE 1999,309639.00  1,38492089198  (388485,902.69) 51,026,772.11  3051,742,591.19  26,387,335,775.99  32,485,849,767.58  9,628,982,194.60 42,114,831,962.18
Il Movements n curtent year = REERRESE
(1) Total comprehensive income (-)AkzEE - - (11402277109 - - 14122329573 129825052464 770,505,337.17  2,068,755,861.81
(1) Injecton and reduction () RRRATIS B
1. bjecton 1. BERAEE - - - - - - - TR 15272158046
2. Business combination under 2. AT
common control BEAN = 2,118791.49 - - - - 2,118791.49 - 2,118791.49
3. Amountof share-based 3. RN AR
payment taken to owners' EEaNSE
equity u - 985,150.78 - - - - 985,150.78 1,590,406.82 2,575,557.60
4. Acquisition of minoriy 4 Y YRRER
interests 4 - (1161,523,051.27) - - (13,280,862.82) - (117480391409 (46,053,242.04)  (1,220,857,156.13)
5. Disposalof minorty interests 5. A URRER - - - - - - - (0594865 (79,045,94865)
6. Others 6. Efty = 383475.5 = = = = 38347525 (73,16189) 31031336
(1) Profit appropriation (Z) HEsR
1. Appropriation to surplus 1. RREAME
feserve = = = - 16883681085 (16883681085 = = =
2. Distribution to owners 2 HRENAE 8 = = = = - (69975837365 (699,758,373.65)  (441,420241.88)  (1,141,178615.53)
3. Appropriation to staff 3 REBTREAES
benefit fund = = = = = (880,051.81) (880,051.81) 293,350.60) (1,173402.41)
(V) Intemal transfer of (m) fraARERTES
owners' equty
1. Captalzation of surplus 1. BHDiEEL
resene ER 1,999,309,639.00 - - - (1,999,309,639.00) - - - -
(V) Specal resenve (%) 2Bk
1. Appropriation during 1. KERR
the year 46 - - - 78,605,603.31 - - 78,605,603.31 3244982623 111,055429.54
2. Used during the year 2 REER 46 = = = (50,792,937.86) - - (50,79293786)  (22,335488.76)  (73,128,426.60)
V. Atend of year B REERHE 399861927800 22688525823 (502,508,673.78) 7883943756 1,207,988900.22 2693013383541  31939,958,03564  9,997,02791546  41,936,985,951.10
The financial statements have been signed by: RIBHRERBATATESE
Legal Representative: Principal in charge of accounting: Head of accounting department:
EERRA - FEGHIEARA: BRMEBABA
Tan Xuguang Kwong Kwan Tong Li Xia
=) BRR=E B
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Year 2016 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

BHIRERER

2016FE(ARKT)

Note V
MR

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

Cash received from sales of goods
or rendering of services

Refunds of taxes

Other cash received relating to

C RERPELANRE

e
HEMM - RHREH
WEHRE
WEIMTHERE
U B E A BRLAR 2R &)

78,618,574,648.98
271,286,501.29

2015
20154
(Restated)
(g&Eq)

72,384,380,401.08
343,603,353.37

operating activities BENE S 62 1,335,554,529.47 1,465,347,721.59
Subtotal of cash inflows from KEEEIREBRA
operating activities /INEE 80,225,415,679.74 74,193,331,476.04
Cash paid for goods and services BENm  EXAB
SRR E 43,359,403,586.53  42,085,087,873.07
Cash paid to and on behalf of MBI AR AT
employees YIRS 16,143,475,594.07 14,318,127,866.16
Cash paid for all types of taxes YK IERE 3,549,645,547.09 3,255,878,868.50
Other cash paid relating to AT E At BT R B
operating activities EBENIRS 62 8,922,457,481.02 7,695,722,806.86
Subtotal of cash outflows from 4RESEENIH &
operating activities /INET 71,974,982,208.71  67,354,817,414.59
Net cash flows from operating LR ELRIRS
activities M= /R 63 8,250,433,471.03 6,838,514,061.45
II.  CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING - RERGEANES
ACTIVITIES mE

Cash received from sale of investments
Cash received from return

WERE KRR S
HSHRE WU E m

1,631,981,141.64

188,000,000.00

on investments e 88,439,515.41 166,277,959.70
Net cash received from disposal of BB AR MEAMEE

subsidiaries and other business units BRI MIR &R 63 - 47,393,959.31
Net cash received from disposal of REBTEEE B

fixed assets, intangible assets BEMEMKAEE

and other long-term assets W Bl #Y IR & 5 58 744,265,205.45 674,474,710.10
Other cash received relating to I B E A BRI B VR B

investing activities BEWIR S 62 215,096,120.80 64,828,590.00
Subtotal of cash inflows from investing BEEHEESRA

activities /Nt 2,679,781,983.30 1,140,975,219.11
Cash paid for acquisition of fixed BEETEE B

assets, intangible assets and BEMAMRIEE

other long-term assets YRERE 4,459,699,581.12 4,345,931,817.94
Cash paid for acquisition of investments WAL NHE S 2,328,922,551.80 383,290,684.00
Net cash paid for acquisition of IS F AR REMEZ

subsidiaries and other business units B NEIRE R 63 15,514,669,904.00 476,585,898.00
Other cash paid relating to AT H M RS EEE)

investing activities BHENRE 62 6,986,068.29 50,733,202.27
Subtotal of cash outflows from KEFESEES R

investing activities /Nt 22,310,278,105.21 5,256,541,602.21
Net cash flows used in KREESFEANES

investing activities MR (19,630,496,121.91)  (4,115,566,383.10)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

Year 2016 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

Note V
MEER

SHIBEREER(E)
2016 FE(ARKT)

CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Cash received from capital contributions

Incl: Cash received by subsidiaries
from capital contributions
of minority owners
Cash received from borrowings
Cash received from issuance of bonds
Other cash received relating to

- BEERYEANERS

mE

RS & W B IR &

Hep - FRAIRKALE
BRI E W E
mH L

S E R UEIR S

BITEFREINES

W B HoAth B1EE B S E B

1,448,443,114.94

1,448,443,114.94
40,427,051,904.80

2015
20154
(Restated)
(g&&Eq)

152,721,584.46

152,721,584.46
11,535,722,867.85
2,522,317,954.03

financing activities HENRE 62 60,903,683.55 162,208,242.00
Subtotal of cash inflows from EHEEHHEEMA
financing activities /N 41,936,398,703.29 14,372,970,648.34
Cash repayments of borrowings BEEBINNRE 25,930,017,967.06  13,095,797,782.00
Cash paid for distribution of dividends DECARA RSB
or profits and for interest expenses MBXNMRS 2,432,823,748.89 1,967,896,762.46
Incl: Cash paid to minority owners He o FRESZIT4E
for distribution of dividends DERE E”]
or profits by subsidiaries BRI - 7 574,513,560.42 497,486,749.43
Other cash paid relating to financing XN EAEEE S
activities BRANHE 62 1,831,960,322.18  1,484,892,035.23
Subtotal of cash outflows from g EHHELRE
financing activities Nt 30,194,802,038.13 16,548,586,579.69
Net cash flows from/(used in), EEFEHEE,/(ER)
financing activities MRS REFER 11,741,596,665.16  (2,175,615,931.35)
IV. EFFECT OF CHANGES IN EXCHANGE m- EERFHHBSH
RATE ON CASH - 82,640,226.51 36,342,024.54
V. NET INCREASE IN CASH AND 1 RekReFEED
CASH EQUIVALENTS Ve 2 Yl 444,174,240.79 583,673,771.54
Add: Cash and cash equivalents m: FPRERRE
at beginning of year FEMERE 21,154,657,664.43  20,570,983,892.89
VI. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RN FRESRREEEY
AT END OF YEAR #RER 63 21,598,831,905.22 21,154,657,664.43
The financial statements have been signed by: REIBHRERBATALTEE

Legal Representative:

EERRA

Tan Xuguang
EE
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ey

BALANCE SHEET SEE8ER

31 December 2016 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 2016F12A31H(AR%T)
Note XV 31 December 2016 31 December 2015
ASSETS BE fE+Aa 20165128311 2015512 A31H
Current assets MBEE
Cash and cash equivalents ERES 1 9,759,458,242.20 12,447,686,804.26
Notes receivable i AES 14,623,284,642.83 6,890,636,874.68
Accounts receivable FEUER R 1,084,606,558.31 640,602,324.45
Prepayments BRI 38,432,215.70 56,961,089.44
Interests receivable FEUFI & 24,849,593.75 51,793,725.00
Dividends receivable UG AR F 1,530,000.00 3,060,000.00
Other receivables HAh fEIGR 4 1,489,063,940.49 1,872,128,429.70
Inventories FE 1,748,577,761.12 1,337,322,763.36
Other current assets HiRBEE - 146,838,123.25
Total current assets mEEEAE 28,769,802,954.40 23,447,030,134.14
Non-current assets FRBEE
Available-for-sale financial assets AN ESREE 278,880,000.00 284,880,000.00
Long-term equity investments RERERE 67 11,151,764,459.25 10,020,852,579.69
Investment property KEEEE 1,166,754,025.31 1,143,364,666.55
Fixed assets BE&E 2,985,724,485.68 2,644,294,727.19
Construction in progress EETRE 580,767,880.05 1,460,455,895.55
Disposal of fixed assets BEEEEFE 83,797.30 83,797.19
Intangible assets BVAE 10 529,111,113.62 330,215,232.45
Goodwill GEES 579,145,043.76 579,145,043.76
Long learn prepaid expense REGFHER 2,075,842.00 4,566,838.00
Deferred tax assets ELEREHEE 318,302,058.45 215,366,868.45
Other non-current assets HiIEREEE 368,850,638.89 481,925,368.89
Total non-current assets ERBBES:T 17,961,459,344.31 17,165,151,017.72
Total assets BEMG 46,731,262,298.71 40,612,181,151.86
The financial statements have been signed by: REIBHRERBATALTEE

Legal Representative: Principal in charge of accounting: Head of accounting department:

EERRERA TEGTIIEEEA SEHEEAEA
Tan Xuguang Kwong Kwan Tong Li Xia
BB BRE FE
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BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED) CEBRR(E)
31 December 2016 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 2016F12H31H(ARY L)
Note XV 31 December 2016 31 December 2015
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY SEMRRER fE+ R 2016%F12H31R 2015912 A318
Current liabilities mEARE
Notes payable ERRE 4,660,241,509.23 2,555,177,304.09
Accounts payable JERTIRER 5,379,491,386.62 3,299,797,871.61
Advances from customers FENHRIR 64,399,135.60 20,789,783.81
Payroll payable JRE <Rl T35 11 588,459,341.07 471,742,106.21
Taxes payable FE)J‘R% 12 505,716,425.54 38,446,967.23
Interests payable ERF B - 32,958,333.51
Other payables HAh IR 1,788,661,736.46 1,599,009,547.04
Non-current liabilities due within one year —FRIHIEREAE - 1,398,153,360.39
Other current liabilities HimeaE 13 725,109,205.14 474,669,460.90
Total current liabilities neaEast 13,712,078,739.66 9,890,744,734.79
Non-current liabilities FnBaE
Long term payroll payable REAFERTIS T 5 M 31,887,561.60 28,208,354.88
Special payables HIFEMNR 20,000,000.00 20,000,000.00
Deferred income kAl g 14 437,331,723.04 324,194,404.72
Total non-current liabilities FERBBES 489,219,284.64 372,402,759.60
Total liabilities BESE 14,201,298,024.30 10,263,147,494.39
Shareholders’ equity MR
Share capital [N 3,998,619,278.00 3,998,619,278.00
Capital reserve ERNIE 1,003,313,374.62 1,011,431,890.64
Other comprehensive income Hikra e 45,220,000.00 50,320,000.00
Special reserve =G 50,137,320.74 43,771,198.92
Surplus reserve YN 1,520,020,449.71 1,221,269,763.04
Retained earnings ROECHE 25,912,653,851.34 24,023,621,526.87
Total shareholders’ equity RS AR 32,529,964,274.41 30,349,033,657.47
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity BENMRRER S 46,731,262,298.71 40,612,181,151.86
The financial statements have been signed by: R HREBAATALTES -
Legal Representative: Principal in charge of accounting: Head of accounting department:
EERRA FEESHIEREA: SHHEBEEEA
Tan Xuguang Kwong Kwan Tong Li Xia
E Y BRIRE E
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INCOME STATEMENT

illYE

Year 2016 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 2016 FE(ARKT)
Note XV 2016 2015
fiz—+h 20165 20154
Revenue B 15 20,538,667,322.09  12,895,754,445.97
Less: Cost of sales T EFERCAR 15 15,397,365,042.94 9,916,275,770.69
Taxes and surcharges i R BN 178,997,961.09 69,962,635.51
Distribution and selling expenses HEER 856,620,943.54 512,493,539.31
General and administrative expenses EIRE A 1,605,229,832.33 1,315,131,114.05
Finance expenses %8 A (119,573,840.75) (228,627,751.13)
Impairment loss of assets BEREEKX 49,949,570.65 (11,296,945.18)
Add: Investment income o AN 16 692,057,206.88 432,313,723.54
Incl: Share of profit of associates and Erh o HEETEA
Jjointly controlled enterprises BEPEN
REW = 36,075,296.33 (16,196,195.63)
Operating profit a2 KI5 3,262,135,019.17 1,754,129,806.26
Add: Non-operating income o EEINEA 106,832,221.65 125,716,175.93
Incl: Gain on disposal of non-current B JEndBE
assets BEENEZ 6,861,556.51 736,969.72
Less: Non-operating expenses W BRI 12,068,992.06 6,261,623.62
Incl: Loss on disposal of non-current Ei : IEmEEE
assets BERX 113,789.36 67,413.90
Total profit MELREE 17 3,356,898,248.76 1,873,584,358.57
Less: Income tax expenses W FTS R E A 18 369,391,382.02 185,216,250.04
Net profit ) E 2,987,506,866.74 1,688,368,108.53
Net other comprehensive income after tax H iR A WS mFi & 558 (5,100,000.00) 2,380,000.00
Those other comprehensive income to be NG E D LIRS
reclassified into profit or loss Efibire e
Change of fair value of available-for-sale AL ESREE
financial assets NR(BEZED) (5,100,000.00) 2,380,000.00
Total comprehensive income el A% 2,982,406,866.74 1,690,748,108.53
The financial statements have been signed by: R MEBAATALES -

Legal Representative:

EERRA

Tan Xuguang
=SB

Principal in charge of accounting:

EFEEHIEEEA

Kwong Kwan Tong

BRE

Head of accounting department:

SETEEREA

Li Xia

==
=3

ANNUAL REPORT 2016 ZF IR

115



STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

m

IRRIEDE

Year 2016 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 2016 FE(ARS L)
2016 20165
Other
comprehensive
Share capital ~ Capital reserve income  Special reserve  Surplus reserve  Retained earnings Total equity
B BA0R Eftrals Gk BUNR AEARE RRERAT
| At beginning of year - FEENRE 3,998,619,278.00  1,011,431,890.64 50,320,000.00 4377119892 1,221,269,763.04  24,023,621,526.87  30,349,033,657.47
Il. Movements n current year - AERREYLE
() Total comprehensive revenue (-) GRkzeEs - - (5,100,000.00) - - 2,987,506,866.74  2,982,406,866.74
(1) Profit appropriation () MEsE
1. Appropriation to surplus 1. RBHAE
reserve - - - - 298,750,686.67  (298,750,686.67) -
2. Distrbution to awners 2 HREMAR - - - - - (199723855.60)  (799,723,855.60)
(1) Internal transfer of owners (=) RREnnpLeE
equity
1. Capitalzation of surplus 1. BRAEERER
Teserve - - - - - - -
(V) Special reserve (m) EAkH
1. Appropriation during the 1. RERR
year - - - 10,866,988.22 - - 10,866,988.22
2. Used during the year 2 KEER - - - (4500,866.40) - - (4500866.40)
(V) Business combination under () BT e%
common control A - (8,118,516.02) - - - - (8,118,516.02)
Il Atend of year = MEERHE 399861927800 100331337462 452000000 5013732074 152002044971 25912,65385134  32,529,964,274.41

The financial statements have been signed by:

Legal Representative:

EEREA

Tan Xuguang
=B
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Principal in charge of accounting:

EFEEHIEAEA

Kwong Kwan Tong

BRE

AR NBRMERLT

R BHRAUTALES

Li Xia
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Head of accounting department:

SEREBREA



STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED) RRiE R e R(E)
Year 2016 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 2016 FE(ARM L)
2015 20154
Other
comprehensive
Share capital ~ Capital reserve income Special reserve  Surplus reserve  Retained eamings Total equity
A BRDE  Hfgaka 2EfE BROE AEAE  RRERAH
I Atbeginning of year — REEYIHE 1,999,309,639.00  1,011,431,890.64 47,940,000.00 31,283,539.94  3,051,742,591.19 23,203,848,602.84 29,345,556,263.61
I. Movementsincurentyear = AEEFEEHSE
() Total comprehensive income (=) fFA &L - - 2,380,00000 - - 1,688,368,108.53  1,690,748,108.53
(1) Profit appropriation (Z)HRsE
1. Appropriation to surplus 1. RABALE
reserve = = = - 16883681085  (168836,81085) =
2. Distribution to owners 2 HREHNAR - - - - - (699,758,373.65)  (699,758,373.65)
(1) Internal transfer of owners' (Z) BrEENDeE
equity
1. Capitalization of surplus . BHAEELER
resenve 1,999,309,639.00 - - - (1,999,309,639.00) - -
(1V) Special reserve (m) Z5fE
1. Appropriation during 1. RERR
the year - - - 17,068,584.00 - - 17,068,584.00
2. Used during the year 2 MERR - - - (4580925.02) - - (4580925.02)
Il At end of year = REEREE 399861927800  1,011,431,890.64 50,320,000.00 4377119892 1,221,269,763.04 24,023,621,526.87 30,349,033,657.47

The financial statements have been signed by:

Legal Representative:

EERRA -

Tan Xuguang
BIEN

Principal in charge of accounting:
FEGHIEER

Kwong Kwan Tong

BREE

RUBHRERAUT ALES

Head of accounting department:

BEREBEAEA

Li Xia

=
=3
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Year 2016 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

REREXR

2016 FE(ARKT)

2016
20165

Note XV
fE+ R

[. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES — -

2015
20154

REEFHELNHERE

Cash received from sales of goods or HEMm « REEH

rendering of services WHHIRE 13,967,651,501.09 15,154,156,419.73
Other cash received relating to operating U B L A ERLAT i B

activities BB ® 365,674,918.62 687,259,802.99
Subtotal of cash inflows from RETEEIRESRANGT

operating activities 14,333,326,419.71 15,841,416,222.72
Cash paid for goods and services BEEm - BX8H%

SRR 11,119,974,670.26 13,063,355,403.20

Cash paid to and on behalf of BT AR A

employees BIZNRRS 1,147,394,627.08 999,923,941.09
Cash paid for all types of taxes ERMEERE 1,177,076,407.17 873,563,297.33
Other cash paid relating to ST EM L EEE)

operating activities EHENERS 562,821,800.15 967,726,499.62
Subtotal of cash outflows from

operating activities R SEENIR & H/Nat 14,007,267,504.66 15,904,569,141.24
Net cash flows from / (used in) mEEBES,/ (FR)MN

operating activities RenE T 19 326,058,915.05 (63,152,918.52)

The financial statements have been signed by:

Legal Representative:

EEREA ¢

Tan Xuguang
BB

118

WEICHAI PowER Co.,

LTD.

Principal in charge of accounting:
TEGHIIEAEA:

Kwong Kwan Tong

FREE

AR NBRMERLT

RUBRERAUT ALES

Head of accounting department:

SEREBREAA

Li Xia
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CAsH FLow STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

Year 2016 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

Il.  CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES = - HEEHELMEL LS

KEEERE MRS
BSRE M SWEI MRS

Cash received from sale of investments
Cash received from return on investments

mEXRE)

2016FE(ARKT)

2016
20165

120,000,000.00
651,923,691.80

2015
20154

400,000,000.00
489,728,433.53

Cash received from disposal of subsidiaries BREFRRAIRHMEES

and other business entities fEIRE - 80,040,728.75
Net cash received from disposal of BREETEE  BVEE

fixed assets, intangible assets and other MEMEHEE

long-term assets WER)E €% 58 94,644.18 400.00
Other cash received relating to W B H A 4G B E )

investing activities EE@NRe 104,633,742.00 -
Subtotal of cash inflows from REZBRSMANE

investing activities 876,652,077.98 969,769,562.28
Cash paid for acquisition of fixed assets, ERETERE BV EE

intangible assets and other FMEMRAEEL NN

long-term assets He 532,271,498.62 453,520,756.68
Cash paid for acquisition of investments HELHIRE 1,073,067,896.40 640,052,638.25
Other cash paid relating to investing TR E A BRI A EE)

activities BHENR S 3,701,700.00 -
Subtotal of cash outflows from BEFERES LG

investing activities 1,609,041,095.02 1,093,573,394.93
Net cash flows used in REESEAD

investing activities Rene 8 (732,389,017.04) (123,803,832.65)

The financial statements have been signed by:

Legal Representative:

EERERA FTEGHIIEEEA

Tan Xuguang Kwong Kwan Tong

B RREE

Principal in charge of accounting:

RUBRERAUT ALES

Head of accounting department:

SEREEAA

Li Xia
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONTINUED) RERSR(E)

Year 2016 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 2016 FE(ARS L)
Note XV 2016 2015
fE+ R 20165 20154
[Il.  CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES =+ Z£&8EHEANRESRE
Other cash received relating to W EEE)EE)
financing activities EENRE 29,247.15 -
Subtotal of cash inflows from FEEHREMANG
financing activities 29,247.15 -
Cash repayments of borrowings BREEBEINRE 1,400,000,000.00 =
Cash paid for distribution of dividends or SECRA - AR
profits and for interest expenses EBRMNEXZMHRE 878,823,855.60 781,518,373.65
Other cash paid relating to financing F T E A R B T B
activities BENES - 20,801,919.60
Subtotal of cash outflows from EGFHRER NG
financing activities 2,278,823,855.60 802,320,293.25
Net cash flows used in financing LEEEFAN
activities Hene g5 (2,278,794,608.45) (802,320,293.25)
IV. EFFECT OF CHANGES IN EXCHANGE M. EXEHUHRSNTE
RATE ON CASH 30,544.50 32,447 .64
V. NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH h ReRkReEED
EQUIVALENTS R (2,685,094,165.94) (989,244,596.78)
Add: Cash and cash equivalents m: FRER
at beginning of year BEEEMREE 12,429,369,847.65 13,418,614,444.43
V. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS N FRREeRBRS
AT END OF YEAR ZEVHE 20 9,744,275,681.71 12,429,369,847.65

The financial statements have been signed by:

RUBHRERAUT ALES

Legal Representative: Principal in charge of accounting: Head of accounting department:

EERRA - FEGHIEARA: BIMEEABA
Tan Xuguang Kwong Kwan Tong Li Xia

) BRIR=E &=
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2016 12A31H (A% T)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

371 December 2016 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

I. CORPORATE BACKGROUND — ~ IR SIENIE)

Weichai Power Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) is a joint stock company
limited by shares incorporated in Shandong, the People’s Republic of
China. It was established on 23 December 2002.

The RMB ordinary A shares and overseas listed foreign H shares issued
by the Company were listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, respectively. The registered
address of the Company’s headquarters is 197, Section A, Fu Shou
East Street, High Technology Industrial Development Zone, Weifang,
Shandong Province. The Company operates in the transportation
equipment manufacturing industry. The approved scope of operations
of the Company covers: Design, development, production, sale, repair,
import and export of diesel engines and auxiliary products; automobile,
automobile axle and components, gear boxes and components and other
automobile components, hydraulic pumps, hydraulic motors, hydraulic
valves, gears and gear transmission devices, ancillary casting and casting
products of hydraulic components, internal combustion engines, new-
energy powertrain systems and ancillary products; technical consultation
and technical services; leasing of self-owned houses; sale of steel;
business management service; forklift trucks production, warehouses
technology and supply chain solution services. For the aforesaid business
scopes, operating permit(s) should be held for those operations requiring
administrative permission.

Weichai Group Holdings Limited and Shandong Heavy Industry Group
Co., Ltd., established in the PRC, are the parent company and ultimate
parent company of the Group respectively.

These financial statements were approved by the board of directors of
the Company on 29 March 2017. Pursuant to the articles of association
of the Company, these financial statements will be submitted to the
general meeting of the Company for consideration and approval.

The consolidation scope of consolidated financial statements is
determined on the basis of control. Please refer to Note VI for changes
this period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31 December 2016 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II.

III.

122

PREPARATION BASIS OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises-Basic Standard and
specific accounting standards, implementation guidance, interpretations
and other relevant provisions issued and amended subsequently by the
Ministry of Finance (the “MOF") (collectively referred to as “Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises”).

The financial statements are presented on a going concern basis.

In preparing these financial statements, all the assets (other than certain
financial instruments) are carried at historical cost. Non-current assets
classified as held-for-sale and assets under disposal group classified
as held-to-sale are carried at the lower of fair value less foreseeable
expenses or original carrying amount upon satisfying conditions for
held-for-sale. If the assets are impaired, corresponding provisions for
impairment shall be made according to relevant provisions.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Accounting policies and accounting estimates are formulated based on
the actual characteristics of production and operation. These are reflected
in the provision for bad debts in respect of receivables, classification of
fixed assets and depreciation estimation, classification of intangible assets
and long-term pre-paid expenses and estimation of amortization.

1. Statement of compliance with Accounting Standards
for Business Enterprises
The financial statements present, fairly and fully, the financial
position of the Company and the Group as at 31 December 2016
and the results of operations and the cash flows for year 2016 in
accordance with Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises.

2. Accounting year
The accounting year of the Group is from 1 January to 31
December of each calendar year.

3. Functional currency
The functional currency of the Company and the currency used in
preparing the financial statements were Renminbi. The amounts
in the financial statements were denominated in Renminbi, unless
otherwise stated.

The subsidiaries, jointly controlled enterprises and associates of the
Company may determine their own functional currencies based
on the major economic environment in which they operate the
business. In preparation of financial statements, their functional
currencies shall be translated into RMB.

WEICHAI PowER Co., LTD. e HBRMNBERLAD
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— - BHREROERER

AP HRKR LB B AR E G E
QI — EAREERIDIA K2 EL AR MM R ASFT 69 EL 88
BFTER - [ERER - BB AR
E (I XS EADER -

AP BBWERIAFES L DERTIR -

BT EIRRE - FRELSET AL - 15
S ARAHERR - Bl0 BB ERHEN
FRBDEELRED RBEFENEEATH
BE RAREBEREEAERENESE -
AEFEREFERTRNRREERE - B
MENEFHE - EEMRBLRE - ALK
MARAARE AR AR B AR E 2 o

- BEEHHRER S 55

AR EREER L EER ST T AEY
HBEMEI A - I ERRERRIEE
BEEOHE - BT AES ERITE
W AER R B A 5 B
it

MBEBRRFTELESFTEANE
BB RS T ARQE RA
£ ER20165F12 A31H MBI ISR A
N2016FERMKERRIMBRRE o

2. EFHIE
AEBSHFERAREFE  AEF
FE1ATE®EEI1I2A3181E -

3. GOIRARVEE
7R 2 B 3R R AN L M6 M AR SR A S Rk
FIRAMERIEAARE - BEESR
HEHN - IUARBTABRERT o

RRBTEBFRAR  AELEREBE
P RIBEEKLMEN T ZLER
BEITREECIRAMLE - HEYE
BREFTESARE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

371 December 2016 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

ITI.SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

4.

Business combination

A business combination is a transaction or event that brings
together two or more separate entities into one reporting entity.
Business combinations are classified into business combinations
involving entities under common control and business combinations
not involving entities under common control.

Business combinations involving entities under
common control

A business combination involving entities under common control
is a business combination in which all of the combining entities
are ultimately controlled by the same party or parties both before
and after the combination, and that control is not transitory. For
a business combination involving entities under common control,
the party that, on the combination date, obtains control of another
entity participating in the combination is the absorbing party, while
that other entity participating in the combination is a party being
absorbed. Combination date is the date on which the absorbing
party effectively obtains control of the party being absorbed.

Assets and liabilities that are obtained by the absorbing party in
a business combination involving entities under common control,
including goodwill arising from the acquisition of the party being
absorbed by the ultimate controller, shall be accounted for on
the basis of the carrying amounts on the financial statements of
the ultimate controller at the combination date. The difference
between the carrying amount of the net assets obtained and the
carrying amount of the consideration paid for the combination (or
the aggregate face value of shares issued as consideration) shall
be adjusted to share premium under capital reserve. If the capital
reserve is not sufficient to absorb the difference, any excess shall
be adjusted against retained earnings.

B ISR RMIEE(E)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B P IRERMISE(E)

31 December 2016 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 2016F12A31H(AR%T)

IIT.SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — - B85tk NS5HbE (88)

124

AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)
4.

WEICHAI PowER Co., LTD.

Business combination (Continued)

Business combinations not involving entities under
common control

A business combination not involving entities under common
control is a business combination in which all of the combining
entities are not ultimately controlled by the same party or parties
both before and after the combination. For a business combination
not involving entities under common control, the party that, on
the acquisition date, obtains control of another entity participating
in the combination is the acquirer, while that other entity
participating in the combination is the acquiree. Acquisition date
refers to the date on which the acquirer effectively obtains control
of the acquiree.

The acquirer shall measure the acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired in the business
combination not involving entities under common control at their
fair values on the acquisition date.

The excess of the sum of the consideration paid (or equities
securities issued) for business combination and equity interests in
the acquiree held prior to the date of acquisition over the share of
the attributable net identifiable assets of the acquiree, measured
at fair value, was recognized as goodwill, which is subsequently
measured at cost less cumulative impairment loss.

In case the fair value of the sum of the consideration paid (or
equities securities issued) and equity interests in the acquiree held
prior to the date of acquisition is less than the fair value of the
share of the attributable net identifiable assets of the acquiree, a
review of the measurement of the fair values of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, the consideration paid
for the combination (or equity securities issued) and the equity
interests in the acquiree held prior to the date of acquisition is
conducted. If the review indicates that the fair value of the sum
of the consideration paid (or equities securities issued) and equity
interests in the acquiree held prior to the date of acquisition is
indeed less than the fair value of the share of the attributable net
identifiable assets of the acquiree, the difference is recognized in
current profit or loss.
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(CONTINUED)

5.

Consolidated financial statements

The consolidation scope of consolidated financial statements
is determined on the basis of control, including the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 of the Company
and all of its subsidiaries. A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled
by the Company, including separable parts of an enterprise or
investee and structured entities controlled by the Company etc.

In preparation of consolidated financial statements, the subsidiaries
use the same accounting period and accounting policies as those
of the Company. When the accounting policies of a subsidiary are
different from those of the Company, the Company shall make
adjustments to the financial statements of the subsidiary based
on its own accounting policies. All intra-group assets, liabilities,
interests, income, expenses and cash flow are eliminated in full on
consolidation in full.

Where the amount of losses of a subsidiary attributable to the
minority shareholders in the current period exceeds their share of
the opening balance of owner’s equity of the subsidiary, the excess
shall be allocated against minority interests.
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5.

WEICHAI PowER Co., LTD.

Consolidated financial statements (Continued)

For subsidiaries acquired through business combinations not
involving entities under common control, the operating results and
cash flows of the acquiree shall be included in the consolidated
financial statements, from the day on which the Group gains
control, till the Group ceases the control of it. While preparing
the consolidated financial statements, the acquirer shall adjust
the subsidiary’s financial statements, on the basis of the fair
values of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
recognized on the acquisition date.

For subsidiaries acquired through business combinations involving
entities under common control, the operating results and cash
flows of the acquiree shall be included in the consolidated
financial statements from the beginning of the period in which the
combination occurs. While preparing the comparative consolidated
financial statements, adjustments are made to related items in
the financial statements for the prior period as if the reporting
entity established through combination has been existing since the
ultimate controller begins to exercise control.

The Group's control over an investee is re-assessed if change in
relevant facts and situations causes changes in one or more of the

control substances.

Where there is no loss of control, the change in minority interests is
accounted for as equity transaction.
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6. Classification of joint arrangements and joint BERHLERAERKE
operation
Joint arrangements are in the form of joint operation or jointly- RELHDRARKEMSERE -
controlled enterprise. A joint operation is a joint arrangement #HAKE  BREALEHTZHZLHME
under which the joint venture parties are entitled to assets and HEEBAEZZEHABEENSG S
undertake liabilities under the arrangement. A jointly-controlled ZHE e AELE  RIEAEHEYNZ
enterprise is a joint arrangement under which the joint venture LHRFEEZFERNNAELH -
parties are only entitled to the net assets under such arrangement.
The following items should be recognised by a joint venture party BEHEREEARKE PR RNER
in relation to its share of profit in the joint operation: solely held HENTSIEE ﬁﬁgﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂ'\]
assets, as well as jointly held assets according to its share; solely BE  UREAEHOHEERALRFEH
assumed liabilities, as well as jointly assumed liabilities according to BE  BREFMAENAR UK
its share; income derived from its entitled share of production of REGERABLFAENEE R
the joint operation; income derived from the sales of production of HEEZANARKEERNEME
the joint operation according to its share; solely incurred expenses, EHBA - RENERARFRLLR
as well as expenses incurred by the joint operation according to its HEEHAEENBA - BREEA
share. BENER  URIREHBEERLR

KEBENER -
7. Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY

Cash comprises the Group’s cash on hand and deposits that can
be readily withdrawn on demand. Cash equivalents are short-
term, highly liquid investments held by the Group, that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.
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8.

WEICHAI PoWER Co.

Foreign currency operations and foreign currency
translation

The Group translates the amount of foreign currency transactions
occurred into its functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions are recorded, on initial recognition, in
the functional currency, by applying to the foreign currency amount
the spot exchange rate prevailing on the transaction dates. At the
balance sheet date, foreign currency monetary items are translated
using the spot exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet
date. All the resulting differences on settlement and monetary
item translation are taken to profit or loss in the current period,
except for those relating to foreign currency borrowings specifically
for construction and acquisition of qualifying assets, which are
capitalized in accordance with the principle of capitalization of
borrowing costs. Non-monetary foreign currency items measured
at historical cost shall still be translated at the spot exchange rate
prevailing on the transaction date, and the amount denominated
in the functional currency is not changed. Non-monetary foreign
currency items measured at fair value are translated at the spot
exchange rate prevailing at the date on which the fair values are
determined. The difference thus resulted are recognized in profit
or loss for the current period or as other comprehensive income
based on the nature of the non-monetary items.

For foreign operations, the Group translates their functional
currency amounts into RMB in preparing the financial statements as
follows: asset and liability items in the balance sheet are translated
using the spot exchange rate at the balance sheet date, and
equity items other than
the spot exchange rate at the date of transactions; revenue and

“retained earnings” are translated using

expense items in the income statement are translated using the
average exchange rate for the period during which the transactions
occur. The resulting foreign currency exchange differences in the
financial statement are recognized in other comprehensive income.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation
is recognized in the profit or loss for the current period. If the
disposal only involves a portion of a particular foreign operation,
the amount is recognized on a pro-rata basis.
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AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
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8. Foreign currency operations and foreign currency IMNEZERR R INERRITE (B)
translation (Continued)
Foreign currency cash flows and the cash flows of foreign HSMNETR @ 2 A RIBINF A BRI
subsidiaries are translated using the average exchange rate for the B RKARSASREEHTFIER
period during which the cash flows occur. The effect of exchange nH - BEXEHHRSTEBIERH
rate changes on cash is separately presented as an adjustment item FIRE - EREREREBIIR -
in the cash flow statement.

9. Financial instruments TRITH

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial
asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of
another entity.

Recognition and Derecognition of Financial
Instruments

The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability when
it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial
instrument.

The Group derecognizes a financial asset (or part of a financial
asset, or part of a group of similar financial assets), i.e. writes off
the financial asset from the account and balance sheet, when the
following conditions are met:

(1) the rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset have
expired;

(2)  the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the financial asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay
them in full without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the ownership of
the financial asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the ownership of the
financial asset, but has transferred control of the financial
asset.
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AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

9.

WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD.

Financial instruments (Continued)

Recognition and Derecognition of Financial
Instruments (Continued)

If the underlying obligation of a financial liability has been
discharged or cancelled or has expired, the financial liability is
derecognized. If an existing financial liability is replaced by the
same creditor with a new financial liability that has substantially
different terms, or if the terms of an existing financial liability are
substantially revised, such replacement or revision is accounted for
as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of
a new liability, and the resulting difference is recognized in profit
or loss for the current period.

Regular way purchase or sale of financial assets are recognized and
derecognized using trade date accounting. Regular way purchase
or sale of financial assets refers to that the financial assets are
delivered to or by the Group under the terms of a contract within a
period as specified by law or general practice. The trade date is the
date on which the Group undertakes to buy or sell a financial asset.

Classification and Measurement of Financial Assets
Financial assets are, on initial recognition, classified into the
following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables, available-
for-sale financial assets and derivatives designated as effective
hedging instruments. A financial asset is recognized initially at fair
value. In the case of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, relevant transaction costs are directly charged to the profit
and loss of the current period; transaction costs relating to financial
assets of other categories are included in the amount initially
recognized.
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9.

Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and Measurement of Financial Assets
(Continued)

The subsequent measurement of a financial asset is determined by
its category:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss and those designated
upon initial recognition as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss. A financial asset at fair value through profit or loss
is the financial asset that meets one of the following conditions:
the financial asset is acquired for the purpose of selling it in a
short term; the financial asset is a part of a portfolio of identifiable
financial instruments that are collectively managed, and there is
objective evidence indicating that the enterprise recently manages
this portfolio for the purpose of short-term profits; the financial
asset is a derivative, except for a derivative that is designated as an
effective hedging instrument, or a financial guarantee contract, or
a derivative that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of an
unguoted equity investment (without a quoted price from an active
market) whose fair value cannot be reliably measured. For such
kind of financial assets, fair values are adopted for subsequent
measurement. All the realized or unrealized gains or losses on
these financial assets are recognized in profit or loss for the current
period. Dividend income or interest income related to financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss is charged to profit or loss
for the current period.
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WEICHAI PowER Co., LTD.

Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and Measurement of Financial Assets
(Continued)

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity date
that the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to
maturity. Such kind of financial assets are subsequently measured
at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Gains or
losses arising from amortization or impairment and derecognition
are recognized in profit or loss for the current period.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Such kind of financial assets are subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Gains or losses
arising from amortization or impairment are recognized in profit or
loss for the current period.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial
assets that are on initial recognition designated as available for sale
or are not classified as any of the aforesaid categories. After initial
recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair
value. The discount/premium is amortized using effective interest
method and recognized as interest income or expense. Changes in
the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset is recognized
as other comprehensive income in capital reserve, except for
impairment losses and exchange differences resulted from
monetary financial assets, until the financial asset is derecognized
or determined to be impaired, at which time the accumulated
gain or loss is transferred to profit or loss for the current period.
Dividends or interest income relating to an available-for-sale
financial asset are recognized in profit or loss for the current
period.

Investments in equity investments, which do not have quoted

prices in an active market and whose fair values cannot be reliably
measured, are measured at cost.
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9.

Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and Measurement of Financial
Liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities are, on initial recognition, classified
into financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, other
financial liabilities or derivatives designated as effective hedging
instruments. For financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss, relevant transaction costs are directly recognized in profit or
loss for the current period, and transaction costs relating to other
financial liabilities are included in the initial recognition amounts.

The subsequent measurement of a financial liability is determined
by its category:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and those designated upon
initial recognition as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss. A financial liability held for trading is the financial
liability that meets one of the following conditions: the financial
liability is assumed for the purpose of repurchasing it in a short
term; the financial liability is a part of a portfolio of identifiable
financial instruments that are collectively managed, and there is
objective evidence indicating that the enterprise recently manages
this portfolio for the purpose of short-term profits; the financial
liability is a derivative, except for a derivative that is designated as
effective hedging instrument, or a financial guarantee contract, or
a derivative that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of an
unquoted equity investment (without a quoted price from an active
market) whose fair value cannot be reliably measured. For such
kind of financial liabilities, fair values are adopted for subsequent
measurement. All the realized or unrealized gains or losses on
these financial liabilities are recognized in profit or loss for the
current period.

Other financial liabilities

After initial recognition, such kind of financial liabilities are
measured at amortized costs by using the effective interest
method.
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9.

WEICHAI PowER Co., LTD.

Financial instruments (Continued)

Elimination of financial instruments

The net amount after eliminating financial assets and financial
liabilities is presented in the balance sheet if the following
conditions are satisfied: A lawful right exists for eliminating
recognized amounts, and such lawful right is currently enforceable;
it is planned that the financial assets and financial liabilities are to
be netted against each other, or that they are to be realized and
settled simultaneously.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to settle a debt or assume a liability to reimburse the holder for
a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contracts are measured, on initial recognition,
at fair value. For financial guarantee contracts that are not
designated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss, they are, after initial recognition, subsequently measured at
the higher of: the amount of the best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet
date; and the amount initially recognized less the accumulated
amortization determined according to the principles of revenue
recognition.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward
currency contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge its risks
associated with foreign currency and interest rate fluctuations.
Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair
value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as
assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair
value is negative. A financial derivative that is linked to and must
be settled by delivery of an unquoted equity instrument (without
a quoted price in an active market) whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured is measured at cost.
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9.

Financial instruments (Continued)

Derivative Financial Instruments (Continued)

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives
are taken directly to profit or loss for the current period, except for
the effective portion of cash flow hedges, which is recognised in
other comprehensive income and later reclassified to profit or loss
when the hedged item affects profit or loss.

Impairment of Financial Assets

The Group assesses at the balance sheet date the carrying amount
of every financial asset. If there is objective evidence indicating
a financial asset may be impaired, a provision is provided for the
impairment. Objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired
is one or more events that occur after the initial recognition of
the asset and have an impact (which can be reliably estimated)
on the expected future cash flows of the financial asset. Where
there arises any of the following objective evidences indicating that
accounts receivable have been impaired, an impairment provision
will be made: a serious financial difficulty occurs to the debtor;
the debtor breaches any of the contractual stipulations (such as
he fails to pay or delays the payment of interests or the principal);
the debtor will probably go bankrupt or carry out other financial
reorganisations; other objective evidences show that the accounts
receivable are impaired.

Financial assets carried at amortized cost

If an impairment on a financial asset has incurred, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to the present value of expected
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not
been incurred) and such reduction is taken to profit or loss for the
current period. The present value of expected future cash flows is
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate
(i.e. effective interest rate computed on initial recognition) and
includes the value of any related collateral. Where floating interest
rate is adopted, the discount rate for determining the present value
of future cash flow shall be equal to the prevailing effective rate
which is contractually stipulated. Interest income upon impairment
is recognized at a rate equal to the discount rate used for
discounting future cashflow upon recognition of impairment loss.
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9.

WEICHAI PoWER Co.

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of Financial Assets (Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortized cost (Continued)

For a financial asset that is individually significant, the asset
is individually assessed for impairment, and the amount of
impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss for the current
period if there is objective evidence of impairment. For a financial
asset that is not individually significant, it is included in a group
of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and
collectively assessed for impairment. If no impairment incurs for an
individually assessed financial asset (whether the financial asset is
individually significant or not individually significant), it is included
in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assessed for impairment. Assets for which an
impairment loss is individually recognized is not included in a
group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and
collectively assessed for impairment.

If, subsequent to the Group’s recognition of an impairment loss
on a financial asset carried at amortized cost, there is objective
evidence of a recovery in value of the financial asset and the
recovery can be related to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is
reversed and recognized in profit or loss for the current period.
However, the reversal shall not result in a carrying amount of the
financial asset that exceeds what the amortized cost would have
been had the impairment loss not been recognized at the date the
impairment is reversed.

Available-for-sale financial assets

If there is objective evidence that an available-for-sale asset is
impaired, the accumulated loss arising from decline in fair value
previously recognized in other comprehensive income is removed
and recognized in profit or loss. The accumulated loss that removed
from other comprehensive income is the difference between the
acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortization)
and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on the financial
asset previously recognized in profit or loss.
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9.

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of Financial Assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued)

Objective evidence indicating that available-for-sale equity
investment is impaired include significant or prolonged decline in
fair value. Judgments shall be made in distinguishing “significant”
and “prolonged”. “Significant” is judged by the extent of fair
value below its cost and “prolonged” is judged by the length
of period where fair value falls below its cost. Where objective
evidence of impairment exists, the accumulated loss of the transfer
is represented by the balance of acquisition cost after deduction
of the current fair value and impairment loss previously charged to
profit and loss. The impairment loss on an available-for-sale equity
investment is not reversed through profit or loss, and any increase
of fair value that occurs after the impairment is recognized directly
in other comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” and “prolonged”
requires judgment. The Group takes into account, among other
factors, the extent and duration of the period of the fair value
being lower than cost, in such determination.

If, after an impairment loss has been recognized on an available-
for-sale debt instrument, the fair value of the debt instrument
increases in a subsequent period and the increase can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the original impairment loss
was recognized, the original impairment loss is reversed with the
amount of the reversal recognized in profit or loss for the current
period.

Financial assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that such a financial asset is impaired,
the difference between its carrying amount and the present value
of expected future cash flows which are discounted at the current
market yield rate of similar financial assets is recognized as an
impairment loss in profit or loss for the current period. Once an
impairment loss is recognized, it is not reversed.
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9. Financial instruments (Continued) 9. @I A(HE)
Transfer of Financial Assets THEEEE
If the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of AEBERERMEEMGR LT
ownership of the financial asset to the transferee, the Group EHEBMEMEBEREEBATD - &
derecognizes the financial asset; if the Group retains substantially IHERZEMEE  RETEREE
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, the FrE LR FRAENRRMRM
Group does not derecognize the financial asset. MMEIERZERMEE -
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks AEBELSAEEBHLRERETHE
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, it is accounted for EPTAE L ET A R E A0 B
as follows: if the Group has not retained control, it derecognizes B DRITFINERETE : WET #i%
the financial asset and recognizes any resulting assets or liabilities; TREEEHN  RIEERZERE
if the Group has retained control, it continues to recognize the EYRRAEENEENAME  ARE
financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement in the HZEBMEEEDN - RIBEERE
transferred financial asset and recognizes the relevant liability. FAMBEeREENEERR A

CREE  THERABHEEE

For ongoing involvement by way of provision of financial guarantee BREHMEReREEREYBER
in respect of the transferred financial assets, the assets arising from FREZ LA BEREMEENR
such involvement is recognized as the lower of the carrying amount HEEMTBERSERE ZPHR
of the financial assets and the amount of the financial guarantee. BE  BABESNEENEE - 8
Amount of financial guarantee refers to the maximum amount to HIEREE - REMKEINEES
be repayable on demand among the considerations received. B EREENZR SR °

10. Receivables 10. FEURFRIE

WEICHAI POWER Co.,

(1) Receivables Which Are Individually Significant
and for Which Provision for Bad Debt Is
Recognized Separately
In judging receivables which are individually significant,
the Group takes into account accounts receivables and
other receivables due from individual customers, risks
specific to particular customers, risks specific to particular
countries, interest on long-term receivables and the extent of
guaranteed portion of receivables etc. Receivables which are
individually significant are tested for impairment individually.
When objective evidence indicates that the receivable
has been impaired, bad debt provision is made based on
the shortfall of the present value of future cash flow as
compared to its carrying amount, and is charged to profit
and loss for the current period.
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10. Receivables (Continued) 10. FEUWRERIE ()
(2) Receivables for Which Provision for Bad Debt 2) EIEFARERFEAEETIE

Is Recognized by Group With Distinctive Credit R E A E YR

Risk Characteristics

Other than receivables for which provision for bad debts B BB TR A UK
has been recognized individually, provision for bad debt is TSN - ARIRIAR 2 B 2 AR RIS
recognized by group based on the actual loss rate of identical ROy - ABEUERRRE
or similar group in prior year or with similar distinctive credit BHEYSIRA S M ERIERE
risk characteristics, taking into account the current situation. RER - EERRKIEREER

IR -

Other than business segments located overseas, the BROZIPASRING AR R ZE SN - AR
grouping of receivables is based on their ages which are SEURERIERE R RBR ISR
taken as a distinctive credit risk characteristic. Ageing RGBS - WERARER S
analysis is conducted to determine the provision for bad debt A2 358 1 W AR M L A FE M R
for trade receivables and other receivables, at the following TERRERL AT
percentages:
Percentage
Age provided for
BRER FHRLEBI(%)
Within 1 year 1F AR S
1-2 years 1224 15
2-3 years 2FE3F 30
3-4 years 3E44F 50
4-5 years 4555 80
Over 5 years S E 100
For business segments located overseas, grouping of AN E B R IR N AR SR 2
receivables is based on their overdue ages which are taken as 1% - A ERRRER1E A= AR
a distinctive credit risk characteristic. BT REWIEES -
If objective evidence shows a recovery in value of the B B EE R AR IENE
receivables, the original bad debt provision can be reversed BEELRE - BIRERAIERAE
and carried through profit and loss in the current period. T LABEE - 5T AR HiEE -
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10. Receivables (Continued) 10. FEUWRERIE (&)

(3) Receivables Which Are Not Individually (3) BEEETEABEE
Significant But Provision for Bad Debt Is TR E R EH A
Recognized Separately REEHNEBESFE I EAERF
For receivables which are not individually significant but EREEBRRBPZERTIRE
objective evidence shows that the impairment has occurred, BER - AKREREBEERFES
bad debt provision will be made according to the difference RERBEEREREEBAENE
between the present value of future cash flows and its B RHRIERRAEE - SEABHIE
carrying amounts and will be carried through profit and loss fﬁ °
for the current period.

If clear evidence indicates that the receivables are indeed HNEREEERR AR
not recoverable, such as in case of cancellation, bankruptcy BRAWEES - aNET B AL E
or insolvency of the debtor or its serious cash flow problem, 8 RE - BETEE Bean=
then it is recognized as a bad debt and written off for bad BRETRE - WRREE - I
debt provision already made. SHEFHEA AR -

11. Inventories 1. 78

Inventories include materials in transit, raw materials, work in TE@%E W& RME - EE

progress, finished goods, materials under entrusted processing, self mcERG - ZRENIME - BRF

WEICHAI POWER Co.

made semi-finished goods, turnover materials and second-hand
vehicles etc.

Inventories are initially carried at cost. Cost of inventories comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs. The
actual cost of inventories transferred out is assigned by using
weighted average method, first-in-first-out method or specific
identification method. Low value consumables are amortized by
using immediate write-off method.

The Groups adopts perpetual inventory system.

At the balance sheet date, inventories are measured at the lower
of cost and net realizable value. If the cost of inventories is higher
than the net realizable value, a provision for decline in value of
inventories is recognized in profit or loss for the current period. If
factors that previously resulted in the provision for decline in value
of inventories no longer exist, so that the net realizable value is
higher than the carrying amount, the amount of the write-down is
reversed. The reversal is limited to the amount originally provided
for the decline in value of inventories. The amount of the reversal is
recognized in profit or loss for the current period.
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12.

13.

Inventories (Continued)

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale and relevant taxes.
The provision for decline in value of inventories is made on an
individual basis or a category basis.

Assets classified as held-for-sale

Except for financial assets and deferred tax assets, corporate
constituents (or non-current assets) are classified as held-for-sale if
the following conditions are satisfied:

(1)  The constituent (or non-current asset) shall be ready for
immediate sale merely under customary terms for this kind
of constituent in its existing conditions;

(2)  Resolution has been made by the Group concerning the
disposition of such constituent (or non-current asset) and, if
required, shareholders’ approval have been obtained,;

(3) lrrevocable transfer agreement has been entered into with
transferee;

(4)  The transfer will be completed within one year.

Individual assets or disposal groups of non-current assets classified
as held-for-sale are not subject to depreciation or amortization.
They are measured at fair value less cost of disposal, but such
amount shall not exceed the original carrying amount during a
period where the conditions precedent to being held-for-sale are
satisfied. The excess of the original carrying amount over fair value
less cost of disposal shall be taken to profit and loss for the current
period as loss on impairment of assets.

Long-term equity investments
Long-term equity investments include equity investments in
subsidiaries, jointly controlled enterprises and associates.
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13.

WEICHAI PowER Co.,

Long-term equity investments (Continued)

A long-term equity investment is initially recorded at its initial
investment cost on acquisition. For a long-term equity investment
acquired under business combination involving entities under
common control, the initial investment cost is determined as
the initial investment cost of the long-term equity investment is
the carrying value of the absorbing party’s share of the owner’s
equity of the party being absorbed as of the date of business
combination on the consolidated financial statements of the
ultimate controller. The difference between the initial investment
cost and the carrying value of the consideration for combination is
adjusted to capital reserve (or charged against retained earnings if
there is any shortfall). Other comprehensive income held prior to
the acquisition date is accounted for on the same basis as where
the assets or liabilities are directly disposed of by the investee in
disposing of such assets or liabilities. Owners’ equity recognized as
a result of changes in other owners’ equity of the investee other
than net gains and losses, other comprehensive income and profit
appropriation is taken to profit and loss for the current period
upon the disposal of such investment. In particular, those which
remain as long-term equity investments upon disposal are carried
forward in proportion, and those which are converted to financial
instruments upon disposal are carried forward in full. For a long-
term equity investment acquired through a business combination
involving entities not under common control, the initial investment
cost is the cost of business combination (Business combination
involving entities not under common control which is achieved
after multiple transactions, the initial investment cost is the sum
of carrying value of equity investments of the acquiree held prior
to the date of acquisition and the addition to investment cost on
the date of acquisition). Cost of business combination includes the
sum of fair values of the assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed,
and equity securities issued by the acquirer. Other comprehensive
income recognized on equity method held prior to the date of
acquisition is accounted for on the same basis as where the assets
or liabilities are directly disposed of by the investee in disposing of
such assets or liabilities. Accumulated fair value change of equity
investments held prior to the date of acquisition being taken to
other comprehensive income as financial instrument is taken to
profit or loss for the current period under cost method. Long-
term equity investments acquired by means other than business
combination, initial investment cost is determined as follows: for
a long-term equity investment acquired by paying cash, the initial
investment cost is the actual purchase price paid and those costs,
taxes and other necessary expenditures directly attributable to
the acquisition of the long-term equity investment; for a long-
term equity investment acquired by the issue of equity securities,
the initial investment cost is the fair value of the equity securities
issued. For a long-term equity investment acquired by the swap of
non-monetary assets, initial investment cost is determined based
on Accounting Standard for Business Enterprises No. 7 — Swap of
Non-monetary Assets. For a long-term equity investment acquired
by way of debt restructuring, initial investment cost is determined
based on Accounting Standard for Business Enterprises No. 12 —
Debt Restructuring.
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13.

Long-term equity investments (Continued)

For a long-term equity investment where the Company can exercise
control over the investee, the Company uses the cost method in
the Company'’s financial statements. Control refers to the power
over an investee, and exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee, and the ability to use its power
over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.

Under the cost method, the long-term equity investment is
measured at its initial investment cost. For addition or reduction of
investments, the cost of long-term equity investments is adjusted.
Cash dividend or profit distribution declared by an investee is
recognized as profit or loss in the current period.

The equity method is adopted for a long-term equity investment
when the Group holds joint control, or exercises significant
influence on the investee. Joint control refers to the contractually-
agreed shared control over an arrangement and related activities
under such arrangement shall be decided upon with the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but cannot control or jointly control
with other parties over the formulation of those policies.

Under the equity method, where the initial investment cost of a
long-term equity investment exceeds the investing entity’s interest
in the fair values of the investee’s identifiable net assets at the
acquisition date, the excess is included in the initial investment
cost. Where the initial investment cost is less than the investing
entity’s interest in the fair values of the investee’s identifiable net
assets at the acquisition date, the difference is charged to profit
or loss for the current period, and the cost of the long-term equity
investment is adjusted accordingly.
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13.

WEICHAI PowER Co.,

Long-term equity investments (Continued)

Under the equity method, the Group recognizes its share of the
net profits or losses and other comprehensive income made by the
investee as investment income or losses and other comprehensive
income after the acquisition of the long-term equity investments,
and adjusts the carrying amount of the investment accordingly.
The Group recognizes its share of the investee's net profits or
losses after making appropriate adjustments to the investee’s net
profits based on the fair value of the investee’s identifiable assets
at the acquisition date, using the Group’s accounting policies and
periods, and eliminating the portion of the profits or losses arising
from internal transactions with its jointly controlled enterprises
and associates, attributable to the investing entity according to its
share ratio (but impairment losses for assets arising from internal
transactions shall be recognized in full). The carrying amount
of the investment is reduced accordingly based on the Group’s
share of any profit distributions or cash dividends declared by
the investee. The Group's share of net losses of the investee is
recognized to the extent the carrying amount of the investment
together with any long-term interests that in substance form part
of its net investment in the investee is reduced to zero, except that
the Group has incurred obligations to assume additional losses.
The Group adjusts the carrying amount of the long-term equity
investment for any changes in owners’ equity of the investee (other
than net profits or losses, other comprehensive income and profit
distribution) and includes the corresponding adjustments in the
shareholders’ equity.
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13.

14.

Long-term equity investments (Continued)

On disposal of the long-term equity investments, the difference
between book value and market price is recognized in profit
or loss for the current period. For long-term equity investments
under equity method, when the use of the equity method is
discontinued, other comprehensive income previously accounted
for under the equity method shall be dealt with on the same basis
as if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of directly by the
investee. Shareholders’ equity recognised as a result of changes in
shareholders’ equity other than the net-off of profit and loss, other
comprehensive income and profit allocation of the investee shall be
transferred in full to current profit and loss. If the equity method
remains in use, other comprehensive income previously accounted
for under the equity method shall be dealt with on the same basis
as if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of directly by
the investee and transferred to current profit and loss on a pro-
rata basis. Shareholders’ equity recognised as a result of changes in
shareholders’ equity other than the net-off of profit and loss, other
comprehensive income and profit allocation of the investee shall be
transferred to current profit and loss on a pro-rata basis.

Investment property

Investment property is property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Investment property includes a land use right
that is leased out and a building that is leased out.

An investment property is measured initially at its cost. If the
economic benefits relating to an investment property will probably
flow in and the cost can be reliably measured, subsequent costs
incurred for the property is included in the cost of the investment
property. Otherwise, subsequent costs are recognized in profit or
loss for the period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — - B85tk NS5HbE (88)
AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
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14. Investment property (Continued) 14. REMEME (E)
The Group uses the cost model for subsequent measurement of its REERARAEA LR E I F I E
investment property. Depreciation or amortization is calculated on HEITREGE  EECRASGAKA
the straight-line basis over its useful life, as follows: HALHRITES U - IR0 T ¢

Expected net rate

[tem Expected useful life (years) of residual value ~ Annual depreciation
HE TasHE A& (5F) TAHFFEE (%) EHEE(%)
Land use rights

T O A 48.5-504F years 0 2.00-2.06

Houses and buildings

BB E K2 ) 14.5-304F years 0-5 3.17-6.90
15. Fixed assets 15. BEEE

A fixed asset is recognized only when the economic benefits BrEEEFHEGEANEEN D
associated with the asset will probably flow to the Group and the AlEERANER - BEKKESH —I;E
cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Subsequent expenditure Wit 24 TR - BEETEEER
incurred for a fixed asset that meet the recognition criteria shall FANBESHE  FEZERIEHER -
be included in the cost of the fixed asset, and the carrying amount FABTEEEKAN @ WKRIFEREE
of the component of the fixed asset that is replaced shall be BMEBHHREEE TR - KRR
derecognized. Otherwise, such expenditure shall be recognized in FAEHEIEES o

profit or loss for the period in which they are incurred.

Fixed assets are initially measured at cost. The cost of a purchased B EBEEELERBKANETYHRETE - B
fixed asset comprises the purchase price, relevant taxes and any BEETEENKABEEBEEN 18
directly attributable expenditure for bringing the asset to working RE  UkAFBETEEETETE
condition for its intended use. Other than fixed assets arising A YRR AN A BIESEER
from the use and appropriation of safety funds, special reserve ZEEENEMTH - BFERIRIA
offset against the cost of fixed assets, and equivalent amounts of TEEEBKNEEEE @ IR
accumulated depreciation recognized; and certain equipment of KEEBENKATREBEIBREE 1T
the parent company, and machinery and equipment of certain ﬁ@wmﬂ >R 2EHTE L‘/{&$“
subsidiaries namely Weichai America Corp., Shaanxi Fast Gear M FRARMEILER

Co., Ltd., Baoji Fast Gear Co., Ltd. and Xi'an Fast Auto Drive @;@/ij:fr—irﬁﬁ’”ﬁﬁﬁ Al %E\é&ﬁ[;j:
Co., Ltd., for which double-declining balance method is used BEmAR AR R ETERER
for depreciation, the straight line method is adopted for the BER AT E R BT ES e
depreciation of other fixed assets. SHEIERE 2N EEEEENE

HEAELE -

WEICHAI PowER Co., LTD. e HBRMNBERLAD
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If the risks and rewards of the leased assets remains with KION
GROUP AG, a subsidiary of the Company, as the lessor under an
operating lease, the assets are reported as a separate item in the
balance sheet and, being measured at cost and are depreciated.
To fund leases, industrial trucks are generally sold by KION GROUP
AG to leasing companies. The industrial trucks are then leased
back to companies in the KION GROUP AG (head lease), who sub-
lease them to external end customers (described below as”sale
and leaseback sub-leases”). These long-term leases generally have
a term of four to five years. If, in the case of sale and leaseback
sub-leases, the risks and rewards incidental to the head lease are
substantially borne by KION GROUP AG and are not transferred to
the end customers, the corresponding assets are reported as forklift
trucks and equipment leased out (long-term) under fixed assets.
However, if substantially the risks and rewards incidental to the
head lease are transferred to the end customers, a corresponding
lease receivable is recognized. In both cases, the funding items for
these long-term customer leases, which are funded for terms that
match those of the leases, are recognized as lease liabilities.

15. Fixed assets (Continued) 15. BEEE(E)
The expected useful lives, net residual value rates and annual EBRETEEMNRGBEEASD
depreciation rates of fixed assets are presented as follows: FREXRRFFEXRIIRET
Expected Expected Annual
useful life net residual depreciation
(years) value rate (%) rate (%)
TERHE RS TEEDFEER FEX
Item 1B H () (%) (%)
Land use rights TP A indefinite & HARR 0 0
Houses and buildings FBE R EEY) 10-50 0-5 1.90-10.00
Machinery and equipment HER R 3-15 0-5 6.33-33.33
Vehicles Bk 4-10 0-5 9.50-25.00
Electronic equipment E 2-15 0-5 6.33-50.00
Other equipment HAob & 2-15 0-5 6.33-50.00
Forklift trucks and equipment T H A X R E (R ER)
leased out (long-term) 2-15 0 6.67-50.00
Forklift trucks and equipment TH ) X B R (R2A)
leased out (short-term) 2-15 0 6.67-50.00
Forklift trucks and equipment leased out (long-term) a9 X B R e (< A)

FEERENBERT ARARZTA
AJKION GROUP AGEA A ARE

HEBEMRBANRKRERE - BEE
EEVERAMFPEBEE S
BENMKATE - WEHEITE - A
ERVEF I - KION GROUP AGHRF 1
TEXEEERFZFTHERR] R
1% B 7 B 2| KION GROUP AG A £B &Y
AR(ERHEE)  BERAINIER
BEATEAIEAMHODBEM])
FAEHEE A43I5F - IMREXRAE
BEMANEAERNERRIREA S
KION GROUP AGEJE » [EIM:tbRi8:8
EHERARKRER - AlIEEEE
TABEEEEETMHAELAXEKR
H(RER) - MEEBRFEERLLS T &
R - BITER AR FE YA E5RIE o
LtREE R T - BLE & EAM T AL A9
EHRHEmEREHERAHEEARE -
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15.

WEICHAI PoWER Co.

Fixed assets (Continued)

Forklift trucks and equipment leased out (short-term)
Forklift trucks and equipment leased out (short-term) arises from
short-term rental transactions as well as the sale of industrial trucks
in relation to which significant risks and rewards remain with KION
GROUP AG ("sale with risk").

In the case of short-term rentals, Linde Material Handling Ltd
("LMH") and STILL Materials Handling Ltd (“STILL”) under KION
GROUP AG, a subsidiary group under the Company rent industrial
trucks to customers directly. Short-term rental agreements usually
have a term within one year. The significant risks and rewards
remain with the aforesaid companies. The industrial trucks
are carried at cost and depreciated over the normal useful life,
depending on the product group.

In an indirect leasing arrangement, industrial trucks are sold to
finance partners who then enter into leases with end customers.
If LMH and STILL provide material residual value guarantees or
a customer default guarantee (”sale with risk”), the trucks are
recognized as assets in the balance sheet at their cost on the date
of the sale and written down to their guaranteed residual value,
or zero, on a straight-line basis over the period until the customer
default guarantee expires. If the Company provides a residual value
guarantee to LMH and STILL, an amount equivalent to the residual
value obligation is recognized under financial liabilities.

For fixed assets leased in under finance lease, depreciation for
leased assets is provided for using policy similar to that applied to
self-owned fixed assets. When it can be reasonably determined
that the ownership of a leased asset will be obtained at the end of
the lease term, it is depreciated over the period of expected use;
otherwise, the lease asset is depreciated over the shorter period of
the lease term and its useful life.

The Group reviews the useful life and estimated net residual value
of a fixed asset and the depreciation method applied at least at
each year-end, and make adjustments if necessary.

, LTD. X NRMDERRT
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16.

17.

Construction in progress

The cost of construction in progress is determined according to
the actual expenditure incurred for the construction, including
all necessary construction expenditure incurred during the
construction period, borrowing costs that shall be capitalized
before the construction gets ready for its intended use and other
relevant expenses.

A construction in progress is transferred to fixed asset when the
asset is ready for its intended use.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are interest and other costs incurred by the Group
in connection with the borrowing of the funds. Borrowing costs
include interest, amortization of discounts or premiums related
to borrowings, ancillary costs incurred in connection with the
arrangement of borrowings, and exchange differences arising from
foreign currency borrowings.

The borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalized. The
amounts of other borrowing costs incurred are recognized as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred. Qualifying assets
are assets (fixed assets, investment property and inventories, etc.)
that necessarily take a substantial period of time for acquisition,
construction or production to get ready for their intended use or
sale.

The capitalization of borrowing costs commences only when all of
the following conditions are satisfied:

(1)  expenditures for the asset are being incurred,;
(2)  borrowing costs are being incurred;
(3) activities relating to the acquisition, construction or

production of the asset that are necessary to prepare the asset
for its intended use or sale have commenced.
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SstBER K B5t b5t (18)

17. Borrowing costs (Continued) 17. BEREAE)

Capitalization of borrowing costs ceases when the qualifying asset BREAELIENAEMMGHNEE

being acquired, constructed or produced becomes ready for its ERITEE A fE A E T SHE AR

intended use or sale. Any borrowing costs subsequently incurred BRERFEILEERNE - Z8BEERE
are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are KERF AR EER -

incurred.

During the capitalization period, the amount of interest to be EERMCEBERN - F a5t F

capitalized for each accounting period shall be determined as BEMNMLEH - R TIIIEREE

follows:

(1) where funds are borrowed for a specific purpose, the (1) EBEFEFAERBEREENFE
amount of interest to be capitalized is the actual interest B RAERENTTRF S
expense incurred on that borrowing for the period less any ASRE W& S RREE
bank interest earned form depositing the borrowed funds
before being used on the asset or any investment income on
the temporary investment of those funds.

(2)  where funds are borrowed for a general purpose, the (2 HAN—RER RERFTEE
amount of interest to be capitalized on such borrowings is X HEBEPIE RO N EER
determined by applying a weighted average interest rate to AN TG SR AFRE A — AR 8
the weighted average of the excess amounts of accumulated REVINRE I R G HHETE ©
expenditure on the asset over and above the amounts of
specific-purpose borrowings.

Capitalization of borrowing costs is suspended during periods in HEERGHNEEEBENEE

which the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying ERET  BEREDFRTE LMK

asset is interrupted by activities other than those necessary to ERHERRBENEF ZINVIEE
prepare the asset for its intended use or sale, when the interruption B - B REEESBRIEA
is for a continuous period of more than 3 months. Borrowing costs B HiEERERNERE - EHE
incurred during these periods are recognized as an expense for the HEBEANERERERRER @ &
current period until the acquisition, construction or production is AEHED  BEEEEMBERREL
resumed. EEEEIFRS -

18. Intangible assets 18. BEEE

WEICHAI PoWER Co.

An intangible asset shall be recognized only when it is probable
that the economic benefit associated with the asset will flow to
the Group and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.
Intangible assets are measured initially at cost. However, intangible
assets acquired in a business combination with a fair value that can
be measured reliably are recognized separately as intangible assets
and measured at the fair value.

, LTD. X NRMDERRT
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18.

Intangible assets (Continued)

The useful life of an intangible asset is determined according to the
period over which it is expected to generate economic benefits for
the Group. An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite
useful life when there is no foreseeable limit to the period over
which the asset is expected to generate economic benefits for the
Group.

The original useful lives of the intangible assets are as follows:

18. BFEEGR)
B AERREERAREH KL
MEWHBREEERSD - BERR
HERAREEGREEN SR NIES
ERZHTEENRVEE -

BREVEENRGERSGHOT

Useful life (years)

RS (F)

Technology know-how HAE R 3-20 years
3-20%F

Land use rights T fsh R 30-50 years
30-504F

Software B 2-10 years
2-10%F

License BT 3-15 years
3-15%F

Orders on hand EFETE 1-25 years
1-25%F

Customer relationship BER% 2-17 years
2-174F

Intangible assets arising from in-house research R EPFAETK BIZ A &= 5-7 years
and development 5-74F
Others Hih 3-10 years
3-10%F

Trademark rights PR A indefinite
THEE

Land use rights that are acquired by the Group are generally
accounted for as intangible assets. Buildings, such as plants that
are developed and constructed by the Group, and relevant land
use rights and buildings, are accounted for as intangible assets
and fixed assets, respectively. Payments for the land and buildings
acquired are allocated between the land use rights and the
buildings; if they cannot be reasonably allocated, all of the land use
rights and buildings are accounted for as fixed assets.

An intangible asset with a finite useful life is amortized using
the straight-line method over its useful life. For an intangible
asset with a finite useful life, the Group reviews the useful life
and amortization method at least at each year-end and makes
adjustment if necessary.
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18.

19.

WEICHAI PowER Co.,

Intangible assets (Continued)

An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life are tested for
impairment at least once every year, irrespective of whether there
is any indication that the asset may be impaired. This category of
intangible assets will not be amortized and will be reviewed every
accounting period based on its useful life. If there are evidence
indicates that its useful life is limited, the asset will be accounted
for in accordance to the policy for intangible asset with definite
useful life stated above.

The Group classifies the expenditure on an internal research and
development project into expenditure on the research phase
and expenditure on the development phase. Expenditure on the
research phase is recognized in profit or loss for the period in
which it is incurred. Expenditure on the development phase is
capitalized when the Group can demonstrate all of the following:
(i) the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale; (i) the intention to complete
the intangible asset and use or sell it; (iii) how the intangible asset
will generate probable future economic benefits. Among other
things, the Group can demonstrate the existence of a market for
the output of the intangible asset or the intangible asset itself
or, if it is to be used internally, the usefulness of the intangible
asset; (iv) the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and the ability to use
or sell the intangible asset; and (v) its ability to measure reliably
the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its
development. Expenditure in the development phase that does not
meet the above criteria is recognized in profit or loss for the period
in which it is incurred.

Impairment of assets

The Group determines the impairment of assets, other than the
impairment of inventories, deferred income taxes, financial assets
and assets classified as held-for-sale, using the following methods:
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19.

Impairment of assets (Continued)

The Group assesses at the balance sheet date whether there is any
indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists
that an asset may be impaired, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the asset and performs test for impairment. Goodwill
arising from a business combination and an intangible asset with
an indefinite useful life are tested for impairment at least at each
year-end, irrespective of whether there is any indication that the
asset may be impaired. Intangible assets that have not been ready
for intended use are tested for impairment each year.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value
less costs to sell and the present value of the future cash flow
expected to be derived from the asset. The Group estimates the
recoverable amount on an individual basis. If it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the
Group determines the recoverable amount of the asset group to
which the asset belongs. Identification of an asset group is based
on whether major cash inflows generated by the asset group are
largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or asset
groups.

When the recoverable amount of an asset or asset group is less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to
the recoverable amount. The reduction in carrying amount is
recognized in profit or loss for the current period. A provision for
impairment of the asset is recognized accordingly.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the carrying amount of
goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated from the
acquisition date on a reasonable basis, to each of the related asset
groups; if it is impossible to allocate to the related asset groups,
it is allocated to each of the related sets of asset groups. Each of
the related asset groups or sets of asset groups is an asset group
or set of asset group that is able to benefit from the synergies of
the business combination and shall not be larger than a reportable
segment determined by the Group.
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19.

20.

21.

WEICHAI PowER Co.,

Impairment of assets (Continued)

In testing an asset group or a set of asset groups to which goodwill
has been allocated for impairment, if there is any indication of
impairment, the Group firstly tests the asset group or set of
asset groups excluding the amount of goodwill allocated for
impairment, determines the recoverable amount and recognizes
any impairment loss. After that, the Group tests the asset group or
set of asset groups including goodwill for impairment, whereby the
carrying amount of the related asset group or set of asset groups
is compared to its recoverable amount. If the carrying amount of
the asset group or set of asset groups is higher than its recoverable
amount, the amount of the impairment loss firstly reduces the
carrying amount of the goodwill allocated to the asset group or
set of asset groups, and then reduce the carrying amount of other
assets (other than the goodwill) within the asset group or set of
asset groups, pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each
asset.

Once the above impairment loss is recognized, it cannot be
reversed in subsequent accounting periods.

Long-term prepaid expenses
Long-term prepaid expenses are amortized using straight-line
method with amortization period as follows:

B ISR RMEE(EE)
2016 12A31H (A% T)

= - ER S BRK S5t b5 (18)

20.

EEREGE)
HEEHENEREEANEEEMR
M ETTREA B - e B ARR
MEBEEAREEEHREATRERER
RE - BEHIEEBRENEEMAN
FEEMAAETRERNS  SEH
WEleHE  ERERARERSK - A
BrHEEHENEEAREEEHAA
RETRENR  HREKREEESR
AYElEFE - A el S B ERRE
EBER  REBKRSREE TR #
EEEAAEREAESTHENR
mEE BREEEMAXEEEHEMA
ARBREEZINEMZREENR
EEEMGELE @ REPEREMLE
HEENREEE -

EEERERR —ERR - L%
SR AEE -

RGFHER
REBFEBARAERZRN - 85
HAgT

Amortization period (years)

B ()
Industrial mould fee TRERS 1-5
Industrial equipment fee THzRAE S
Expenditure on improvement of HABRTEERR S The shorter of useful life and lease term

fixed assets leased in

Payroll

Payroll are all forms of consideration or compensation given
by the Group for obtaining services rendered by employees or
for terminating working relationship. Payroll include short-term
remuneration, post-employment benefits, severance benefits and
other long-term staff benefits. The benefits provided to spouses,
children, persons receiving maintenance, widows or widowers of
deceased staff and other beneficiaries are also included in payroll.
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Payroll (Continued)

Short-term remuneration

Short-term remuneration actually incurred during the accounting
period in which the staff members provide services are recognized
as liability and taken to the profit and loss for the current period or
the costs of the relevant asset.

Post-employment benefits (Defined contribution
plan)

The employees of the Group participate in pension insurance
administered by local governments. The relevant expenditure is
recognized, when incurred, in the costs of relevant assets or the
profit and loss for the current period.

Post-employment benefits (Defined benefit plan)
Some overseas subsidiaries of the group operate defined benefit
pension plan, under which contributions shall be made to a
separately-administered fund. The cost of providing benefits under
the defined benefit pension plan is determined using the projected
unit credit method.

Any re-measurements arising from the defined benefit pension
plan, including actuarial gains and losses, change to the effect
on maximum assets (net of amounts included under net interest)
and return on assets under the plan (net of amount included
under net interest), are recognized immediately in balance
sheet, and included as incurred in owners’ equity through other
comprehensive income. No reversal to profit or loss will be made in
subsequent periods.

Previous service costs are recognized as expenses for the current
period on the earlier of the following dates: when amendments are
made to the defined benefit plan; or when the Group recognizes
the relevant reorganization costs or severance benefits.
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21.

22.

WEICHAI PowER Co.,

Payroll (Continued)

Post-employment benefits (Defined benefit plan)
(Continued)

Net interest is calculated by multiplying the net liabilities or net
assets under the defined benefit plan with the discount rate.
Changes in the net obligations under the defined benefit plan
are recognized under cost of sales, general and administrative
expenses and finance expenses in the income statement. Costs of
services include costs of services for the current period, costs of
services for previous periods, and gains or losses on settlement. Net
interest includes interest income accrued upon assets under the
plan, interest expenses incurred due to obligations under the plan,
and interest under the effect of maximum assets.

Severance benefits

Where the Group provides severance benefits to its employees,
payroll payable arising from such severance benefits are recognized
on the earlier of the following dates and included in profit or loss
for the current period: when the company is unable to unilaterally
withdraw the severance benefits provided under its plan to
terminate working relationship with employees or redundancy
plan; or when the company recognizes costs or expenses relating
to reorganization involving the payment of severance benefits.

Other long-term staff benefits

For other long-term staff benefits provided to staff members, the
provisions for post-employment benefits apply for recognizing
and measuring the net liabilities or net assets for other long-term
staff benefits, but movements are taken to profit and loss for the
current period or the costs of the relevant assets.

Provisions
Except for contingent consideration transferred and contingent
liability assumed in business combinations not involving entities
under common control, the Group recognizes an obligation related
to a contingency as a provision when all of the following conditions
are satisfied:

(1)  the obligation is a present obligation of the Group;
(2) itis probable that an outflow of economic benefits from the
Group will be required to settle the obligation;

(3) the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably.

LTo. #XRBNBRMERLET

B ISR RMEE(EE)
2016 12A31H (A% T)

= 8%

22.

SstBER K B5t b5t (18)

BT Hm (%)
BEBLE 151 (RE X 28it &) ()

MEFBARER M EFAEIF
BERMTREFEMS - AEEHE
MBRMEERA  ERER UK
ERPERREX S B FEBOMN
T28 : REKA  BEEHRBEK
A BERBRARMEEF G KB
K NBFE  BEFAEENNE
Wzt FFEIRTOMNBERNREE
LREENFE

BHARET
AEEABTRHEERNN - T
5 E T B ERBR BN E £ R
THMaE W ASHER - b
N REEE 77 I % B 45 B R R 5T &)
FEOREFE TR R A B RENE - B
EREREY R MEHERAN N EAN
AR A ERE

B R T 157

M TRENEMRABRTEN - &
FABEBR RN B B BRI AR EFER T E
Hh BB TRAFRESFEE
BRI AEHBEREEEEK
7 o

HETRE

BT IR — I TEEA A
HERAENRBEREZIN  HHEK
BEEEMEBANEBERET AL TH
- AEBEBHEERRETAE

(1) ZEBRASEAENRKR
7% s

Q) EEBORTRTEERE
R AEE

Ts

gl

() ZEBHNZEEMASEAE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

371 December 2016 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

ITI.SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

22.

23.

Provisions (Continued)

A provision is initially measured at the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the related present obligation,
with comprehensive consideration of factors such as the risks,
uncertainty and time value of money relating to a contingency. The
carrying amount of a provision is reviewed at the balance sheet
date. If there is clear evidence that the carrying amount does not
reflect the current best estimate, the carrying amount is adjusted
to the best estimate.

A contingent liability recognized in 